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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Shenyang Public Utility Holdings
Company Limited, | am pleased to present the audited consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2024 to all the Shareholders.

In 2024, amid a complex and volatile internal and external
environment, the economy in the PRC maintained an overall stable
development trend. However, various challenges were seen. The
sluggish recovery of the global economy and the continued weak
external demand exerted certain pressure on the export trade of the
PRC. At the same time, the basis for the recovery of the domestic
consumer market was not yet solid due to the existing overcapacity
problem in certain industries, which resulted in rising operating
costs and suppressed profit margins for companies. Although the
government has introduced a series of policies and measures to
stabilise growth, promote reform and adjust structure, with an
aim to facilitate the high-quality development of economy, it takes
time for the policies to be conducted and take effect. Also, there
has been no significant improvement in economic data in some
sectors, and the downward pressure on the economy remained
strong. These factors had caused a certain impact on the business
expansion and operational efficiency of the Group.

The Group’s revenue for the 2024 Financial Year was
RMB6,241,000 (2023 Corresponding Period: RMB1,498,000),
representing an increase of approximately 316.62% compared to
the 2023 Corresponding Period. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in revenue generated from construction of infrastructure
and development of properties in the PRC.

Looking ahead, the Group expects that in 2025, with the slow
recovery of the global economy and the sustained and stable
growth of the economy in the PRC, the real estate market is
anticipated to gradually pick up under the combined effect of
policy support and market adjustment.

The Board is committed to continuously exploring various
investment opportunities and actively seeking sound investment
channels. Taking into account the changes in the economic
condition and the overall development strategy, the Company will
focus on the development of existing business of the Group, by
accelerating the renovation progress of the Shennongjia Hotel and
speeding up the one-by-one resolution to the property ownership
issue of the Fangshan Project.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHE

The Group continues to promote business diversification while
ensuring the sound operation of its core business. The Group plans
to complete the strategic acquisition of the 51% equity interest in
Guangzhou Zhudao Property Management Company Limited in
2025, marking the substantial layout and further development of
the Group's business in the property management sector.

The diversified business layout enables the Group to effectively
diversify its operating risks and realise complementary benefits,
with a view to achieving better revenue and performance to the
Group, enhancing the overall strength of the Group and bringing
long-term stable and favorable returns to Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere
gratitude to all Shareholders and partners for their continued
support and trust over the years. Concurrently, | would like to
thank all our employees for their diligence during the year. In face
of difficulties and challenges of different kinds, the Group shall
continue to uphold its philosophy of making progress with stability,
and shall bravely advance amid the difficulties, with a view to
staying calm and rational despite the adversity and thus seeking
steady growth to create huge value for Shareholders!

Zhang Jing Ming
Chairman

27 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEBWED N

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The revenue of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year amounted
to RMB6,241,000 (2023 Corresponding Period: RMB1,498,000),
representing an increase of approximately 316.62% as compared
with the 2023 Corresponding Period. The increase in revenue
is mainly due to an increase in the revenue generated from the
construction of infrastructure and development of properties in the
PRC.

After several rounds of checking of the settlement data of
Zhongfang Chaozhou Jing Nan Industrial Park Project (the
“Project”) by various parties, the audit results of the whole portion
under the Project were agreed by the government, Chaozhou
Jinshan and Zhongfang Chaozhou on 7 April 2024. As a result,
the settlement of the Project was fully completed. The Group
recorded a revenue of approximately RMB4,711,000 from the
construction of infrastructure business during the first half of 2024.
For the 2024 Financial Year, the Group recognised revenue from
property investment and leasing business of RMB1,530,000 (2023
Corresponding Period: RMB1,498,000), representing an increase
of approximately 2.14% as compared to the 2023 Corresponding
Period.

Loss before tax of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year
amounted to RMB104,258,000 comparing with loss before tax of
RMB146,593,000 for the 2023 Corresponding Period.

Impairment assessment under Expected Credit Loss (“ECL") model
on trade receivables is performed. The Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment assessment on trade receivable under ECL
model. Impairment of RMB7,041,000 (2023 Corresponding Period:
RMB10,937,000) was recognised during the 2024 Financial Year.
For deposits and other receivables, the Directors make periodic
individual assessment on their recoverability based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The Group recognised the impairment losses
on deposits and other receivables, net of reversal, under the ECL
model of approximately RMB4,990,000, during the 2024 Financial
Year (2023 Corresponding Period: reversal of impairment loss of
approximately RMB4,046,000, net of impairment).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEBWED N

As at 30 December 2024, the acquisition of the property located
in Shunyi, Beijing (the “Beijing Property”) was completed and
the Company has completed the related procedures. As at 30
December 2024, the property has been transferred to investment
property from deposit paid. The management of the Company
assessed that the recoverable amount of deposit paid for the
acquisition of the Beijing Property is lower than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss on deposit paid of approximately
RMB16,619,000 was recognised for the 2024 Financial Year (2023
Corresponding Period: RMB11,802,000).

Impairment Losses on Properties under Development for sale

The carrying amount of Shennongjia Hotel, a construction project
of the Group which is still under construction, was approximately
RMB61,250,000. Affected by the previous epidemic control and
the continued deterioration of the existing real estate market, the
Group expects the completion time of the project to be delayed
to the second half of 2025 and the opening is expected to be
postponed to 2026. The management has confirmed that the
real estate market and the delay in construction progress inflicted
an impairment risk on the properties under development for
sale, and the Group has engaged an independent professional
valuer to evaluate the net realisable value of the properties
under development for sale and made an impairment provision
of approximately RMB30,488,000 for it. At the same time, the
management has confirmed that the construction costs and
the estimated total development costs of the properties under
construction were all within the budget, and the construction was
expected to be completed within the total development costs as
budgeted.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year
were approximately RMB11,000, comparing with the income tax
expenses of approximately RMB37,000 for the 2023 Corresponding
Period.

Loss Per Share

The basic loss per Share attributable to owners of the Company
during the 2024 Financial Year was approximately RMB6.07 cents,
representing a decrease of approximately 34.94% as compared
with the 2023 Corresponding Period of RMB9.33 cents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEBWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW

Construction of Infrastructure and Development of Properties

(i)

(ii)

Construction of Infrastructure Business

The construction of infrastructure business is one of the
principal businesses of the Group. The main infrastructure
project of the Group is Zhongfang Chaozhou Jing Nan
Industrial Park Project. The construction works of this
project had already been done and the overall settlement
of this project was also fully completed by the Chaozhou
government in the PRC in 2024.

Development of Properties

The Shennongjia Hotel, a property development project of
the Company, is a large-scale integrated tourism resort and
business leisure project built in the Shennongjia scenic area.
It includes hotel, courtyard houses, an entertainment centre,
and commercial facilities. The project consists of a main
building, an annex building, ten courtyard houses, a sports
club, and a commercial street. The total floor area of this
project exceeds 50,000 square meters and comprises over
500 hotel rooms. As at the date hereof, the construction
of the main building, the annex building and the courtyard
houses have been basically completed. Initially, the hotel’s
design has been finalised, and renovation work has also
started. The Company’s hotel project team also considered
managing and operating the hotel internally, led by its
experienced senior management, while outsourcing the
food and beverage operations to experienced management
company to enhance service quality and cost efficiency.

However, with reference to the market research conducted
by the Company, after the pandemics, the previously
suppressed domestic tourism market surged. According to
the data from The People’s Government of Hubei Province,
in 2023, Shennongjia’s key scenic spots experienced a
48% increase in the number of tourists and a 35% growth
in tourism revenue. In 2024, it also recorded a growth
of 10% in both figures. It is also observed that demand
for high-quality accommodations and hospitality services
has continued to grow. To enhance service quality and
operational standards to cater for the needs of tourists while
maximising the return of the hotel project, the Group's
management is now determined to engage a professional
hotel management company to oversee the hotel operations
instead of managing it internally.

e e
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEBWED N

However, these high-quality hotel management companies
typically impose specific operational requirements, including
adherence to their established operational frameworks,
design preferences, and service standards. The current key
challenge to the Group is that these operators require an
almost completely different renovation style, necessitating
extensive modifications to the design of the hotel, which
would inevitably cause time delays.

As at the date hereof, two hotel management companies
have been shortlisted. The Company is evaluating how
to balance these operational requirements with adequate
financial resources and market positioning. Further cost
assessments, budget planning, and market research are
ongoing, within current construction budget, to determine
the most viable strategy. While the hotel was initially
scheduled to open in the second half of 2025, due to the
aforementioned, the opening is expected to be postponed to
2026. The Company remains committed to ensuring that the
final operational structure aligns with its long-term strategic
objectives while maintaining service excellence and cost
efficiency.

During the 2024 Financial Year, taking into account the
business strategy of Shennongjia Hotel project, the Group
transferred properties (including hotel, an entertainment
centre and commercial facilities) with a carrying value of
approximately RMB139,716,000 to investment properties.

The Group will from time to time explore suitable investment
and construction projects through strong connections of the
management and public and private tenders.

Property Investment and Leasing Business

The Group's property investment and leasing business is mainly
distributed in the cities such as Sanhe, Guangzhou, Beijing and
Shennongjia Forestry District. The Company identifies potential
properties for investment purposes from time to time to receive
rental income and may enjoy potential property appreciation
income in the future. The Group currently owns 11 shop units and
60 car parking spaces located in Sanhe, a shop unit in Guangzhou,
125 offices located in the Zhiying Commercial Center in Liangxiang
Higher Education Park, Fangshan, Beijing and two commercial
properties in Shunyi, Beijing, as well as Shennongjia Hotel (including
hotel, an entertainment centre and commercial facilities) in
Shennongjia Forestry District.

The business model in the property investment and leasing business
is acquisition for selling and/or leasing, which the Company acquires
suitable and potential properties which are ready for selling and
leasing. As such, revenue can be recognised through earning the
price difference between the buying and selling prices. The Group can
also record rental income from leasing of the properties. The Group
will continue to identify potential property investment projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEBWED N

During the 2024 Financial Year, the property investment and
leasing business of the Group recorded a rental income of
RMB1,530,000 (2023 Corresponding Period: RMB1,498,000).

The Group has equipped a professional team in property leasing
and property management and will adjust the business strategy
either for sale or for lease according to the market conditions from
time to time.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to firmly pursue its goal of steady
development and promote the infrastructure project while actively
responding to national policies and exploring other infrastructure
projects with potential; at the same time, it will integrate the
Group’s resources to promote the construction and operation of
various property projects to achieve profitability as soon as possible.

Shenzhen Dongchong Project

The Group has entered into leasing agreements in relation to a
hotel development and operation project in Nanao Dongchong,
Shenzhen (the “Shenzhen Dongchong Project”). The Shenzhen
Dongchong Project involved renovation and upgrading of
the existing properties to establish a hotel resort with a total
construction area of approximately 6,000 sqg.m.. As at the date
hereof, the renovation of the Shenzhen Dongchong Project is in
progress.

Entertainment Project

For year 2023, the Group won the bidding of the rental right of a
3,000 sg.m. vacant land in the Shenyun Cultural and Sports Park*
(REXEAE) in Shenzhen for operating an entertainment
project in the cultural and sports park (the “Entertainment
Project”). The venue has completed the renovation and began its
operation in January 2025.

Property Management Business
Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 28
February 2025 in respect of the acquisition of 51% equity interest

in Guangzhou Zhudao Property Management Company Limited*
(BT EWEEIEARAA]) (the “Target Company”).

*  For identification purpose only
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On 28 February 2025, Shenzhen Wanzi Hotel Apartment
Management Company Limited* (RYI T EXBAELAETERE
[R2@]), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as
the purchaser) and Beijing Jiuzhou Technology Company Limited*
(At R AR AR A F]) (as the vendor) entered into the
equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase and the vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell 51% equity interest in the Target Company, at the
consideration of RMB550,000.

The Group not only takes part in property leasing but also
property management for the investment properties of the
Group. It possesses significant expertise in commercial property
management.

The Target Company and Shijiazhuang Luquan District Runhua
Property Service Company Limited* (A & # T 2 & B B 2E W) ¥
BR 7% B BR 72 &) (the “Target Group”) is principally engaged in
property management, managing approximately total 542,865
square metres gross floor area in first-tier and second-tier cities,
ranging from large-scale community to high-end villa area.

The Group has been proactively exploring development
opportunities in various division within the property investment
sector, such as the operation and management. With a proven
track record in property development, construction, and
commercial property management, the Group is well-positioned
to leverage its expertise through the acquisition of 51% equity
interest in the Target Company. By integrating the Group’s
experience with the Target Company’s specialisation in residential
property management, the Group can offer a more comprehensive
suite of services. This synergy will enhance the Group’s ability to
manage diverse property types effectively, providing a platform for
geographic expansion and improved service offerings.

The Target Company has good reputation in property management,
particularly in Guangzhou. It serves as a valuable foundation for the
Group. Combining with its extensive resources and network, the
Group is well-positioned to secure additional property management
contracts in the future. This partnership will enhance the Group'’s
presence in the property management market and solidify its
competitive advantage.

*  For identification purpose only
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EEEBWED N

Property management is a recurring revenue business. It offers
predictable cash flows and reduces the Group’s reliance on the
cyclical nature of property development and construction. This
business development is in line with the Group’s long-term growth
strategy and enhances its resilience in volatile market conditions.
Additionally, the Target Company’s operations in Guangzhou have
the potential to generate supplementary revenue streams through
value-added services, such as leasing support, facility upgrades,
and concierge offerings. These services not only contribute to
higher profitability but also foster stronger customer relationships,
promoting long-term retention and growth.

The Group is confident in its ability to sustain steady business
growth and generate long-term value for its Shareholders.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total assets amounted
to RMB544,799,000 (31 December 2023: RMB632,689,000),
representing a decrease of 13.89%. Non-current assets and
current assets as at 31 December 2024 were RMB458,417,000
(31 December 2023: RMB344,283,000) and RMB86,382,000 (31
December 2023: R\MB288,406,000), respectively.

With a prudent financial management policy and a solid financial
position, the working capital of the Group is usually financed by
its internally generated resources. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB121,072,000
(31 December 2023: net current assets of approximately
RMB79,002,000), including cash and cash equivalents of
RMB4,448,000 (31 December 2023: RMB3,741,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings,
but had other borrowings of RMB7,387,000 (31 December
2023: RMB7,215,000). The Group's current ratio (current assets/
current liabilities) and gearing ratio (total liabilities/total assets) was
0.42 times (31 December 2023: 1.38 times) and 0.41 times (31
December 2023: 0.33 times), respectively.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Completion of Pre-acquisition of property in Beijing, PRC

On 15 November 2016, Beijing Shen Shang, the subscriber,
entered into a pre-acquisition agreement with Beijing Zhong Tou,
pursuant to which Beijing Zhong Tou agreed to sell and Beijing
Shen Shang agreed to acquire a property at a total consideration
of RMB152,800,000. The property is a commercial premise with
the construction area of 2,800 sq.m., with the right to use its car
parks of 5,000 sq.m. at basement level two, being part of Phase
3 of the ancillary facility project of Beijing International Zone
Convention Center* (b & & BB B R £5) to be constructed in
Beijing Shunyi District Tianzhu Airport Commercial Zone* (1t
g2 1@ K2 722 & i 75 1@ ) (the “Beijing Property”). Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 15 November 2016 for
details.

On 26 March 2018, Beijing Shen Shang and Beijing Zhong Tou
entered into a supplemental agreement in relation to the pre-
acquisition agreement to postpone the date of the acceptance and
transfer of the Beijing Property to 31 December 2019. The pre-sale
permit for the project has been obtained on 17 August 2018.

However, due to multiple factors, including the 70th anniversary
of the National Day, important meetings and the haze days, the
construction was suspended at the request of the government, and
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020, the completion of
the Beijing Property was postponed.

As at 30 December 2024, the acquisition of Beijing Property

was completed and the Company has completed the related
procedures.

*  For identification purpose only
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Completion of Disposal of 0.19% of the Total Issued Share
Capital of Chaozhou Rural Commercial Bank (“Sale Shares")

On 14 June 2023, Zhongfang Chaozhou, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share transfer
agreements with an Independent Third Party (the “Purchaser”),
pursuant to which Zhongfang Chaozhou agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser agreed to purchase, 5,000,000 shares of Chaozhou Rural
Commercial Bank for a consideration of RMB12,000,000. The Sale
Shares represent approximately 0.19% of the total issued share
capital of Chaozhou Rural Commercial Bank as at the date of the
share transfer agreements.

On 14 December 2023, Zhongfang Chaozhou and the Purchaser
entered into a second supplemental agreement which both parties
agreed to extend the completion deadline to 31 March 2024.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14 June
2023 and 14 December 2023 for details.

The disposal was completed on 22 March 2024 and gain on
disposal of assets classified as held for sale of approximately
RMB6,900,000 was recognised during the first half of 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

During the 2024 Financial Year, save as disclosed above, the
Company did not have any significant investments. There were
no other plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
December 2024.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, EMOLUMENTS,
TRAINING SCHEMES AND SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 35
employees (31 December 2023: 48). The Group has entered into
employment contracts with all employees, and offered employment
packages according to their positions, qualifications, experience and
abilities. During the 2024 Financial Year, the aggregate salaries and
emoluments amounted to RMB5,882,000 (2023 Corresponding
Period: RMB6,167,000). The Group also provides benefits to
employees, such as contributions to endowment insurance, basic
medical insurance and housing reserve in accordance with the
relevant laws of the PRC. The Group has not adopted any share
option scheme for any of its senior management or employees.
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ASSETS SECURED/PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2024, no asset of the Group was secured or
pledged (31 December 2023: Nil).

CURRENCY RISKS

Other than a subsidiary established in Hong Kong, the revenue and
expenses of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB. The Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions denominated
in currencies other than the functional and reporting currency
of the Group, which is RMB. The changes in the exchange rate
of Hong Kong Dollar against RMB will affect the results of the
Group. An exchange loss of RMB7,000 was recorded in the results
for the 2024 Financial Year (2023 Corresponding Period: gain of
RMB3,000). The Group currently does not have a hedging policy
against foreign exchange risk. The management of the Company
will consider hedging significant currency exposure in the future
should the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the 2024 Financial Year (2023 Corresponding Period: Nil).

DONATIONS

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Group did not make any
charity donation (2023 Corresponding Period: RMB100,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the total capital commitments of the
Group amounted to RMB117,689,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB62,163,000).
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RESTRICTION ON ASSETS

Bank balances that were placed in restricted bank balances
amounted to RMB17,922,000 and RMB42,507,000 as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 respectively, in which approximately
RMBS,280,000, which was included in the restricted bank balances
of RMB17,922,000 above, was frozen as at 31 December 2024 due
to the litigation as mentioned below.

LITIGATION

In May 2024, two subcontractors (the “Plaintiffs”) filed
litigations to the Xianggiao District People’s Court of Chaozhou
City against the Company, Zhongfang Chaozhou Investment
Development Company Limited* (B # M EFHEE R Q
Al) (“Zhongfang Chaozhou"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Jiangsu Provincial Construction Holding
Limited, the main contractor (as the Independent Third Party),
for outstanding liabilities of RMB5,261,000 and RMB3,019,000,
respectively. The Plaintiffs applied court orders to freeze Zhongfang
Chaozhou'’s bank balances of approximately RMB5,261,000 and
RMB3,019,000, respectively under the restricted bank balances. In
May 2024, the court orders were granted and the aforesaid bank
balances would be frozen for one year.

In November 2024, the litigations were judged to repay
the outstanding liabilities of the principal payment and the
relevant interests accrued of approximately RMB4,626,000 and
RMB3,076,000, respectively.

In December 2024, Zhongfang Chaozhou filed the appeals.

In March 2025, the litigations were mediated so that Zhongfang
Chaozhou had to repay the outstanding liabilities of approximately
RMB4,350,000 and RMB2,950,000, respectively, instead of
repaying approximately RMB4,626,000 and RMB3,076,000,
respectively, and the aforesaid frozen bank balances would be
released. As at the date hereof, the outstanding payables of
RMB4,350,000 and RMB2,950,000 had been settled in full.

*  For identification purpose only
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

ACQUISITION OF 51% EQUITY INTEREST IN GUANGZHOU
ZHUDAO PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY LIMITED *
(BNHHRENREERFRAT)

On 28 February 2025, Shenzhen Wanzi Hotel Apartment
Management Company Limited* (R T B XBEEAEER A
fR 2 A1), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as
the purchaser) and Beijing Jiuzhou Technology Company Limited*
(At R AR FHBR A A (as the vendor) entered into the
equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the purchaser has
conditionally agreed to purchase and the vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell 51% equity interest in Guangzhou Zhudao Property
Management Company Limited* (BN M HKEWEEEER A
A]) (as the target company), at the consideration of RMB550,000.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28
February 2025 for details.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Zhang Jing Ming, aged 67, is the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director since 24 June 2015. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Shantou Business School. Since 1986, Mr. Zhang
has successively worked as the deputy manager of Guangdong
Haining Paper Packing Company Limited* (& /8 2 4t @ £ %
B R~ 7], the vice president of Hong Kong Hai Yuan Industry
Group Limited and chairman of Beijing Zhongjin Chuangzhan Real
Estate Development Company Limited* (1t R & & &l R & th &
7 % A R A A]). Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in business
management, corporate culture and project and operational
planning.

Mr. Huang Chunfeng, aged 48, is an executive Director since 5
November 2021. Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree from
the School of Finance of Zhengzhou University in 2002, a master’s
degree in business administration from the Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 2013 and a master’s
degree in EMBA from China Europe International Business School
(CEIBS) in 2017. From 1998 to 2010, he successively worked in
the sub-branch directly under Henan Branch of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited (stock code: 601398) and the
Zhengzhou Branch of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600000). From 2010 to 2013, he successively
served as vice president of the Xueyuan South Road Sub-branch
under Beijing Branch of Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd. (stock code:
601229) and Beijing Dongzhimen sub-branch of Bank of Jiangsu.
From 2014 to 2016, he was the general manager of Beijing Guo
Tai Zhong Tou Investment Funds Management Co., Ltd.* (B2
RO HREESERBR QA From 2016 to 2019, he has
been the chairman of Gong Chuang Xing Yuan Asset Management
Co, Ltd* (RBIEREEEEBR A F). Since March 2019,
Mr. Huang has been serving as a chief executive officer of the
Company. Mr. Huang has extensive experience in the areas of
finance, investment and corporate management.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Leng Xiao Rong, aged 58, is an executive Director since 28
June 2018. Mr. Leng graduated from the Department of Economics
of Jiangxi University in 1989 majoring in accounting. He qualified
as an accountant through the national uniform examination in
1998. He was the financial manager of Xiushui County Forestry
Industrial Company in Jiangxi Province* (JT 7074 (&K B % T %
A A]) from 1989 to 1999, audit officer of Shenzhen Petrochemical
(Holding) Co., Ltd.* (FIIALEBEE KD BR A F]) from 1999 to
2004, financial director of China South City Nanning (7 2 £ &
#) and China South City Harbin* (#4888 £ & %) which are the
branches of China South City Holdings Limited (¥R IZRE B R A
7]) (stock code: 1668) from 2004 to 2014 and investment director
of Guangdong Yueshang High-Tech Holdings Co., Ltd.* (&R &
7= R R AR A A]) from 2014 to 2018. Mr. Leng has extensive
experience in various aspects including corporate finance, audit and
investment.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:

Mr. Chau Ting Yan, aged 66, is a non-executive Director since
5 November 2021 and he served as an executive Director from
4 March 2019 to 4 November 2021. Mr. Chau graduated from
Nanjing Communication Engineering Institute* (7 7 3@ {= T 2 £
Bt ) in 1982. After his graduation, he had successively served as an
assistant engineer and the engineer of the 54th Research Institute*
(BR T FT) from 1983 to 1993; from 1993 to 2005, he
successively served as a general manager of Fine Lee Industries
Limited* (=% & 3 B BR A 7)) and chairman of the board of
directors of China Hani Group* (P EIEF|E£ & ); he has served as
chairman of Zhongjin Fuhua (Beijing) Investment Co., Ltd.* (&
FE L R)EE AR A F]) from 2005 to 2017; and he has been
serving as a director of Zhong Rong Jin Kong Capital Management
Co, Ltd* (RIS ZEEREE AR AF) from 2018 to 2019. Mr.
Chau has extensive experience in finance, investment and corporate
management.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang, aged 45, is an independent non-executive
Director since 12 November 2020. Mr. Luo is a certified public
accountant in the PRC. He graduated from Wuhan Finance
College* (F £ @ B = % H &2 1) majoring in accounting
in 2001, and from 2017 to 2019, he completed a law degree
programme at University of South China; from 2003 to 2019, Mr.
Luo successively served as an audit manager of Baker Tilly China
Certified Public Accountants* (X & B[R & 51 Al F 7% A7 )(Shenzhen
Branch), an executive director of Shenzhen Guanghua Yongzhuo
Financial Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (RIITT K E K £ F EEH B R
‘A A)), a department head of Asia Pacific CPA (Group) (Shenzhen
Branch); from 2019 to present, Mr. Luo has been an executive
director of Guangdong Tianjian Consulting Co., Ltd.* (&5 X i B8
I ABR A F]). Mr. Luo has been in charge of the audit of a number
of listed companies in the PRC and the listing and financing
consultancy services for a number of domestic private enterprises
in the PRC, proving his extensive experience in audit, financing and
the operation of listed companies.

*  For identification purpose only
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Ms. Jiang Hai Ling, aged 60, is an independent non-executive
Director since 30 January 2024. Ms. Jiang is a bachelor of Laws
from Northwest University of Political Science and Law and master
of Laws from University of Leeds in the UK. Ms. Jiang worked in the
Justice Bureau of Shenzhen Municipality in Guangdong Province
and served as a civil servant in the Bureau of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation in 1987. From 2004 to 2008, she studied
at the University of Leeds in the UK and worked in Stephenson
Harwood in the UK as a business consultant as to the PRC laws.
She was a fulltime lawyer at SD & Partners in Guangdong Province
in 2008. She currently is a consultant of Shenzhen Hua Rui
Investment Co., Ltd.* CRIITTER IR EBRAF).

Mr. Mao Hai Bin, aged 62, is an independent non-executive
Director since 30 January 2024. Mr. Mao graduated from the
undergraduate department of mathematics of Jiangxi Normal
University in 1983 and qualified as a professional economist.
Mr. Mao worked in the Longhui Town Government of Nankang
County, Jiangxi Province* (T 754 9 5 % 82 [© 48 B /) and the
Organisation Department of the Ganzhou Prefectural Committee
of Jiangxi Province of the Chinese Communist Party* (/1 ££5T 78
BEIMNHEELZ) in 1983. Mr. Mao has more than thirty years
of extensive experience in finance. Mr. Mao was deputy director
of the business department of Ji‘an Branch of China Construction
Bank* (R IR1TH L HLE 5 77) and vice president of Ji'an
Railway Special Branch of China Construction Bank* (3% R 17
LB B 2 1T) in 1987. He was the director of Changchun
Zhaohua Urban Credit Union* (KR&F MK EH mE A 4L) in
1994. He was the general manager of Jilin International Trust and
Investment Company* (& & BB {5 E R 7)) in 1995. He
was the general manager of Beijing Oriental Hotel Management
Co., Ltd* (L RE A /EEEFBR 2 F]) in 2008 and has been
the chairman of Hohhot Quanxiang Small Loan Co., Ltd.* (MRS
BHRE/NEERERE LA A) for over a decade since 2012.

*  For identification purpose only
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SUPERVISORS:

Mr. Wang Xing Ye, aged 47, is the chairman of the Supervisory
Committee and the shareholder’s representative Supervisor. Mr.
Wang served as Supervisor since 28 November 2005. Mr. Wang
holds a master postgraduate degree. Mr. Wang is currently the
managing director of Beijing Jade Bird Hengsheng Investment
Management Co., Ltd., director of Ningbo Jade Bird Zhengyuan
Equity Interest Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (EK & &
ElREREEE AR A A), director of Ningbo Jade Bird
Venture Capital Investment Co., Ltd., executive director and
general manager of Ningbo Liyuantai Venture Capital Investment
Management Co., Ltd., director of Chuangi Tourism Investment
(Hunan) Co., Ltd., executive director, president and secretary to
the board of director of Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal Sci-Tech
Company Limited (stock code: 8095). Mr. Wang was a director of
Jade Bird Fire Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Hebei Beida Jade Bird
Universal Fire Alarm Device Co., Ltd.) (stock code: 002960. SZ),
and vice president and compliance officer of Beijing Beida Jade
Bird Universal Sci-Tech Company Limited (stock code: 8095). He
has profound experience in investment and financing, asset and
business reorganisation.

Mr. Fang Wei Ran, aged 39, is the employee representative
Supervisor. Mr. Fang served as Supervisor since 10 June 2015. Mr.
Fang graduated from Guangdong Ocean University with bachelor
of science in financial management. He previously worked in
Huizhou LCY Elastomers Corp* (FEINZEREZZB AR A A]). Mr.
Fang is currently the finance manager of Zhongfang Chaozhou.
Mr. Fang has extensive experience in accounting practices and cost
management.

Mr. Chen Bin, aged 56, is the shareholder’s representative
Supervisor. Mr. Chen served as Supervisor since 30 January 2024.
Mr. Chen graduated from the undergraduate department of
accounting of Shenzhen University in 1993 and qualified as a
professional accountant. Mr. Chen was an auditor in the audit
department of Shenzhen Wanrun (Group) Co., Ltd.* (R&3II|TH &8
(£ E) % AR AR (“Wanrun Group”) in 2004. Subsequently,
he was the financial department manager and general manager
of Changchun Kaiyuan Group Co., Ltd.* (REH TEEFR
‘A |l]). Currently, Mr. Chen is the general manager of the audit
department of Wanrun Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES:

Ms. Qian Fang Fang, aged 41, is the joint company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Qian graduated from Northwest University
majoring in accounting with a bachelor’s degree in management
in 2006, and was conferred a master’s degree in management in
2008. Ms. Qian was appointed as the supervisor of the Company
for the period from 12 February 2012 to 3 March 2014. Ms. Qian
was appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company on
6 March 2014.

Mr. Chung Man Wai, Stephen, aged 46, was appointed as
the joint company secretary of the Company on 8 September
2020. Mr. Chung holds a bachelor’s degree of science in applied
accountancy from Oxford Brookes University in United Kingdom,
and he has served as company secretary for various Hong Kong
listed companies. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and has extensive experience as a
professional in the fields of accounting, auditing and company
secretarial matters.

BELRME
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Report of the Supervisory Committee
EEERE

To the Shareholders,

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Supervisory Committee
exercised conscientiously its authority, safeguarded the interests
of the Shareholders and the Company, followed the principle of
trustworthiness, honestly carried out the duties of Supervisors and
worked cautiously and diligently, in accordance with the Company
Law of the PRC, requirements of the relevant laws and regulations
of Hong Kong and the Articles for their accountability to the
Shareholders.

During the year, the major work performed by the Supervisory
Committee included the attendance of the Board meetings;
reviewing the report of the Directors and reserve appropriation
proposed by the Board, if any, for the Shareholders” approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company; strictly and
effectively monitoring whether the policies and decisions made by
the management of the Company had conformed with the state
laws and regulations and the Articles or safeguarded the interests
of the Shareholders. The Supervisory Committee has also reviewed
the performance of the Directors, general manager and senior
management in the daily operation by various means, and seriously
examined the Company’s financial affairs and its connected
transactions. After the examination, the Supervisory Committee
concluded that:

1. the report of the Directors and the reserve appropriation
proposed by the Board for the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company are in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations and the
Articles;

2. the Directors, general manager and other senior management
of the Company have strictly followed the principles of
trustworthiness, worked diligently and responsibly, and
discharged their duties for the best interest of the Company.
The Supervisory Committee has not discovered that any
Directors, general manager and other senior management of
the Company had abused their powers, damaged the interest
of the Company or the benefits of the Shareholders and
employees or contravened any laws and regulations or the
Articles; and

BRIRR
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Report of the Supervisory Committee
EEERE

3. the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
2024 Financial Year, which were audited by Asian Alliance
(HK) CPA Limited, have truly and fairly reflected the operating
results and financial position of the Group. The related parties
transactions were fair and reasonable and had not infringed
upon the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Supervisory Committee, | would like to
take this opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to all the

Shareholders, Directors and all the employees of the Company for
their supports in the past year.

By Order of the Supervisory Committee

Mr. Wang Xing Ye
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shenyang, the PRC, 27 March 2025
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

The Directors present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the 2024 Financial Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 69 to 70.

The state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2024 is set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 71 to
72.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the 2024 Financial Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the 2024 Financial
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 73 to 74.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There is no distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2024, calculated under the Company Law of the PRC,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was established (2023:
Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles.
Under the laws of the PRC, the Company would be obliged to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial Summary of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on pages 223 and 224.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

For the 2024 Financial Year, the Company did not establish or
implement any share option scheme.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the 2024 Financial Year and
up to the date hereof are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Jing Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Chunfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leng Xiao Rong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chau Ting Yan
Mr. Yin Zong Chen (retired on 30 January 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang

Ms. Jiang Hai Ling (appointed on 30 January 2024)
Mr. Mao Hai Bin (appointed on 30 January 2024)
Mr. Guo Lu Jin (retired on 30 January 2024)

Ms. Gao Hong Hong (retired on 30 January 2024)
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors the annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules and considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent to the Group in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines as set out in the Listing
Rules.

In accordance with Article 114 of the Articles, the term of office of
the Directors is three years. A Director may serve consecutive terms
if re-elected at the general meeting upon the expiry of the term. All
Directors have been elected/re-elected at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 30 January 2024. Please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 11 January 2024 for details.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors, Supervisors and senior
management are set out on pages 18 to 23.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years from his/her
date of appointment as a Director or Supervisor (or until the expiry
of the term of the current session of the Board or the Supervisory
Committee) and thereafter subject to termination by either party
giving not less than one month’s written notice to the other party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the Supervisors
has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the Directors’ and Supervisors’ service contracts
disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance related to the Group’s business to which the Group
was a party, and in which a Director or Supervisor or an entity
connected with a Director or a Supervisor had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, which subsisted during or at the end of
the 2024 Financial Year.

AATERBSBIIFNTESRIE LR
AIBRHMFREBIERAE  YRBRRE
MARRIFT MR FE 5] - 2B IETT
ERHARERKGAB LI -

BRIEBEATIEZSREI14E EEXTHA=F -
WEMERENBRRAS LESE  AIES
AlEE - 2EBESHIN2024F 1 H30H 8
TRBRRFRIAS FEERT ERBT -5
BE2EART R A2024F1 A 11BH
K o

£3 EFREREEEHEE

EHES EENofATEEBNERFISME
NENEISEEFE23E °

EERESENRBEELN

EEELEFCEARBIURBELN - A
HEZAREFKES AR/ =F (K
EEAEESEREFTEEMAL) HiR
AHER—TRs—HTELTIR—EAZ
AT AR LE

BREXFEEEI MBEESHEFTEAR
AR Y ARB AR —FRATNEEE OEE
BRERRSN) MAR LEARTEA AT -

=
)

ERERRS - ZHH

a2

=

%

g
i FR

&
2

BAEFBEBREEREERFEEOIN R
224F MR EFEHRBABMREAKHES
IEFHEEERETAHECERHEN
EASEMAI LT EAREXRE AR ZEXN
RGP RFEREHTERXHERBEAE

Ny
S o

I

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024



Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES' AND
SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, chief executives
and supervisors of the Company had interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, save for the Directors, chief executives
and supervisors of the Company, the following corporations and
individuals had interests and/or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interest owners Shares

EEEFEEA IR 3
1 Beijing Hua Xia Ding
Technology Company Limited*
IREERHUBEBRAA

2 Huang Guang Fu (Note 1)
=ER (M 1)

h For identification purpose only

420,000,000 Domestic Shares
420,000,000 f% A& P&

420,000,000 Domestic Shares
420,000,000 & A& B
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Approximate
percentages of total
issued share capital
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EEEHRS

Notes:

Interest owners Shares

BEFEA Ly

Beijing Lichuang Future
Technology Company Limited*
ERNBIARKBRBR AR

Zhai Ming Yue (Note 2)
ZRA (KiE2)

Shenzhen Wan Zhong Run Long
Investment Company Limited*
(now known as Shenzhen Wan Zhong Run
Long Construction Material Co. Ltd*)

A mEREEREBRAA
(BEExrYImEREEEMERAA)

Zhang Song (Note 3)
SRR (HaE 3)

HKSCC Nominees Limited (Note 4)
BEARREE (REAN)BRAT
(Hiaz4)

Huang Guang Fu is a PRC resident who holds 100% equity interests in Beijing
Hua Xia Ding Technology Company Limited* (it R#EE 2RI AR A 7).
Pursuant to section 316 of the SFO, Huang Guang Fu is also deemed to be
interested in the underlying Shares held by Beijing Hua Xia Ding Technology

Company Limited* (A REE SRR AR A A)).

Zhai Ming Yue is a PRC resident who holds 100% equity interests in Beijing
Lichuang Future Technology Company Limited* (1t 3= 71 8l R KRB A B A
A]). Pursuant to section 316 of the SFO, Zhai Ming Yue is also deemed to be
interested in the underlying Shares held by Beijing Lichuang Future Technology
Company Limited* (3t R D &IARREHEL AR A AD).

Zhang Song is a PRC resident who holds 100% equity interests in Shenzhen
Wan Zhong Run Long Investment Company Limited* (GZ 3| & R EE &% &
HBRZAF]). Pursuant to section 316 of the SFO, Zhang Song is deemed to be
interested in the underlying Shares held by Shenzhen Wan Zhong Run Long

== & oo

Investment Company Limited* R TH & R EEIZEBR A A).

For identification purpose only

180,000,000 Domestic Shares
180,000,000 A% R & A%

180,000,000 Domestic Shares
180,000,000 & N & B

140,000,000 Domestic Shares
140,000,000 & R & B

140,000,000 Domestic Shares
140,000,000 i% A& f%

599,477,515 H Shares (listed Shares)

599,477,515 & H A% ( E A& 1D)

Approximate
percentages of total
issued share capital

(Note 5)
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BB DL
(KtaE5)

12.25%
12.25%

12.25%
12.25%

9.53%

9.53%

9.53%
9.53%

40.80%

40.80%
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4. As notified by HKSCC Nominees Limited, as at 31 December 2024, the
following participants of CCASS had interests amounting to 5.00% or more of
the total issued H Shares as shown in the securities accounts in CCASS:

(1) Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as nominee holds 80,544,000 H
Shares, representing approximately 13.30% of the issued H Shares.

(2) The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited as nominee
holds 71,732,740 H Shares, representing approximately 11.84% of the
issued H Shares.

(3) Ever-long Securities Company Limited as nominee holds 32,064,000 H
Shares, representing approximately 5.29% of the issued H Shares.

5. The approximate percentages of the total number or issued share capital in
this table were calculated based on the number of issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2024, being 1,469,376,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
has not been notified of any interests and/or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the 2024 Financial Year
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as
follows:

Sales

— the largest customer 75.49%
— five largest customers combined 100%
Purchases

— the largest supplier 60.67%
— five largest suppliers combined 95.10%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers disclosed above.
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TAX RELIEF

The Board is not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

DONATIONS

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Group did not make any
charity donation (2023 Corresponding Period: RMB100,000).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors and Supervisors. Following a specific
enquiry, all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have
complied with the requirements set out in the Model Code
throughout the 2024 Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHT TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

None of the Directors and Supervisors or their respective associates
was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any right to acquire
Shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
or had exercised any such right during the 2024 Financial Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the Company
during the 2024 Financial Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the 2024 Financial Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2024 Financial Year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules which are subject to the reporting, announcement or
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had entered
into any contract of significance with the Company’s controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries or any contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
by the Company’s controlling Shareholders or their subsidiaries
during the 2024 Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year
and a discussion of the Group’s future prospects are set out in
the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 12 and
the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report
respectively.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 15

of this annual report.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is shown in the Business
Prospects section in the Management Discussion and Analysis and
Chairman’s Statement in this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the Financial Review section
in the Management Discussion and Analysis and the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environmental protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to minimise waste, maximise efficiencies and reduce
negative impact on the environment.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
others

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with the customers
and has regular review of the requirements and complaints of the
customers. The Group conducts appraisal of the performance of
the suppliers on a regular basis.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and risks of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has an on-going review of the newly
enacted laws and regulations affecting the operations of the
Group. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
business of the Group.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates, is
interested in any business that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, nor has
any other conflict of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at
the date hereof.

AUDITOR OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
2024 Financial Year have been audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA
Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. The Company will propose relevant resolutions at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM")
in this regard.

By Order of the Board

Zhang Jing Ming
Chairman
Shenyang, the PRC, 27 March 2025
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics which are essential for
maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence and maximising
Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time to comply with the regulatory
requirements and to improve the corporate governance practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules (the “CG Code") throughout the 2024 Financial Year,
except the following deviation:

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code requires that the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. The Company did not arrange such
insurance cover during the 2024 Financial Year as Directors
considered that the risk of material legal claims against Directors is
minimal. Nevertheless, the Board will review this arrangement from
time to time in light of the prevailing circumstances and arrange for
appropriate insurance coverage when necessary.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

The Board, which currently comprises 7 Directors, including three
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jing Ming as the chairman
of the Board, Mr. Huang Chunfeng as the chief executive officer of
the Company and Mr. Leng Xiao Rong; one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Chau Ting Yan; and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang, Ms. Jiang Hai Ling and
Mr. Mao Hai Bin. The Board is responsible for the formulation of
corporate strategy and risk management to protect Shareholders'’
interest. Daily operation and administration are delegated by the
Board to the executive Directors and the management of the
Company.

The brief biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section headed “Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors have given sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Group. The composition of
the Board is well balanced as all Directors have experience in their
field of expertise with a balance of skills, knowledge and experience
relevant to the operation of the Group.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board.
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The Board has three independent non-executive Directors who
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualifications. In
addition, a non-executive Director is appointed to provide guidance
to the Board.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors of their
independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and considers them to
be independent.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, in particular, (i)
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively
participate in the Board meetings; (ii) the number of independent
non-executive Directors is in compliance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules; and (iii) independent professional advice are
obtained at the Company’s expense to ensure that the independent
non-executive Directors will have access to accurate and relevant
professional views in the performance of their responsibilities. The
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Directors believe that the objectives of corporate governance
should focus on long-term financial performance and should not be
limited to short-term returns. The Board will not take unnecessary
risks to achieve short-term gains at the expense of long-term goals.

During the 2024 Financial Year, the chairman of the Board has held
a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors to discuss the Company’s strategy,
Director’s contributions, and their independent view.

The terms of appointment for all the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are 3 years. All Directors shall be elected or removed by the
Shareholders in general meeting according to the Articles.
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During the 2024 Financial Year, four Board meetings, one AGM 2024 F B FEE » AR RIR{THNAESE
and one EGM were held and the attendance of each Director is set @@a —RRERBAFRKE R —IRRERFR
out as follows: AEg SESHNHEBREINOT
Board
meetings AGM EGM
BR=R [
EEgEE BEXE BRlAE
Executive Directors: BITEE -
Mr. Zhang Jing Ming SR AR LA 4/4 11 11
Mr. Huang Chunfeng HEBREE 4/4 1/1 1/1
Mr. Leng Xiao Rong LN 4/4 11 171
Non-executive Directors: FHHNTESE -
Mr. Chau Ting Yan BEMEE 4/4 11 1/1
Mr. Yin Zong Chen FREKXE
(retired on 30 January 2024) (R 20244
1A30HEE) 0/0 0/0 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors: ¥ IEHTTEF -
Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang BERAEA 4/4 1/1 11
Ms. Jiang Hai Ling Bgr i+ (7R2024 45
(appointed on 30 January 2024) 1H30REZF) 4/4 11 0/0
Mr. Mao Hai Bin EBBLE (R2024F
(appointed on 30 January 2024) 1A30REZE) 4/4 11 0/0
Mr. Guo Lu Jin BEZRE (20245
(retired on 30 January 2024) 1 A30BEM) 0/0 0/0 11
Ms. Gao Hong Hong BALAT 2L 4 (742024 F
(retired on 30 January 2024) 1 A30HIEM) 0/0 0/0 1/1

All Directors have access to the advice and assistance of the joint
company secretaries of the Company in relation to the Board

procedures and corporate governance matters.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded all the matters
discussed by the Board and the matters resolved. Minutes of Board
meetings are kept by the joint company secretaries of the Company

and are available for inspection by any Director.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The policy relating to the board diversity of the Group (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) sets up the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board in order to ensure the members of the Board have
the required skills, experience, knowledge, expertise and other
qualities. In determining an optimum composition of the Board and
its committees, the Company will consider all aspects of diversity,
and take into account the Company’s business model and specific
needs from time to time. The selection of candidates is based
on a range of measurable objectives, including but not limited
to ethnicity, language, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, as well as professional experience. All Board
nominations and appointments will be based on meritocracy and
will be considered based on daily operational needs, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board has a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
but not limited to business management, finance, audit,
investment, civil engineering and macroeconomic adjustment
and social development. They obtained degrees in various majors
including business administration, accounting, architecture and
civil engineering, finance and sociology. The Board Diversity Policy
also sets out the Board’'s commitment to gender diversity and other
diversity aspects, with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity
on the Board. The Company currently has one female Director,
and the Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time as and when selecting and making
recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is of the view that the Board has achieved the
objectives of the Board Diversity Policy and shall review the Board
Diversity Policy and measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any or necessary amendments on the Board Diversity
Policy and propose the amendments to the Board for approval.

The Group also adhered to the diversity concept, including but not
limited to the gender perspective, in recruitment of employees. For
the 2024 Financial Year, the Group had 35 employees, of which
approximately 43% were female. The Company is of the view
that the current composition of employees has achieved gender
diversity.
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TRAININGS OF DIRECTORS

All newly appointed Directors during the 2024 Financial Year had
obtained legal advice on the date of their appointments. Such
Directors have confirmed that they have a proper understanding
of the Group’s businesses and understood their obligation and
statutory supervision responsibilities as the Directors. The Company
will update the Directors on the latest development regarding
the Group’s businesses as well as the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, where appropriate. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in training programmes
held by qualified professionals in relation to the revised code and
amendments to the relevant Listing Rules, so as to develop and
update their knowledge and skills.

During the 2024 Financial Year, all Directors have participated in
proper continuous professional development trainings to update
their knowledge and skills by attending briefings, conferences,
programmes, workshops and seminars as well as by way of further
education and self-study, so as to understand their roles, functions
and responsibilities. All Directors provided a record of training to
the Company.

A summary of training during the 2024 Financial Year received by
the Directors as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:
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Training areas

ZEE
Listing Rules Company'’s
and their internal
compliance regulations
Directors E=x LtHRAARER DRAABKRL
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Jing Ming SR &R 5 A4 4 4
Mr. Huang Chunfeng EREEE v 4
Mr. Leng Xiao Rong RN v 4
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Chau Ting Yan FEME 4 v v
Independent non-executive Directors BUIHITEF
Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang BERES v 4
Ms. Jiang Hai Ling BeRat v v/
Mr. Mao Hai Bin E/BELEE v 4
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company are segregated and not exercised by the
same individual. The chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhang Jing
Ming and the chief executive officer of the Company is Mr. Huang
Chunfeng.

With the support of the joint company secretaries of the Company,
the chairman of the Board ensures all Directors are provided with
adequate information on matters discussed at Board meetings in a
timely manner.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 13 February 2012 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. As at 31
December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members including two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Mao Hai Bin as the chairman and Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang,
and a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chau Ting Yan.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

. to review and approve the senior management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment
and to make recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration on non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee shall consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Remuneration Committee shall also ensure
that the remuneration levels should be sufficient to attract
and retain Directors to run the Company successfully without
paying more than necessary;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration;

to advise Shareholders on how to vote in respect of any
service contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’
approval in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

to review from time to time as appropriate the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee and
recommend to the Board any necessary changes.
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Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings are as follows:

FTHEEeeRMEYLHEABUOT

Attended/

Eligible to

Attend

BHiE/

Members RE BEREE

Mr. Mao Hai Bin (Chairman) (appointed on 30 January 2024) F£/878 %4 (F/E) (A 2024 4 1/1
1A30BEZE)

Mr. Chau Ting Yan BEME A 11

Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang ?Eﬁ—gﬁﬁ‘ﬁi 11

Mr. Guo Lu Jin (Chairman) (retired on 30 January 2024) PEELE (FE) (FR20244F 0/0

1H3OE RAT)

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee
has considered and reviewed the existing terms of employment
contracts of senior management and the existing terms of service
contracts of all Directors. The Remuneration Committee also
assessed the performance of senior management and executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of Directors, Supervisors, chief executive and
senior management is determined by the Board with reference to
their respective experience, responsibilities, workload, performance
and time devoted to the Company, and reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the remuneration of Directors,
Supervisors, chief executive and five highest paid employees are set
out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to the members of senior management by
bands during the year is set out below:

Remuneration Bands
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Number of individuals

BN & AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 ZZ& A KR# 1,000,000 7T 2
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company (the “Remuneration
Policy”) comprises primarily a base salary, taking into account
factors such as the value, responsibility and ability of the position
held and prevailing market rate, and a performance salary,
determined by the annual target performance of the Company
linked to the operational performance of the Company and the
results of the year-end assessment.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once every year to
discuss remuneration related matters (including the remuneration
of Directors and senior management) and review the Remuneration
Policy of the Group. It has been decided that the Remuneration
Committee would determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
February 2012 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee comprises three members including an executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jing Ming as the chairman, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Jiang Hai Ling
and Mr. Mao Hai Bin.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

. to review the structure, size and composition (including skills,
knowledge and experience, length of service and diversity
of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the
qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship;

o to identify individuals who are qualified/suitable to
become a member of the Board and to select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. Academic and professional
qualifications, business experience, expertise, knowledge and
diversity of perspectives required from members of the Board
as well as other requirements under the Listing Rules will be
assessed to determine if the nomination is suitable;
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o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors to determine their eligibility;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive
and the policy concerning the diversity of the Board members,
and the measurable objectives for implementing such policy;

o to review and implement the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and the progress on achieving these objectives;

o to review and implement the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”), as appropriate. This
includes the nomination procedures and the process and
criteria to select and recommend candidates for directorship
set out in the Nomination Policy; and

o other matters authorised by the Board.

Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings
are as follow:

ATRBY EMITE SN - A
EMMEENaER:

REFRERERZEUARES(LE
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ABR(REBRE) - EREBEHIR
RABR AR R IE A A Rk 8 &
BREAREENEL &

EEERENEMER -

REZEESHNTHCHFABOT

Attended/

Eligible to

Attend

BHE/

Members RE BEREE

Mr. Zhang Jing Ming (Chairman) SREEA SR A& (£ /) 2/2
Bgr it (R2024 45

Ms. Jiang Hai Ling (appointed on 30 January 2024) 1A30BEZME) 2/2
EBBRE (R20245

Mr. Mao Hai Bin (appointed on 30 January 2024) 1H30BEZMF) 2/2
BBEELRE (R20245F

Mr. Guo Lu Jin (retired on 30 January 2024) 1 A30HEME) 0/0
BALAL 22 £ (72024 5F

Ms. Gao Hong Hong (retired on 30 January 2024) 1 A30HERME) 0/0

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board; assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and reviewed the Nomination Policy and
the Board Diversity Policy.
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ERRBEE BB #EEZT  Fh
BYEMITEEHBLE - U RREHRER
RREZEZTTILHBE °

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE

45



46

Corporate Governance Report

ERER®RS

NOMINATION POLICY

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Policy for Directors was formally adopted which
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors
that are set out in the Nomination Committee’s terms of reference.
The Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under
the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process of
the Company in the nomination and appointment of Directors; (ii)
ensure the Board members have the required skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that conforms to the Company’s business;
and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and maintain its leadership
role.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and Board committee(s);
and

o such other aspects that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where necessary, may be
amended by the Nomination Committee and/or the Board.
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Appointment of New Director

a.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

b.  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

c.  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
where applicable.

d.  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above, and
make recommendations to Shareholders in relation to the
resolution on election of a Director at the general meeting,
where applicable.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

a.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director to
the Company and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

b.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring Director who
stands for re-election continues to meet the criteria as set out
above.

c.  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendations to Shareholders in respect of the
resolution on re-election of the retiring Director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be set out in the circular to
Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or relevant applicable laws and regulations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 13 February 2012 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. As at 31 December
2024, the Audit Committee comprises three members including
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Luo Zhuo
Qiang as the chairman and Ms. Jiang Hai Ling, and a non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Chau Ting Yan.

The major duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and to handle
any problems of its resignation or dismissal;

. to review and monitor the external auditor’'s independence,
objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature, scope of the
audit, and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

o to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements, annual reports and accounts, interim reports and,
if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

o to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee, or by
the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk management
and internal control system;

. to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has the appropriate standing within
the Company, and to review and monitor its effectiveness;
and

o to review the financial and accounting policies and practices
of the Group.
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Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as

follow:

Members

BERZEEERNTYLBEFBOT -

Mr. Luo Zhuo Qiang (Chairman)

Mr. Chau Ting Yan (appointed on 30 January 2024)

Ms. Jiang Hai Ling (appointed on 30 January 2024)

Mr. Yin Zong Chen (retired on 30 January 2024)

Ms. Gao Hong Hong (retired on 30 January 2024)

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Audit Committee reviewed
the Group’s unaudited interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2024 and the audited annual results for the year ended
31 December 2024 in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosures have
been made. The Audit Committee has also reviewed and discussed
with the external auditor of the Company over the financial
reporting of the Company and reviewed the 2024 audit scope and

fees.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditor without the

presence of executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group, and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The Board
acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance function
by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the corporate
governance functions with the following duties:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report; and

o such other corporate governance duties and functions set out
in the CG Code (as amended from time to time) for which
the Board are responsible.

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Board has reviewed and
approved the Corporate Governance Report set out in this report.
The Board has also reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, and the Company’s compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of the external
auditor and shall develop and implement policies on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services. During the 2024
Financial Year, the remuneration of external auditor for audit
and non-assurance (tax compliance) services of the Group are
RMB960,000 and RMB3,000 respectively.

EEEBRE

ARBARBRIEMNEZEE  BEAKED
XERBE MABEAEFEEENT
EEeRHEFTSRREEOXERNE -
EZeAF AANTRAENTEEE AR

. HERRHAATBBAEEARNK
ERIEO - AR BB R E IR L
=%

. BHRERESREMERENHEY
REEUETE

. R REEARARBEHEETERLE
MRERBR KB

e HIE RIAMEZEAREENRES
MITRTAIRERFM(WA)

s RBIARAEEEATRNARER
EEERRSHWE &

s EZZAFMMEEARTA(ETEE
R MBS FEMEEEABE M

a,
Be °

BE204FHREE EFEC s kit
BEARBRERAINNEEE RS -EEEN
ERFSARREREBHRRIEN - RARQ
BIRERFRIERRENE R -

BB B &

EZLZESTEBEARINEZEMNEZER
SESREEZ  URFEREHEEBLIE
SNERIZ BN IR IE B R RS HUIBUR » 122024
FHREE  INEZEERAEE N ZE KL
R (BBER) RBWERHME 5 AA
R 960,000 7T & AR 3,000 7T °

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors and Supervisors. Following a specific
enquiry, all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have
complied with the requirements set out in the Model Code
throughout the 2024 Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the states of affairs of the Group and in accordance with
the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibility to the Shareholders on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements
of the Company and the Group with the supports of finance
department of the Group. In preparing the financial statements, the
Board has applied the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and consistently followed the appropriate accounting policies and
provisions of laws.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the
Supervisory Committee and the Audit Committee to maintain
adequate risk management and internal control systems, to
ensure that a review of the effectiveness of such systems has been
conducted at least annually. Such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Directors and the Board have an oversight
role to determine that appropriate risk management processes are
in place and that these processes are adequate and effective.
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The Board has reviewed the following annually: (a) the changes,
since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant
risks (including Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
risks), and the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment; (b) the scope and quality
of the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG
risks) and of the internal control systems and the work of internal
audit; (c) the extent and frequency of report by the management
of monitoring results to the Board (or Board committee(s)) which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of
risk management; (d) significant control failings or weaknesses that
have been identified during the period. Also, the extent to which
they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that
have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Company'’s financial performance or condition; and
(e) the effectiveness of the processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance.

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After risks
that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations
are identified by the management of the Company, the Board
will perform risk assessment by prioritising the identified risks to
determine key risks exposed to the Group and discuss measures
to mitigate such key risks. Besides, existing risk mitigation
measures are subject to regular monitoring by the management
of the Company, which will review the Group’s risk management
strategies, and report such results and make appropriate
suggestions to the Board.

If material internal control defect was noted, the Company would
conduct continuous tracking for the improvement of internal
control defects, and counsel and support the persons in charge of
internal audit function to ensure good rectification results.

The main features of risk management and internal control
structure of the Company are as follows:

o the Board determines the business strategies and objectives
of the Group, and evaluates and determines the nature
and extent of risks it is willing to take in achieving the
strategic objectives of the Group and ensures that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems;
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o heads of major operation units or departments manage
risks through identification and mitigating risks identified
in accordance with the internal guidelines approved by the
Board, the Supervisory Committee and the Audit Committee;

o the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on
major risks affecting the Group’s businesses and operations;
and

o the management is responsible for reporting the findings of
the risk management and internal control, and the Board will
follow up and review the same and answer the questions
raised by members of the Supervisory Committee and the
Audit Committee.

During the 2024 Financial Year, all Directors were informed about
the situation of risk management and followed up on its handling
and the internal control system was reviewed, according to the
investigations made by the Supervisory Committee, the Audit
Committee and PRO-WIS Risk Advisory Services Limited. As a result
of the foregoing, the Board, the Supervisory Committee and the
Audit Committee consider that the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems were fully, appropriately and effectively
implemented. The Board, with the assistance of the Supervisory
Committee and the Audit Committee, has also reviewed and
expressed its satisfaction on the adequacy of the Company’s
resources, the qualifications and experience of its staff, the training
programmes and the relevant budgets for the accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions.

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

o is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules
and is required, as soon as reasonably practicable after any
inside information has come to its knowledge, to disclose the
information to the public; and

o has established and implemented procedures for responding
to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.

Senior management is identified and authorised to act as the
Company’s spokespersons and respond to enquiries in allocated
areas of issues.

e IEEZLEBEUMMPINAEAREE
EE EFELERZESHAENN
BRI T & BB R M R K R Y
JeRL g 2 FER LR

s EEERFRUFEAREXRBHREL

M EARBRREGEE NER &
o EEEERMERERNAIES R
ERER EFTSRLBRES RS &

B
EEEFEMEZLZESGKENHEA -

R224FMBFE REEEFSNERE
BeNBERRERERARNFEE  FiE
EXETANRBREENBRYRERE -
NEMERI R FETT TIas - SR LA - B
g EEeNELZEERR/AQANER
EELABESNSEDRD  EERARE
e EEFEEMERZZESNHH T EF
MR TARRNERREGRE - BIH
BRNER  BIIREAREFT  AMES
Ry mERETHNBBES YR
TN

AR P=\

fill

B RIE R R H B T2 R A R
AR :

pu

MBHERF LSRN K LA R
THEY YAEHENMBETRAAREHR
B EAREAUTHNEEAZRRARQ

FHRBZEHRE R

s CEEVYHTEHEERAKEES
SNEPEHIAE T ©

SREBEABERZER/RERRREEA LHE
HEBBEALCEESH -

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE

53



54

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for formulating overall corporate strategy,
monitoring and controlling the performance of the Group, whereas
the management of the Company is responsible for the daily
hands-on operation.

When the Board delegates its management and administrative
functions to the management of the Company, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of the management of the Company
and in particular, the management of the Company shall obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Qian Fang Fang was appointed as the joint company secretary
of the Company on 6 March 2014. Mr. Chung Man Wai, Stephen,
engaged from external service provider, was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company on 8 September 2020. Mr.
Zhang Jing Ming, the chairman of the Board, is the primary contact
for external service provider. Each of Ms. Qian and Mr. Chung
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the 2024 Financial Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) has
been adopted by the Board on 29 March 2019. The Company
considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders to
be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board takes into account,
among others:

o financial performance, liquidity position, business condition
and strategies of the Group;

o actual and future operation and demands for liquidity of the
Group;

o expected future expansion plan of the Group;

o gearing ratio, credit facilities and indebtedness level of the
Group;

o gains, losses, retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° general market condition;
o any restrictions against the declaration of dividends; and

o any other relevant factors which the Board may deem
appropriate.
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In proposing or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future growth and its shareholding value. In
accordance with the Articles, all applicable regulations and factors
above, the Board may, from time to time, pay interim dividends or
special dividends to the Shareholders which the Board considers
reasonable after taking into account of the financial condition
and profit of the Company, and the Company may also announce
final dividends in forms of any currencies at the general meeting,
provided that any dividend must not exceed the amount proposed
by the Board.

The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time.
The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend and/
or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any
time or from time to time.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Board has adopted an anti-commercial bribery and anti-
corruption policy (the “Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption
Policy”) to prohibit employees and management of the Company
from accepting gifts, kickbacks, or engaging in unethical business
practices. It assigns responsibility to the senior management for
supervision, prevention, and enforcement, with penalties for
violations based on severity. The policy includes regular inspections,
staff education, and a system for collecting and archiving relevant
legal and internal anti-bribery documents.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the Anti-Bribery
and Anti-Corruption Policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
bribery and corruption.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the
“"Whistleblowing Policy”). It outlines the Company’s commitment
to integrity, legality, and transparency, encouraging employees,
subsidiaries, suppliers, customers, and other stakeholders to report
any misconduct, including legal violations, financial fraud, policy
breaches, ethical issues, and actions harmful to the Company. It
ensures strict confidentiality and protection of whistleblowers.
Reports can be made in anonymity by email, mail, or phone calls,
and should include detailed information for effective investigation.
The Audit Committee will review and handle reports and eligible
cases will be investigated thoroughly. The Board and the Audit
Committee will regularly review the Whistleblowing Policy and
mechanism to improve its effectiveness.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy
(the “Shareholders Communication Policy”). The Company
considers that effective communication with the Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and for investors to
understand the Group's business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and
timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable the
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company maintains a website at www.shenyang747.com,
to provide up-to-date information on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, and corporate
governance practices.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders, in particular, through the AGM or other general
meetings to communicate with the Shareholders and to encourage
their participation. The chairman of the Board as well as the
chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee will make themselves available at the
forthcoming AGM to meet with the Shareholders.

The chairman of the Board, the chairmen or the representatives of
each committee together with the external auditor have attended
the AGM for the 2023 Financial Year to answer any questions
raised by the Shareholders.

The forthcoming AGM will be held in June 2025. The notice of
AGM will be sent to the Shareholders in due course.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
Shareholders Communication Policy and to update investors on
relevant information on the Group’s business in a timely manner,
subject to relevant regulatory requirements. During the 2024
Financial Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy and
considered it to be effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules, and the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and put forward proposal of general
meeting

Shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10%
(inclusive) of the Shares shall have the right to propose the Board
to convene an extraordinary general meeting, and such proposal
shall be made by way of written request(s). The Board shall, in
accordance with the laws, administrative regulations and provisions
of the Articles, provide a written reply stating its agreement or
disagreement to the convening of the extraordinary general
meeting within ten days after receiving such proposal.

Shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 3% (inclusive)
of the Shares may submit ex tempore proposals in writing to the
convener ten days before the Shareholders’ general meeting is
convened. The contents of proposals shall be matters falling within
the functions and powers of Shareholders’ general meetings, set
out specific matters for consideration and resolution, and comply
with relevant requirements of laws, administrative regulations and
the Articles. The convener shall issue supplementary notice of the
Shareholders’ general meeting to announce the content of the ex
tempore proposals within two days upon receipt of such proposals.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries

Any enquiries regarding the shareholding of H Shares, including
the transfer of Shares, change of address, loss of certificate, etc.,
should be sent to the Company’s H share registrar and transfer
office, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

Any enquires relating to the Company should be sent to the
Company’s business premise at Room 517, Building E03, Shenyang
International Software Park, No. 861-3 Shangshengou Village,
Hunnan District, Shenyang, PRC for the attention of the chairman
of the Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the 2024 Financial Year and as at the date hereof, the
Company amended and restated the Articles, among other things,
to (i) comply with Guidelines on Articles of Association of Listed
Companies ({ T2 & ZE#E35|)) issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission and related guidelines in place of the
Mandatory Provisions for Companies Listing Overseas (%! 3 5
AR ERMEIEFRD); (i) align with the expanded paperless
listing regime and the electronic dissemination of corporate
communications by listed issuers and the relevant amendments
made to the Listing Rules which took effect from 31 December
2023; and (jii) incorporate various consequential and housekeeping
changes. The amendments to the Articles were considered and
approved by special resolutions passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 30 January 2024. Please refer to the circular of the
Company dated 11 January 2024 for details of the amendments.
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/ AR(EEB)EFAEBIAERARA
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF

SHENYANG PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
BEEARZRRRABRAAE

(incorporated in People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenyang
Public Utility Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 222, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBIEEEEIBRBERFNBEEHE - R A
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the ¥ABGEHMBRENETZAEZENEE -
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These ELEEHIEYHGEETIBERREEEITET
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the WEAERNEE NETREN  HATYH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ELEIEEHEBNEER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RS EE SHREHEEEES D ENAEE Y

Valuation of investment properties

REY R 14 1E

As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial ~ Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of the
statements, at 31 December 2024, investment investment properties included:

properties, which were stated at fair value, amounted F{¥ IR EMEHENEIRFEIE:

to approximately RMB409,277,000.

BB TR RMFE20FT R E & - 2024512 —  Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
A318 EAAEBEINENRENERODARKE objectivity of the independent professional valuer;
409,277,000 7T ° — FHMEBUEXRMGEMNED e REFEML
Loss from changes in fair value of investment properties —  Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness
of approximately RMB42,102,000 was recognised on of the valuation methodologies; and

the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss for — A GBEFEZNBEEMELEENE &

the year ended 31 December 2024.

R ESEEHZE2024F12A318ELFENRE
BaiBRARENMELABEEEFEREOARY
42,102,000 7T °

The management performed valuations on the fair
value of investment properties with the assistance from
an independent professional valuer.
EREEBVEXMAEMNED THREMENR
REBEEST T -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

REETEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REWFAEE (E)

The fair value of certain investment properties were
determined by adopting the term and reversion analysis
of investment approach. The valuation is sensitive
to market rents with key inputs including rental in
reversionary yield and yield.
ETREMELAABEDEBRE T EZNGRLE
BOMETE HEHEFERGARENTSHES
PR BREEFSKAES RKREX -

The fair values of certain investment properties
were determined by adopting the direct comparison
method. The valuation is sensitive to market unit rate
of comparable properties and adjustment factors for
size, view and floor level of property and timing of the
comparable transactions.
ETREMELAABENEKAERELBIAERE - 4
BEHALYENTSELUERRMERE SHLE
& 38 2 A = DA I AT Bh 32 55 B i P &2 Bk UK o

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, combined with the judgements involved in
determining the inputs used in the valuation.
BPRRBREVENHELSBREAFTE  DAR
RENMEERBGEVBRRTAENEREKR
AN REE & B B8 A RO B A BRSSO % HI i -

EREETEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZERBETEREENTROMESRHN

Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
used in the valuation of investment properties at
year end, including the rental in reversionary yield,
yield, market rents, market unit rate of individual
unit and adjustment factors for size, view and
floor level of property and timing of comparable
transactions against current market data and entity
specific information on a sample basis.
RERFEREVELEMBRRERAZENS
Bl eaEEREREES  KaX mislEe
BESMAOTSELETRYERE SKBLEE
HRERE  UWERARER -  BREBATSEE
NERETERETILR IR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

REETEE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties
under development for sale

FERR T Y= o2 5 FE T

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, at 31 December 2024, properties
under development for sale (“PUD"”) amounted to
approximately RMB61,250,000. The carrying amounts
of PUD are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value (“NRV").

WAV B BREM IS HE TR - R 2024F 12
3MH - HEREPYE (BRI YEDDARKE
61,250,000 7T ° FZE AR Y ¥ o) ERE IR AR B ] #17
FE (AR FE]D POBEEIIR -

The management performed a valuation on the
PUD with the assistance from an independent
professional valuer. With reference to the valuation,
the management concluded that a write-down of
approximately RMB30,488,000 was recognised in
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
EREBEB Y EEGEMBE THRERYEET
hME K2EMLER EBEHESE EEEHZE
2024512 A3 B L FEHEAS Bm R T C R
#) N R 30,488,000 7T ©

We identified the assessment of the NRV of the PUD as
a key audit matter due to the fact that management’s
assessment of the NRV of the PUD involved significant
judgment.

ERERBHAEDYEIEHE FENFLEIRE
RAET - H I E P Y RO AT E R R EFEIIE
RABEESTRIE -

EREETEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZERBETEREENTROMESRHN

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of the NRV of PUD included:
BPERERYENRET LN ETEFRIE

— Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer;

— FHEBUEXMGBEMNBES N RFEMKE

— Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness
of the valuation methodologies;
— AMERERENEE LRGN

—  Evaluating the reasonableness of source data of
significant inputs, including comparable market
transactions used by the valuer, expected future
selling price and costs to completion by comparing
expected future selling prices to, where available,
recently transacted price for similar properties, and
publicly, available construction cost information
for properties of a similar nature and location on a
sample basis;

— AMEERBARBENSEN  BIEEERA
ALmERS  BREAREBRTIKA &
R TRHAARRE B EBR LY T SR ERS (40
B) A RME K BRI Y 8 R B EK A
BRGETTHE L

—  Obtaining an understanding from the management
about the status of the construction process and
progress of the PUD;

— REBETHRIREENFAZETYEERNEN

— Reviewing the relevant correspondences and
documents provided by the management to
evaluate the status and progress of the PUD; and

—  EHEERERMEAAERE(E K R S AR 5 B
MEBARER &

—  Discussing with the management on the timing on
when the construction of PUD can be completed.
— HERENWAETORASAEE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HREEITEE

Impairment assessment on other receivables

H fth FE Y 5% 7 ol 1B AP A

As disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the Group's
gross amount of other receivables of approximately
RMB125,518,000, and an allowance of credit losses of
approximately RMB124,145,000 were included in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.
WG ETBRERWF27FT T - K 2024F 12
A31B EXEMAMEBBRREBLEZEHOARE
125,518,000 T R E & B BB 4 AR ¥ 124,145,000
TEAA EEENGEMBARRE -

Impairment losses on other receivables, net of reversal,
of approximately RMB4,990,000 was recognised in the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

E At RN R E B 1B (FOBRBE ) 49 A R 4,990,000
TER BESEEEZE2024F12A31BIEFENGE
BRRTER -

The allowance for credit loss of other receivables
represents the management’s best estimates at the end
of the reporting period of expected credit losses under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9: Financial
Instrument’s Expected Credit Loss Model, with the
assistance of an independent professional valuer.
HittE IR EEB R EEEEEEBLEE
HEMNB TRESEVMBRELNFEIR  [2
ATANBHEEFREA | HREMEEFRANRSE
HIR B R (k5T o

The management assessed whether the credit risk of
other receivables have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply a three-stage impairment
model to calculate their expected credit losses.

IR E AT H b B WK IR BV 5 B R e B )40 TERR LA
RERBMEEN YERA=FRERAEEEGFEHRE
HEEER -

— RBEERTE

EREETEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHRARENEREETTROMEHN

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of other receivables included:

TP AR E MR R R EF AR ETIEF R

— Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer;

— FHEBUEXRMGEMNERE 8 R8T

— Understanding and evaluating the modelling
methodologies for expected credit losses
measurement, assessed the reasonableness of the
model selection and key measurement parameters
determination;

—  TRIFEFEEBEEEENERT L
BRENARETFEAE2HRETARE

—  For the historical information, discussing with the
management to understand the management’s
identification of significant increase in credit
risk, defaults and credit-impaired receivables,
corroborated management’s explanation with
supporting evidence, considering cash collection
performance against historical trend;

HEREwm EMNATRE

BEBMNEERBBRELN EHOREERER

WHE T WEBRSRARREFELBE D

i UBBEREEENRE
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBE®RE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

REETEE

Impairment assessment on other receivables
(Continued)
A 1t 8 Y 5% 7 el 18 774 (48 )

The measurement models of expected credit losses involves
significant management judgement and assumptions,
primarily including the following:
EHEEEFERNAERA SR EREERAE R
FEEBEATREA:

o selection of appropriate model and determination
of relevant key measurement parameters,
including probability of default, loss given default
and exposure at default;

e HREENEL UETHEBENBEREITE28

BEHREBEAOGE BB REL R

A

o criteria for determining whether or not there was
a significant increase in credit risk or a default;

and
e ETrEERRESEEEMNELNSSHFEDN
= R

o economic indicator for forward-looking
measurement, and the application of economic
scenarios and weightings.

. RN AT LT E KBRS R R E
EHEM -

We consider impairment assessment on other
receivables as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgement involved in
determining the expected credit losses allowance on the
other receivables.
HARBEMERFIEN R EN G RBRETEFE
WA EHGEMBRRNEELARETEM
FEWRIAM TR E E BB RBE Y REBRME LA
KT PR -

EREETEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZERBETEREENTROMESRHN

—  For forward-looking measurement, assessing the

reasonableness of economic indicator selection,
economic scenarios and weightings application,
assessed the reasonableness of the estimation
by comparing with industry data, assessed the
reasonableness of forward-looking factors included
in the expected credit loss model;

— BAEMFEMS  FELEERIE  KES

BEREERAREARIE  WEBLBITEEUEN
AT EERAE  FAAREEEERETEE
MATEMEREERAE

— Challenging the management the sufficiency of

impairment loss based on the specific facts and
circumstances;

— REABEERERL UREBBRNTREER

ERE

—  Checking major data inputs used in the expected

credit loss models on sample basis to the Group's
record; and

— mWERE EKELCEANBHEEBBREILMA

TE2FEBAE: K

— Reviewing the accuracy of managements

judgements by comparing historical provisions
against actual write-off.

— EBRLHEFELAERERME R EREHE
BTN o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group included a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB89,243,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB121,072,000
and has capital commitments of approximately RMB117,689,000
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
RMB4,448,000 only. These events and conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

FRFECENERTRERE

EREIGRAVEREME3T EEER
HE204F1N2A3MBIEFEESE EARA

WA AE(LEBL AR S89,243,0007T »
HEZA BESENRDEEBLERE
BEEHANREE121,072,00070 © & AREEL
A ANER117,689,000T MERE MR
LEHEBEBEANRBARKA4448,0007T c 2 F
EFEERBRARIGEE P EREMEFIAFA
MEHMEEBERGFAURERY B5E
BELEE IR EEERNEATEE M
BMNERSER U EEELERT -

i B

BERAEFFUHEMEHNAE - EMEHE
BTN FRANER  ETEREEMH

BREBEPIOZHENRS

BPEEEVBRRNBEEL NREREME
B BT T HREEMEMNBEREAER
B EEE A o

‘ABMESREMBHRRNET  HMNE
TEMNEEMER  FUtBRE+  ZEEM
ERR D BGEAMBHRRIRMERTER
R TROBERFEEARBAEUTFHE
BEREHRNBER - ERHEMEARTHIE
MRBEPRREMERFEERER - KM
BERELFE - M HMALBARESE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBE®RE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

EERAEEANALIREGESE
BRRAENER

ERNREEARERBEE MG HEM
BB B REEN ST ENREEARIE
DI WERERBEEEM A NERE BB R
= WHERRAESEEVBHRENEET
FEBRRRFFRERMEMNERERAT
MR ERIESI B E

ERBEFAVBERER - BERRERAEE
A BERERELCENRED  XEERIE

ATHERBELLEENER  URER
FEKLERETER KRIE BERRESH
B BEREFBRIFLEE  HFIEHMD

EROBERTSR

RBEHE RS M B RRARE
MEE

BFMBER SRR BHREAEEBREST T
FHANRFFHERMEMNE AN B RIREG
BIERFAR  YHABRRMERNZEE R
T RERMNBEZRRGR  RAEH2
BARREL®RE @ RULASN  RRELHEE
A% - WA TSR ARE AT EEA EAb
ATHEESE LB - SBREESKFH
RE - ETRRIRREBBRBENETH
Bit BERXR - BEABRRGTEREREER -
WA ABMEFRERSE - MRS EAME
P BAERERA R BERA M B MKRE
REKBEES M BBRERAELORBERE
A A BA R AT AR IEE X ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

ZE M BERE BB RAE
NET @

ERBEEZBEAPETENNBES - 1
PERTERHE RiFTEXEHEE -
ZAFIIR -

— BB FN R Al F i HRRF B8R BR T 8 BUR

EMBRERFEEANERNER &
SERHMITERAEFARYELRER
AR EBZE R MEENEERRE - F
REME LR - BN AGEA B
KB e FEER - ERRL
HORBRAEEH 2 £ - Bk R e %
RRARFMERNEREROARS
RARBEERFBERMEHWEXNE R
F gt o

—  TREBEBHRBEE LR

BENEFTREF BENLIFH &
SEABEHNERERRER -

— FHE BEQAREEMRASHEEN

1BE M RED EFEET AR B R ED
B o

— REEECRFEKCERSTERD

REE RIREMERNESERE
BMECEFHEREZSEKBABENE
ATEEE - EMAEEHY A&
BORBEKLERNELETRRE W
REMBAFEERTEEN  RIF
VEERBMBESTRFERETLR
RAVBRRTOEBARE -REA
AR E LT RIRPIEE &AM
B R R o T H0 45 e B 2 0 AR LA R
TRIEMRGOHFTERE AW K
KERRBRAALEH BEEETEE

Y
B -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBE®RE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

I
H

mw

ZE MBI HEE
NET @

Bt 35 MR R AR

— 4{3‘%?@-\'@7}@““%&%3’3%&’5%%4?&7‘5‘%

BN BREE UREEY
ﬁ&&% BRAARBEBRZMER -

REWETEEE - AL ERKHE
NE %ﬁz%i%ﬁumﬁﬂkﬁﬂﬁéﬂlﬁ
R-BENENBRE ERERAY
%4 i%%’*i’«% ﬁﬁ‘]%/‘i BZMEERE
B EEREARSEESETHE

BIE - BFIRETERAESRIEE -

BREMERN RALBEERNALRR
FENBFTHE  BRETH  EREFER
% BRERMEF P ERHAEES O E
[EEP NN =K

BZMTABEERANALTIRRERR  HBRKR
MEFEEBEBY ENEEEEEEE R
WERMPERABRIAES B ERASFER
MBI EREMEMSEIE  UREE
FHE’JI SN ALOEBRENE 81T E) SR ELAY
[h #5516 ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chung Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06610

8/F., Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

27 March 2025

ZE M BERE BB RAE
NET @

REAESERNALBRNEIERED - RMHE
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B2 AMBKERETFE - RAEZE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

Revenue
Contracts with customers
Leases

Total revenue
Cost of sales

Gross loss
Other income
Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of deposits paid
Loss from changes in fair value
of investment properties
Administrative and operating expenses
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interests

Loss per share
— Basic (RMB cents)

— Diluted (RMB cents)

i 28
BEFAH
HE

LY
SHE R AR

£

H A

BHEEERELTH
EERE - R EE

FhE AT & FERR A
VERIENSE

BREMEAANBEESHN

18
TR REERX
BERA

BBt A S 18
PSR 2

FREER
BT ATEEFREE :

— ARBEEA
— JRIER s

BRER
— ZER(ARED)

—#E(ARED)

2024 2023
—“E-NE —Eo=5F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETF T

7

4,711 -

1,530 1,498

6,241 1,498

(30,710) (85,369)

(24,469) (83,871)

9 8,876 2,175
11 (12,031) (6,890)
24 (16,619) (11,802)
20 (42,102) (29,700)
(16,789) (14,681)
10 (1,124) (1,824)
(104,258) (146,593)
12 (11) (37)
13 (104,269) (146,630)
(89,243) (137,159)
(15,026) (9,471)
(104,269) (146,630)

15

(6.07) (9.33)

N/A T3 F N/ATiE
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReEEkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2024 2023
—“E-NE —Eo=5F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT

Loss for the year FREE (104,269) (146,630)

Other comprehensive income (expense) H2EUA (BIx)

Items that will not be reclassified TEEH T HEE B HA -
to profit or loss:
Fair value gain (loss) on investments in BAARBEFAHEMEE
equity instruments at fair value WAR R T AR E R
through other comprehensive income AR EBEKE (FB) 1,192 (3,848)
Items that may be reclassified HEAEET A HEERZ
subsequently to profit or loss: HA -
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations M HZ=5 (35) (24)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEZEBA (FAX) -
for the year, net of income tax MBRFT1E R 1,157 (3,872)
Total comprehensive expense FRALHEMAZEE
for the year (103,112) (150,502)
Total comprehensive expense THEEE2EBAXERE:
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company S AN/NEIE 2 =N (88,086) (141,031)
— Non-controlling interests — FEERR R (15,026) (9,471)

(103,112) (150,502)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BRI OR &

At 31 December 2024
72024412 A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Investment properties

Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI")

Deposits paid

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties under development for sale

Contract costs

Trade receivables

Deposits and other receivables
Restricted bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Lease liabilities — current portion

Other borrowings

Amount due to a non-controlling
interest

Amount due to a shareholder

Tax liabilities

FRBEE

WE - BER&E
EREEE

REWE
BEAREESARMEE
WA (T2 ABERA
HtpZ2HEWBA D W AT A
Exfil &

RBEE
FERZETNME
BRI

& s R R

Al I E R URIR
ZPR I IRTT 4 2R
RAekRE&FHEEH

DERFBELEERE

REBEE

FEAS BR K

H b e SR KRB A
HERE —RBIH
HoAth fi& 3%

JEAS FRIE A A 25 TR IR

e — B IR FRIA
HEAE

NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS & (B &) EEZEE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

HEERRBER

17
19
20

24

18
25
26
27
28
28

23

29
30
31
32

57
27

2024

—EopE

RMB’000

AR®F

2023

RMB'000
ARBTT

10,753 273
17,974 207
409,277 205,500
20,413 19,221
- 119,082
458,417 344,283
61,250 207,200
- 4,112

- 2,188

2,762 23,558
17,922 42,507
4,448 3,741
86,382 283,306
- 5,100
86,382 288,406
149,989 149,825
42,906 50,770
2,134 42
7,387 7,215
1,100 -
2,448 66
1,490 1,486
207,454 209,404
(121,072) 79,002
337,345 423,285
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEMBRREK

At 31 December 2024
72024412 A31H

2024 2023
—“E-NE —E-=5F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR®T ARBTT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Other payables and accruals Hip et IBE R ETER 30 269 258
Lease liabilities — non-current portion F & & & —3IE &35 31 16,939 178
17,208 436
NET ASSETS EEFE 320,137 422,849
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRHE
Share capital % < 34 1,469,376 1,469,376
Reserves {8 (1,124,707) (1,036,673)
Equity attributable to owners RAGHEE AEGER
of the Company 344,669 432,703
Non-controlling interests FEVE RS (24,532) (9,854)
TOTAL EQUITY iR 320,137 422,849

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 222 were £ 69 & 222 BEHJINEAMKHRE  KES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 &1 20254 3 A 27 B A RRER L - I

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: A TIEERKREE
Zhang Jing Ming Leng Xiao Rong
RAEA RN
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATRBARE

Statutory Non-
Share Share surplus FvToci Other  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest
BAANEE
itARA

tEBH  2EUA
BE  RftEE DEg MR HtBE  ENRE  ZHER Mt FERER b
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE®TR ARMTn ARETr ARETn ARETr ARBTR ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETZ
(Note34)  (Notea)  (Noteh)  (Noted)
(Kiz3a) (Kia) (Kzb) (Kzd)

At 1 January 2023 RNB%E1R1A8 1,469,376 320476 105,028 (41,968) - 5 (1219235 573,734 (383) 573,351
Loss for the year Engk - - - - - - (17159 (137159) 0471 (146630)
Other comprehensive expense EH2EARY
Items that will not be recassified TEENTEZER
to profit or oss: 2B
Fairvalue loss on investments RARBET AL
in equity instruments at FVTOC 2EUAMRALA
REDLAAREER - - - B - - - B - B
Items that may be recssifed subsequenty i ERHEE R
to profit or loss: :
Exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign operations = = = > > (24) = (24) = (24)
Other comprehensive expense EMEMRERY
for the year, net of income tax NBAHEH - = = (3,848) - (24) - (3872 - (3872)
Total comprehensive expense Em2EELAR
for the year - - - (3,848) - (24) (137159 (141,031) (9471)  (150,502)
At 31 December 2023 RNBE128318 1,469,376 320476 105,028 (45,816) - 3 (141639) 432703 (9,854) 422,849
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (89243 (89.243)  (15026) (104,269
Other comprehensive income (expense) ~ Efs 2 AW (B
tems that wil not be recassifed TEEHEEER,
to profit or oss: By
Fairvalue gain on investments inequity AR BB ALH
instruments at AVTOCI 2EUARMRAIA
RENALEALE - - - 1192 - - - 1192 - 1,19
tems that may be recssified subsequenty E# THEFHEZER
toprofit orloss: ZEH ]
Exchange differences arising RAZENEREL Y
on trandlation of foreign operations ~~ EXEE - - - - - (33) - (33) = (33)
Other comprehensive income (expense) ~ EREHZENA
forthe year, net of income tax (R%) - MRATER - - - 1192 - (39) - 1,157 - 1,157
Total comprehensive income (expense) ~ ER2 AR () 48
for the year - - - 1,192 - (39 (89,243) (88,086) (15,026 (103,112)
Transfer of FVTOC! reserve upon HERAABEH AL
the disposal of equity instruments EMRABATER
atATod ERBLNLEEA
E2ERANGE = - - 9,653 - - (9,653) - - -
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve EETETRREE - - 50 - - = (50) = = -
Issuance of share capital to RERREREARE
non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - 400 400
Deemed disposal of equity interest B EREAARE
of a subsidiary without losing (LEEXEHE)
control (Note 39) (Fi3t30) - - - - 5 - - 5 (52) -
At 31 December 2024 R2024%E128318 1,469,376 320476 105,078 (34.97) 52 () (15153400 344,669 (453) 320137
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERRHX

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

Share premium

Share premium comprises surplus between the value of net assets acquired and
the nominal value of domestic shares issued as a result of the incorporation of
the Company as a joint stock limited company and the share premium from
the issuance of H-shares.

Statutory surplus reserve

The Group is required to set aside 10% of its profit after taxation prepared
in accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of their respective paid
up capital or registered capital, where further appropriation will be made at
the directors’ recommendation. Such reserve can be used to reduce any losses
incurred or increased the capital.

Distributable reserve

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, distributable reserve shall be the
lower of the accumulated distributable profits determined in accordance with
PRC accounting standards and regulations as stated in the PRC statutory
audited financial statements and the accumulated distributable profits
determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Group did not have any reserve available for distribution as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

FVTOCI reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising from
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised in other
comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those
equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of. Gains and losses arising from
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

(b)

()

(d)

B4 EE

et EEeEEENFEEBEMARTERK
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax
Interest income
Dividends from equity investments
Gain on disposal of assets classified
as held for sale
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment losses recognised (reversed)
on deposits and other receivables, net

Impairment losses reversed
on contract assets
Impairment losses recognised
on trade receivable
Impairment losses recognised
in respect of deposits paid
Impairment losses recognised
in respect of contract costs
Write-down of properties under
development for sale
Loss from changes in fair value
of investment properties
Finance costs

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Increase in properties under development

for sale
Decrease in contract costs

Decrease in deposits and other receivables

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease in contract assets

Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RERK

FRER

A
PSR
FEMA
PRI E BB
HENBAREHEDN

BEMWES

ME - BERREITE

EREEENE
AT S B At B YRR Y
REEERER (B E) F8
BHEERERERE
& iR R (B S PR T AR
ARENFT & ERRMEEE
FhA KPR AR TE OB (E B 1R
WORSEREZERME
REMERABEEDN
i
BERA
EEESHDINKLERSRE
FFEREPYRIE N
BRIRAR D
15 K B Al WOk TR A
JFE U5 Bl R 458 0
BHEEMD
ANE il
Ho At & A 3008 M B AT B RIS N

REFHMERT
EfFSHR

REED (TR MEREFHE

2024 2023
—E_F —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
(104,269) (146,630)
11 37
(10) (15)
(1,686) (1,804)
(6,900) -

173 168

1,995 555
4,990 (4,046)
- )

7,041 10,937
16,619 11,802

= 68,814

30,488 16,470
42,102 29,700
1,124 1,824
(8.322) (12,189)
(24,253) (48,090)
4,112 =
15,805 23,700
(4,853) =

- 434

164 33,681

5,984 10,340
(11,363) 7,876
(7) 3)

(11,370) 7,873
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
RMB’000 RMB‘'000
AR®T ARBT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received 2R & 10 15
Dividends received from equity investments &% & B Uik & 1,686 1,804
Proceed from disposal of assets classified ~ H! %ﬁiﬁﬁh EIHENEED
as held for sale P53k T 4,700 -
Capital injection from non-controlling Iz HXTE /Eé
interests 400 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B8 E¥1% - M&E &R 1E& (10,653) -
Addition of right-of-use assets NEFEREEE (600) -

Payment of partial remaining consideration FLUEE R TMEI(EER
for acquisition of completed Properties | HiiE24) 3 H s THRE
(defined in Note 24) (995) -

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REZH (FTA)FBRESFHE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (5,452) 1,819
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Repayment to shareholder BEE RN (6,860) (11,260)
Advance from a non-controlling interest — JE¥5° f% # 25 B4 5k 1,100 =
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHESHF EF5 (952) (24)

Decrease (increase) in restricted bank PR HISRIT B B R A (38 0)
balances 24,585 (651)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BN AREIS (309) (549)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING BEEZEHFRE(FrA) BLFE
ACTIVITIES 17,564 (12,484)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ReRRSSEEERE ML)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEE 742 (2,792)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R1ATBENEERBESEEEE
AT 1 JANUARY 3,741 6,557

EXSHTE  FH

Effect of foreign exchange

rate changes, net (35) (24)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FANRERRSEEHER -

AT END OF THE YEAR,

represented by cash and cash equivalents BN ¢ RIS EETEE 4,448 3,741
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company"”) is a joint stock limited company incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The address of the principal place of business of the Company
in PRC is Room 517, Building E03, Shenyang International
Software Park, No.861-3 Shangshengou Village, Hunnan
District, Shenyang, the PRC.

The address of the registered office of the Company in PRC
is No. 1-4, 20A, Central Street, Shenyang Economic and
Technological Development Zone, the PRC.

The address of the principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Room 2507, 25/F., Tower 1, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"). Other than those subsidiaries established
in Hong Kong whose functional currencies are Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$"), the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group”) are RMB.

The Company’s H-shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 16 December 1999.

—RER

EEARERBOARQR (TRLH])
E-REREARANME (HE))Z
MR BRAR -

RARAFR A EEEE M2 2 it
ABHBEEEMERE EFENSI-3
5% 28 b5 B B 814 [/ E03-517 ©

AN B B R = R 2 ik
A R B B5 A T R I R B e AR SR K
205 1-45F o

ARBREENTELEMI 2 it
BEBLEESIRNEDLE —H25
12507 = °

ARRRREERLDR  HFB AR
IZEBERGEVBRRMEIS -

HAMBHRRUARE (ARSI
IS DAV ) = NS
AL (ER]) AeEE®EIN AR
RARAIKREMBAR (REIAEE])
MIhEEEH -

AATIHHIRE 1999412 A 16 B#£ 1
ERBERSFARAR ([BRAT])
£

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE

77



78

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback
Amendments to Hong Kong  Classification of Liabilities as
Accounting Standards Current or Non-current
("HKAS") 1 and related amendments

to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

REFEBFHERNEETETRME
BEENGTER

RAFE AEEEREREATH
WK BAERUATR2024F1 318
A FEBMEHERNBEEE
A e ((BEEEMAE]) Bk
LASR] BB IS RS ERI 7R

ERAMBREREN EREDZEESR
CHEN) &

F165% (1
ER G £ HEEIBRRD
(BEREHER]) FFERPRYEF
F 15 (BRI A) EREFSIHRM
HEEEET (2020
)
BERAGREAS 1R MHRENFRD
CHEN, Al
EREEAETR HEARELRH
RERMBERSE

RRIFE 75 (BFTA)

B T XAt &SN RANFEERBFET
RETE B W REER TR
UBAREERAFERAEFENMB
RAREKRR XBIN N ZEGEa W
BHRENEBESALEBEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the classification should
not be affected by management intentions
or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can
be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or
the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as
an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. &
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING 7%
STANDARDS (continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to 2.1

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the ‘2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
(i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification
of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk
of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve
months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Amendments to the
HKFRS 9 and Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial

Instruments?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS Accounting Accounting Standards —
Standards Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures*

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and
only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The
amendments specify that an entity should focus on what an
entity is being compensated for rather than the compensation
amount. Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that
is not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state
that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement both before and after the change in contractual
cash flows, but the nature of the contingent event itself does
not relate directly to changes in basic lending risks and costs.
Furthermore, the description of the term “non-recourse”
is enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually linked
instruments” are clarified in the amendments
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value gain
or loss presented in other comprehensive income during
the period, showing separately those related to investments
derecognised during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period. An entity
is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative
gain or loss within equity related to the investments
derecognised during the reporting period. In addition, the
amendments introduce the requirements of qualitative and
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that could affect
the contractual cash flow based on a contingent even not
directly relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

As stated in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB89,243,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, the
Group's current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately RMB121,072,000 and has capital
commitments of approximately RMB117,689,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately RMB4,448,000 only. These events
and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. %
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1
statements (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern after taking into consideration the followings:

(1)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group successfully obtained new borrowings
of RMB5,000,000 from a bank in the PRC to
settle the debts that fall due. Pursuant to the loan
agreement, those new borrowing carried interest
rate at 5.5% per annum and would be repayable
on 26 January 2026.

(2)  The Group is actively considering to realise certain
investment properties;

(3) The Group is expected to record a net operating
cash inflow for the year ending 31 December
2025;

(4)  The Group is negotiating with creditors to extend
repayment period;

(5) The Group considered to dispose the equity
instruments at FVTOCI, which represents 0.71%
equity investment in Chaozhou Rural Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd., which is engaged in banking
activities in PRC, to cater for the funding needs of
the Group, if necessary; and

(6) The Group obtained the undertaking from a
shareholder of the Company, Beijing Lichuang
Future Technology Company Limited, that it will
not demand for repayment of the amount due
from the Group of approximately RMB2,448,000
as at 31 December 2024, unless the repayment
would not affect the ability of the Group to repay
other creditors in the normal course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by the management which
cover a period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2024 on the basis that the Group's
aforementioned plans and measures will be successful,
and are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the twelve months from 31
December 2024. Accordingly, the Directors consider
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amounts of the assets of
the Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities that might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ES2THERER #)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EERHBXER

3.2 Material accounting policy information
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or the group of cash-
generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ES2THERER #)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the

same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction of infrastructure and development of
properties. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other
relevant standards, failing which it recognises an asset
for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
Definition of lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components a single lease
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Eg2THERER (#)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EEGTEEERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets TRREEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: CRAEAENNABE

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

MERBZIBTESR

e RHAMBBHIZAELEN
EAEENR  BEMD K
HEEX

s AKBEEANEMVILE
BRA R

s AKERFKREFEHEE
BE BEREREEMLES
WRERBEEEERE
B R 3R I f6R £ P AR TE B9 SR
S Rt E LR

EREEEZERAREA R
ENREREE -

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE

93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct cost incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rate prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss
is also recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserves (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ES2THERER #)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowings costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and
when it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ES2THERER #)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

100

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

#HIE
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HREETHREL FOETHN

period. KErE o
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences REMBEREEAMEHREAE

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either.

(@)  the same taxable entity; or

(b) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Eg2THERER (#)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

104

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
properties under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost
of assets other than properties under construction less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development
and properties for sale are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale are carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
specific identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred
to properties for sale upon completion.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from change in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ES2THERER #)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part
of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance
no longer meeting the definition of cash. Contractual
restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed
in Note 28.

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024

RBERELEEER

R M BRRARZINNIRE K
ReFEERBRE

() He BEFHERSNEH
TR TEEXEERYE
HEBEHRTBNAaRS
EEMRITER K

) ReFEER BREAKE
RERSCHNBAETRZE
HOBERAR =@ A KA
T) "BREBKRE - MmEHA
XEEEHNERER B
TFEREFEREEH
ReAmBOmMIERER
HA A

A RERERME BHER
BeSEBEREBRULARED
ReMRE&FEEAB -

AEBFERAIE=ZFEALHRGIH
RITHERTIIERSEH - BRI
R ERRITERTBETERER
AE -wEBITEBFERNEY
B 1l TH R BT 5 28 2 BR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Eg2THERER (#)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

108

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from contracts with customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive
income (“OCI") and accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line
item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivable, deposits and
other receivables, bank balances and restricted bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivable.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. fR

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes-off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written-off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivable, contract assets
and deposits and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. #R

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

MEBRREREERE
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including (trade payables, other
payables and accruals, lease liabilities and amount due
to a shareholder/a non-controlling interest and other
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs to
determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMBBREREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Eg2THERER (#)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 32 EEETBEER(A)

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs
(Continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment
loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts
in accordance with applicable standards. Then,
impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts
exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that
the Group expects to receive in exchange for related
goods or services less the costs which relate directly
to providing those goods or services that have not
been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as
contract costs are then included in the carrying amount
of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for
the purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-
generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and contract costs
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods. The Directors have not come across any
significant areas where critical judgement are involved in
applying the Group'’s accounting policies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment loss on deposit paid for
acquisition of Properties |

The impairment loss on deposit paid for acquisition of the
Properties | (defined in Note 24) was based on the assessment
of the recoverable amount of such deposit, which requires
an estimation of the fair value of the Properties | at the date
of the acquisition. The assumptions include management’s
estimation on the market unit rate. Changes to the
assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Properties |. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of deposit paid for acquisition of the Properties | subject to
impairment assessment were RMB Nil (2023: approximately
RMB119,082,000). Impairment loss of approximately
RMB16,619,000 (2023: RMB11,802,000) was recognised
to deposit paid for acquisition of the Properties I. Details of
the impairment testing on deposit paid for acquisition of the
Properties | are disclosed in Note 24.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments at
FVTOCI

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unlisted equity
instruments, amounting to RMB20,413,000 (2023:
RMB19,221,000) are measured at fair value with fair value
being determined based on significant unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could result in material adjustments
to fair value of these instruments. See Note 6(c) for further
disclosures.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions
of market conditions which are set out in Note 20.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties (Continued)

Relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions. In
view of negative impact of housing prices went weak in the
PRC during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the independent professional valuers included uncertainty
clauses in the valuation reports in respect of investment
properties located in PRC amounted to RMB409,277,000
(2023: RMB205,500,000) as at 31 December 2024. Whilst
the Group considers valuations of the Group's investment
properties are the best estimates, the greater market
uncertainty depending on how the properties market may
progress and evolve which have led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group's investment properties is RMB409,277,000 (2023:
RMB205,500,000).
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value of properties under
development for sale

Properties under development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The Directors make
significant judgements in determining the net realisable value
of these properties, which involved the estimation of selling
prices of the properties based on current market prices of
properties of comparable locations and conditions, the costs
necessary to make the sales and the construction costs to
complete based on the existing development plans, the legal
and regulatory framework and general market conditions,
where applicable. Changes in the assumptions relating to
these factors could result in material adjustment to the net
realisable value of the properties under development for sale.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and other
receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are assessed for ECL
individually.

The Directors make periodic individual assessment on their
recoverability based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The information about the ECL for the Group's
trade receivables and other receivables are disclosed in Notes
6(b), 26 and 27.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and Hong
Kong. However, the implementation of the tax various
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the
PRC. There are many transactions and calculation for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses
of approximately RMB191,456,000 (2023: RMB155,650,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key
source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are more than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of
future taxable profits estimation, a material recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which recognition takes place.
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5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities, amount due to a shareholder/a non-
controlling interest and other borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, other reserves,
accumulated losses and non-controlling interests.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

MBEE

Financial assets
Equity instruments at FVTOCI
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities, other borrowings and amount
due to a shareholder/a non-controlling interest. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Company and its subsidiaries have intra-
group balances with other group entities
denominated in foreign currency which also
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the intra-group balances
that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Intra-group balances
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Company is mainly exposed to the currency
of HKS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in
RMB against the relevant foreign currency. 5%
(2023: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes intra-group balances
where the denomination of the intra-group
balance is in a currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive
number below indicates a decrease in post-
tax loss for the year and a negative number
indicates an increase in post-tax loss the year if
RMB appreciate 5% against the foreign currency.
There would be an equal and opposite impact on
post-tax loss for the year if RMB depreciates 5%
against HK$.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate other receivables (Note
27), lease liabilities (Note 31) and fixed-rate other

borrowings (Note 32).

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances as

detailed in Note 28.

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should

the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates risk on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk

management section of this note.

Bank balances are excluded from sensitive analysis
as the Directors consider that the exposure of
cash flow interest rate risk arising from them is

insignificant.

(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in equity securities measured at
FVTOCI. The Group invested in unquoted equity
securities for investees operating in bank industry
sector for long term strategic purposes which
had been designated as FVTOCI. Price risk was
monitored by the management of the Group and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should

the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis for unquoted equity securities
with fair value measurement categorised within
Level 3 were disclosed in Note 6(c).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposure are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank
balances and restricted bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risk associated with its financial assets
except that the credit risk associated with certain other
receivables is mitigated because it is secured over a
property from Shanghai Wanbang Enterprise Group
Company Limited* (“Shanghai Wanbang”), an
independent third party.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. The Group considers
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default
occurring as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following information is
used:

— internal credit rating;

—  external credit rating;

*  For identification purpose only
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower,

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers.

Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by the Group’s
established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual
credit evaluations are performed on customers. The
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer located. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customer.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100%
(2023: 100%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Major Customer (defined in Note 7) in the
construction of infrastructure and development of
properties segment.

In addition, the Group applies the simplified approach
for impairment assessment on trade receivable under
ECL model. Impairment of RMB7,041,000 (2023:
RMB10,937,000) is recognised during the year. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Bank balances and restricted bank balances

Credit risk on restricted bank balances and bank
balances is limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for restricted bank balances and
bank balances by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on restricted bank balances and bank
balances is considered to be insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

Contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach for
impairment assessment of contract assets under ECL
model. Reversal of impairment loss of approximately
RMB 1,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2023. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

6.

ol = NE )

b.

BHEAREERRRBER (E)

1= B /2 B K 5L 8 7T A (%)
JEM IR ()

AEBEREFRBENEER
B % & E A 100% (2023 4F :
100%) * 75 48 BR 3K 7Y JiE Ui £ L
BREERRMEZERSBEER
F (EERME7) BzE0E -

ok REBHEHEEEERIE
X TR E R BR ZORE ST E A
{£75% < BEARE 7,041,000 7T
(2023 F : AR#% 10,937,000 7T)
TR ERTER - BAELIEEN
TBEERAMTFE R

RITRERR R Z IR B ERTT 45 65

HRR P77 REBRREEFRHE
BRTEESENRZEEERT
U PR SR 1T AR AR S SR TT A SR Y
EERREBR - XEE2E BRI
HEEFREBREMSEERT
REHNBERRENBRENE
P IR B SR 1T AE R SR SRTT 4B R
A4 12 A FEMEEEE - ER
FHERE - ZRHRITAER LR
1THEEAEY 12 [ AR EEEIER
8T KB R RFEREERME -

BHIEE

AEEHBEHEEBHEBREATH
AHEEREFTGEBEERE -
HZE2023F 12 A31BIEFE
ERRREEBEEROASARE
1,000 T ° EE W ERFIFTETIR
ARFFFETR ST ©
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6.

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables

The Group has no concentration of credit risk of the
deposits and other receivables (2023: 75.5%).

The Directors make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
For those deposits and other receivables that the
Directors believe that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For
those deposits and other receivables that are past due
or there is significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Directors provide impairment based on
lifetime ECL.

Reversal of impairment loss of approximately
RMB723,000 and impairment loss of approximately
RMB5,713,000 (2023: Reversal of impairment loss of
approximately RMB12,299,000 and impairment loss of
approximately RMB8,253,000) were recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2024. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

6.

ol = NE )

b.

BHEAREERRRBER (E)

1= B /2 B K 5L 8 7T A (%)
AT R A fib JE WA

REBIWEIR S K E A JE WG E
MiEERRESE (2023 F:
75.5%) ©

BERFFESIMEDS - BELR
WRAEARBENRAEETEE
MEMER - HiTe MEMEREK
TE /Y A] Uk [B] 72 [ 1 ) E R ME B 5T
iy o Bz ERT & R E AL EUGRIET
T OEERE - BYIFHERARZ
SoEMEERKIERZLM -
MAREBIRE 12 @AAEHREES
BELRERE - HREalE
BRERUAREERBBEE LA
MZEr e hEMERE - &5
RIEZHEHEEBEELRE
B -

HZE2024% 12 A3 BILtFE
EHERABEODREEEOARE
723,000 TR REBEEHARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 1231 B IEFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the follow categories:

Internal

credit rating

A EEFR

Low risk

(KRB

Watch list

3

SR

RZE

Doubtful

A &t

Loss

BB

Write-off

sH

Description
ik

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past-due amounts

XH5AHWENRRE LY BEMBHFIE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

EBARERINRREREBELHEN

There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

EERRB ML ERUARBELMN
(BAANBIIMBEREGNER)

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit
impaired

BEBRBTAEHRIEERE

There is evidence that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

6. TWMIT AR %)

b. HBEMEZEEERBE(Z)

1= B /2 B K 5L 8 7T A (%)

AEBHABEER

B AR Bl BT 1

BIEATER

Trade receivable

JE W B R

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
PHRHGEERE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
FHRHAEERE-
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

PHEHEREBE-
BEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

P HEREEEHRE-
HREERE

Amount is written off

Other

financial assets

HittpBEE

12m ECL

REABRBEEER

12m ECL

REARBEEER

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

PHEAEREBE-
BEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

PHRHEEERE-
HREERE

Amount is written off

BEREEBREBABARENRE MHEBSHE MEEELH
AEETRABR MNP EREFE
2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €T HE®)
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HMERMEEEERBIK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B 7 b R E G ()
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRFMANEEIS T EEBELT
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL T8 B = & B 18 AT Ak 9 (5 & 2 B i
assessment: M

External Internal 2024 2023
aeditrating  creditrating 12 or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount

y ] & 1208524 BE WUERHAE MR FHREEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBI0O0  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Financial assets at

amortised costs
BRERTHENNBEE
Bank balances 28 Baal-Al N/A 12mECL 4,295 3573
i MER 1EARSEEEER
Restricted bank balances 28 Al NA 12mECL 17,922 42,507
ERABTES TER 1EABHEEEE
Trade receivables 26 NIA (Note 3) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 18,004 13,151
EWEE TEA (Hia) 2HRBEESE (LRERRE)
Deposits and other receivables 27 NIA (Note b) 12mECL 2,380 794
e REMERE AR (fizp)  NEARBEESE
Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) - 100
2HRAEESE (REEHB)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 124,100 126,480 138,921 139,815

URACEBR(LRERAE)
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

(a) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL.

Trade receivables with gross outstanding balance of
approximately RMB 18,004,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB13,151,000) were assessed individually.

(b) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

2024 2024 F
Other receivables H fth fE W 5K IR
2023 2023 F
Other receivables H fth pE W 3RIE

6. TWMIT AR %)

b. HBEMEZEEERBE(Z)

1= B /2 B K 5L 8 7T A (%)

Hrat -

(a)

Past due
B

RMB’000
AR®T R

124,100

RELERMS  AREERAZE
AU B MERREIT ZEMLT
EReHEYREEERAEBERE
&

R2024F 12318 REERAH%
EH A AR 18,004,000 7T H JE Uk
BR3X (2023 F : AR # 13,151,000
JL) B BB -

HRABEERREREMS  A&E
T RBSMERN R HEERRE DN
HHERARZ R REZILM -

Not past due/

no fixed

repayment

terms

S E BB
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T

2,380 126,480

139,021

794 139,815
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TRITH®@

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b.
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach using internal credit
rating:

BEEAREERRRBER (&)

1= B 7 B K a8 7T 1 (48

TRBETREBCTERAAE
EEF A EYAR RN 2B
EHEEEEES

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2024 31/12/2023
Z2024F HZE20234F

12A31H 12 H31H

EEE HFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT

Beginning balance BRWAE B
Loss allowance recognised DR E B RS
Closing balance R A

As at 31 December 2024, included in the above balance
was RMB 18,004,000 (2023: RMB10,963,000) related
to the loss allowance recognised for credit-impaired
trade receivables. During the year, no loss allowance on
credit impaired balance was written off (2023: Nil).

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024

10,963 26
7,041 10,937
18,004 10,963
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for deposits and
other receivables:

ol = NE )

b. HBEMEZEEERBE(E)

1= B 7 B K a8 7T 1 (48

TR T AT & Ko H B WK
TRRERNERBEE K

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired)
2HEH 2HES
12484 EEFR EEFR
RUGERE (REEHE) (HREEHE) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TR AR¥TR ARETx
At 1 January 2023 R203F1718 = 1 123,425 123,436
Change due to financial instruments 120234 1 B 1 BRE
recognised as at 1 January 2023 &R TAMERMNE
— Transfer to lifetime ECL —HEZHRBEERE
(credit-impaired) (EERE) - an 1 =
— Impairment losses recognised —BRRAEES = 15 8,235 8,250
— Impairment losses reversed —BARREER - = (12,299) (12,299)
New financial asset originated FrERmIaBsAE 3 - - 3
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12A31H 3 15 119,372 119,390
Change due to financial instruments B 202441 5 1 BH#ER
recognised as at 1 January 2024 &R TAMERNE
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRREES - - 5,671 5,671
— Impairment losses reversed —BEERESS - (15) (708) (723)
New financial asset originated PRI BEE L} - - I}
Write-off k| - - (235) (235)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12831R 45 - 124,100 124,145
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €T HE®)
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HMERMEEEERBIK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B 7 b R E G ()
Note: BisE
Changes in the loss allowances for deposits and other receivables are JeRHEMEKSIESREENEH TS
mainly due to: BRSBTS :

2024
Increase (decrease) in
Lifetime ECL
2HABEEESR
80 Os2)

Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
BIEERE FERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T

Further impairment made for debtor MBS AP E — P RE - 5,671
Settlement of other receivables 455 H h fE W FOE (15) (708)
No realistic prospect of recovery AEER ERATUKE - (235)

2023
Increase (decrease) in
Lifetime ECL

Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired

=l EERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Further impairment made for debtor TIETE AP A E —FRE 15 8,235
Settlement of other receivables 4 E A W SR IE - (12,299)

142 Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that have been recognised for contract

assets:

At 1 January 2023

Change due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed

At 31 December 2023

Change due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 January 2024:
— Impairment losses reversed

At 31 December 2024

7R2023F 1 A1H

ol = NE )

b. HBEMEZEEERBE(E)

1= B 7 B K a8 7T 1 (48

TREJCHANEERRBOE
BEEYR

Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)

2 HAFE A

FEBE
(BREERE)
RMB’000
AR®T T

FH2023F 1 A1THEREBTAMEBIRN

— EREREERE

M2023F12 A31H

EH2024F1 A1HEREMTAMERN

— EREREBR

7A2024%F12A831H
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERIITH®@

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

Changes in the loss allowances for contract assets are mainly due to:

Settlement of contract asset HEENEE

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the Directors to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

b. HBEMEZEEERBE(Z)

1= B /2 B K 5L 8 7T A (%)
Hrat -

BHEENEBERBRBESHTZZMN

2024 2023
Increase Increase

(decrease) in (decrease)

in

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired)

RMB’000 RMB'000
E2HBARERE  C
&8 OR2)
(BEERIE)
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT

EEERBECRRSE  A%E
ERVHFRASLRRECFHERHE
R—EKF - ZKFRESRRRE
BN A SRE 2B IE - WHERSE

RERBIERALE -

TRANAKERBRESRTE
HWIFH o ZRTIRA KB AR E R
BEMBARENZT B HOTH
BEMNRBRASRERHE - TX

ERERSREMNENAE -
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €I HE®
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HMERMEEEERBR(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEE2ERE (&)
Liquidity tables HEE 2K

2024

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Other borrowings

Amount due to a
non-controlling interest

Amount due to a shareholder

Lease labilites

2023

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Other borrowings

Amount due to a shareholder
Lease labilities

WUE

TR
EhEATERETER
HfpfE

EfFERELTR

Efi—2RRHE
ERE

===}

WRE

AR

R EMTRRER R
iR
Eff—2RRE
HERE

Weighted
average
interest

rate
i
o=
%

NATER
NATER
3.45%

NATER
NATER
4.8%-1.76%

NATER
NATEFR
36%
NADNEE
4.8%-737%

On demand
or within
one year
REX
FMER
RMB'000

ARETT

25 years

255E
RMB'000
AEETT

Over
5 years

BEsF
RMB000

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
ARR
ReHBER
RMB'000
ARETT

Carrying
amounts

REE
RMB000
ARBTT

149,989 = - 149,989 149,989
42,906 269 = 83,175 43,175
1,381 = = 1,381 1,381
1,100 - = 1,100 1,100
2,448 = = 2,448 2,448
3,454 9,885 14,257 27,59 19,073
207,284 10,154 14,257 231,69 23112
149,825 = = 149,825 149,825
50,770 258 = 51,028 51,028
7215 = = 7215 7,215
66 = = 66 66

5 115 124 29 20
207932 373 124 208429 208,354
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. €T HE®)
¢.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ S©RIAZAAREBEFE

Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured REBERH ST AR R

at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Board ENRANEBEAE -E58Y

is responsible to determine the appropriate valuation #E’Aﬁﬁfﬁ&?ﬁ’&fﬁ BEGE
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement. EEEERBERNTREBAE-

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market- REFT AR EBER  NEBEFA

observable data to the extent it is available. For AEHmBAEREE -HAS

instruments with significant unobservable inputs %E“&EKTT@@@AEE’JI
under Level 3, the Group engages third party qualified AEmE AEEGZEE=F4
valuers to perform the valuation. The Board works ;ﬁT%HTEEﬂiXLTﬂETE -
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish HE ERIINEEERMEE S EL

the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the BYGEMGHERM R G A

model. I -

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) FEEBZEEBRELULR
are measured at fair value on a recurring BEIAEBEZHBEEZ A
basis EHE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are REMERR  AEEHH
measured at fair value at the end of each M BEEDNIRARBES
reporting period. The following table gives B TRHAPUAEEZSE
information about how the fair values of these WBEEZAREAEHE
financial assets are determined (in particular, the A HERN R A
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). Hig) -

Level 3
EF=
2024 2023

111 -3 —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFIT

Equity instruments at FVTOCI AR EBEFAHEMEE
WARBRAT A 20,413 19,221
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. EMIA#®
¢.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ SBMIBZAREEEE)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) FEEBZEEBEEUIR
are measured at fair value on a recurring BEITEBZHEEEZ A
basis (Continued) REE(E)

Fair value s at

RAEE
Fair value
hierarchy

31 December 31 December
Financial assets 2024 2023
R2024% RABE
128318 12A318

Valuation technique(s) Significant unobservable
and key input(s) input(s)

HHEE

Private equity 0.71%equity  0.71%equity  Level3 Market approach — fair value of - Discount of lack of marketability,
investments at investment in investment in the private equity instruments  determined by reference to the
FVTOC] Chaozhou Chaozhou was determined by comparable  share price of listed entities in
Rural Rural company's price to book multiple, - similar industries of 15.6% (2023:
Commercial Commercial and applying discount of lack of - 2.10%) (Note)
Bank Co., Ltd.,  Bank Co,, Ltd, marketability
which is which is
engaged in engaged in
banking banking
activities activities
in PRC in PRC
ROABEA REERE RePEiE  E=R mhE-LEREIACAL  REZTHTBENE £22
At 2 ERED EGES RIOEHH EEDHALAATEREY  BUAXEIAERORERT:
BERERS ANENEE  BMENEZ RRRZ mERRLAE H515.6% (2023 : 2.10%)
RORHER  EOROHER E¥ (i)
ARMON%  AFEK0N%
RxRE usiE

K - e RBRE misRBETE
BB EA S EBAERER
EMARBEAERD K
ZINAR - B E2024F 12 A
JMBLEFE BRZMER
BUENELA TE1% -
AT H A S R
LERERENRRER T
&,/ EF 4 A R ¥ 241,000
7 (20234 : AR 243,000
JT) °

Note: An increase in discount for lack of marketability used
in isolation would result in a decrease in fair value
measurement of the private equity investments, and
vice versa. For the year ended 31 December 2024, a 1%
increase/decrease in discount for lack of marketability
and holding all other variables constant would decrease/
increase the carrying amount of the private equity
investments by approximately RMB241,000 (2023:
RMB243,000).

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and
3 in current and prior year.

RAFEREFE  £—
—Rh=HzEL EEE -
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TWMIT AR %)
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ SBMIBZAREEEE)
(Continued)
(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (il BE=ZRAAEBEAFENY
measurements R

Unlisted

equity

securities

at FVTOCI

EE-RAAE

Est AR 2E

WARIFE T

IR 2 38 25

RMB’'000

AR¥T T

At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1H 28,169

Reclassified as assets classified as held for sale EFT D1 AH B AFEHED

BE (5,100)

Total loss in other comprehensive income HEa2EB AR EIEEE (3,848)

At 31 December 2023 #2023F12 A31H 19,221

Total gain in other comprehensive income Hth 2 H WA A )W a4 7R 1,192

At 31 December 2024 7A2024%F12A31H 20,413
Included in other comprehensive income is an H 2 WA B EERAR
amount of approximately RMB1,192,000 fair BEMRDPEREANE
value gain (2023: fair value loss of RMB3,848,000) B AEME2EKARR
relating to the unlisted equity securities classified RTEMIELTRAES
as equity instruments at FVTOCI held at the end HEANLAABEREOA
of the current reporting period and is reported as K #1,192,0007T (2023
changes of “FVTOC| reserve”. FRAREBEEEEARE

3,848,000 7T) & I [& 5k &
[EAAREBEFAEMEZE

WAR G ES) -
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts BERE  RiEaEmEk
of other financial assets and financial liabilities HE G AN B S 2 Efb B
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated BEEMVEEBEZERR
financial statements approximate their fair values. BHEAABEES -
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

7. REVENUE

0}

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the years is as
follows:

Revenue from contracts BEFEAHRE
with customer

Type of services AR 725 51

Construction of infrastructure and
development of properties:

Construction of land T HbERR
Leases HE
Total revenue B

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Construction of infrastructure and development of
properties

Construction of land

All the revenue from construction of land were
recognised at a point in time based on the contracts
entered into with a stated-owned enterprise located in
the PRC (the “Major Customer”).

The relevant land specified in the contracts are
based on the Major Customer’s specifications with
no alternative use. Taking into consideration of the
relevant contract terms, the legal environment and
relevant legal precedent, the Directors concluded
that the Group does not have an enforceable right to
payment prior to the completion of the acceptance
and transfer procedure. Revenue from construction of
land is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
completed land is transferred to the Major Customer,
being at the point that the acceptance and transfer
procedure is completed and the Group has present
right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

Wy ==

0]

ERREERLDERE

(i)

EFERWHE D

FRAREERESFTOT

2024
—EB-MEF

2023
—E-=F
RMB’000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®T

4,711 =

4,711 =
1,530 1,498

6,241 1,498

EFEHNENER

BERRBERRYEZRE

TR

K ELHZRO A W TR IE
BURPEN—KEBLE(TE
BEEFDFIUMABHNE R
HERR

K& P ET AR B £ 3 T iR %
T2EPHRBIEL - TEHEM
ik BERMBBAAHGR X
RRE RABARIRGH R
E=RE  AKERRBRIRGE
P SE R 2 B 3 4 A5 50 ) AT 58 1Rl R
TN - Bt - THEROKE
RERTELHEBRTIZEFHN
Ry Bh (B B U 32 5 A2 Fr 52 B B0 B
Bh) FERR - A5 B AR A UK
% AXAAEWERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

7. REVENUE (Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in HKFRS
15 to its revenue from the construction of land for not
disclosing the remaining performance obligations under
the Group's existing contract with the Major Customer
as the Group recognises revenue from the satisfaction
of the performance obligation in the amount to which
the Group has a right to consideration from Major
Customer that corresponds directly with the value
to the Major Customer of the entity’s performance
completed to date. In addition, for all other contracts
in which the performance obligations are expected to
be recognised as revenue with an original expected
duration of one year or less, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed
as permitted under HKFRS 15.

(iv) Leases

7.

&3¢ )

(i) PEEEFEHNRTENEMEN
R E®%

AEBECD KB EVBREERNE
155R AT E JER AR K
B iR ATS Was - (I &
BEASERIZEFREAGLN
AINZBTRAOEE  REAK/N
SEZEAEAEIREPKRE
BEHRESCRERBENZT
BEFEENKESERIEN
BROEEEE 2 W - 1o 5t
REHHRA—FHAAZES
KRSl aE c BOEETHME
HEHms  REFEMBEER
EEAFEISH  DEEZFART

AR S EEE TMERE -

(ivy HE

2024 2023
—E_F —E=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

For operating leases: MEEHEMS -
Lease payments that are fixed EMERR

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focus on types
of goods or services delivered or provided. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

AR®T ARBTT

1,530 1,498

Al

S
HRERDEEDERBAFEMS @
ApmESe ((EEe)) (x2K8%
RRE(EBRERKE])ERCE
B EE R P AT SkR 2 78 am AR
BHl - REBANEE A RE D AE
I 48 OF A& = B8 IR E AT R R
REDED -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

—  Construction of infrastructure and development of
properties

—  Property investments and leasing business — Selling
and/or leasing for the investment properties located
in the cities such as Sanhe, Guangzhou, Beijing and
providing hotel services in Shennongjia Forestry District
by engaging a hotel management company in the near
future.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December

ﬂ% E AEBERBEEEMBERSE
BIZE 8 SR M Al 5 o 3han T -

— ERREERLDEER

— DERENMNEEEDT —HE

R,/ ABERR =00 BM -4
REPTHREME - AR TA
BRZBRBEEER QRN RR
PRI B2 (B 5 AR 7S o

D EB K XA

LATF’%KEI&T& DEEI D 2 W
R ERE DT

HZ12A31BLEE

Segment revenue Segment results

2 8 & Nt

2024

e
RMB'000
ARBTR

Construction of infrastructure and  EH R R R LD ELRE

2023 2024 2023
ZTI=F CZB-pm§E ZET-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TR AR®TR

development of properties 4,71 - (34,928) (96,220)
Property investments and MERBREEEE

leasing business 1,530 1,498 (64,083) (40,089)
Total @it 6,241 1,498 (99,011) (136,309)
Certain impairment losses under ~ EHEEBEEEA THE T

expected credit loss model, REER  MEREE

net of reversal (4,990) 4,046
Other income Hip A 8,876 2,175
Administrative and other THREMELHY

operating expenses (8,944) (14,681)
Finance costs MEKK (189) (1,824)
Loss before tax BR A A 18 (104,258) (146,593)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. &N
Segment revenues and results (Continued) PEW R R EE (E)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current year (2023: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note
3. Segment results represent the profit earned by/loss from
each segment without allocation of certain impairment
losses under expected credit loss model, net of reversal,
other income, certain depreciation, exchange gain, net,
certain finance cost and certain administrative and operating
expenses including directors’ emoluments and staff costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable segment:

THEE

Segment assets

Construction of infrastructure and
development of properties

ERREEREMERR

A EREN D BB mERBINDEFH

Yoam o ANEE ) BRI SHE (2023 -
&)

REDHBNEFTBRERNREN G
AR (FRME3) - DRFEERRE
BB PTEREREE A, EEREE - X
Bt o REMEEERERATHET
MERE (FRED)  AtRA - 5T
Tﬁ& PE S Wt FEE - BT RVE R I

ETITBREZERY (BREEHER
BIRA) - W E RS B KRR IR
M EBELRKEERNTTX

AT RAEER A HE D85
KREED

DB E

2024
—E-EF

2023
—E=F
RMB’000
ARETFIT

RMB’000
AR®T

79,277 256,007

Property investments and leasing MEKERBEER
business 437,631 324,582
Total reportable segment assets AmEDEEELTE 516,908 580,589
Assets classified as held for sale Ak F%Hf’lfﬁﬁﬁ BEE - 5,100
Unallocated corporate assets RAOMAREE 27,891 47,000
Consolidated assets HEAE 544,799 632,689
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

8.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

8. ReENI &)

ITHEERBRE(E)

2024 2023
—E_F —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT

Segment liabilities SHEE
Construction of infrastructure and EMBmERLYMELRRE

development of properties 65,358 149,825
Property investments and leasing MEKERBEER

business 129,603 27,919
Total reportable segment liabilities mES B EAE 194,961 177,744
Unallocated corporate liabilities RALRRI AL 29,701 32,096
Consolidated liabilities meEaE 224,662 209,840

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain
right-of-use assets, equity instruments at FVTOCI,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents.

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables and accruals, other
borrowings, certain lease liabilities, tax liabilities and
amount due to a shareholder/a non-controlling interest.

RO EHERDBRBERSEEIRM

il

s KRETHE BEARE HT
EREEE BAREBEAAR
i E2EERANBRATR -FTek
Hi RHIBARBR G KRB © %
BEBNIN IEEEDRER

BSH -

e KETHMENRENEE
A-HEbEx ETHERAE-
IR BB A K e BRI AR
BB FIEREBESEE

Eo
A
KL SE o

g Bk
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 1231 B IEFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets:

Loss from changes in fair value of
investment properties

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of deposits paid

Impairment losses on trade receivable
recognised in profit or loss

Reversal of impairment losses
on contract assets

Impairment losses recognised in
respect of contract costs

Write-down of properties under
development for sale

RENZAABEEDNER
HEMTSEINHESS

RRREINENENAE
B
RENRNAENE
B
SHENRAEINHESSE

HREERE PR

Construction of
infrastructure and
development of properties

ERRRERRIRRR

2024
2opE
RMB'000
KRBT

7,041 10937
= )

- 68,814
30,488 16,470

K& (B

Htttn BER

Property investments

and leasing business

NEREREREH

2024
“EopE
RMB'000
BT

42,102

16,619

RMB

Total

it
2024
S 1}:3
RMB'000
ARBTT

Unallocated

KR
2024
b
RMB'000
ARETT

2023 2023

RMB000
ARETT

RMB000
ARBTT

29,700 . - R 970
11,802 - - 1669 1180
i - i 0 10937
- - - - ()
. - . - 68M
_ - - 048 16470

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included in
the measure of segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Additions to non-current assets
— right-of-use assets
— property, plant and equipment
Other income
Impairment losses recognised (reversed)
on other receivables recognised in
profit or loss
Finance costs
Exchange loss (gain), net

154

0% EEREEAE

EREAERE
FRYBENE
—EREAE
% BERRE
EfMA
SERREPRINABEL
FRER (BO)BERR

EXBR () 38

Construction of
infrastructure and
development of properties
ERRRERRNZER

2024 2023
ot St

RMB'000

- Sadf:3
RMB000
ARETT

(1,743) (1,902)

EHRHTIZRERREEAYERRE
EN#BRaE D EETENDER

Property investments

and leasing business

NEREREREH

204
-g-pE

RMB000
ARETT

i
1,938

19,648

10,653
(227)

935

ARETT

Total

it
2024
it Sl
RMB'000
ARETT

Unallocated
FAR
2024
b a1 :
RMB'000
ARETT

RMB'000

= - 165 1m 168
- 57 555 1,995 555
- 114 195 19,762 195
= = = 10,653 -

(255) (6,906) (18 (8,876) 2,179)
= 4990 (4,046) 4,990 (4,046)
E 189 1804 1,124 1,824
= 7 @) 1 @)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8.

Geographical information

For both year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023, all of the Group’s revenue and assets are derived
from external customers and operations based in PRC and
accordingly, no further analysis of the Group’s geographical
information is disclosed.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customer of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as
follows:

Customer A — Construction of
infrastructure and development
of properties

Customer B — For operating leases

Customer C — For operating leases

MEER

EFPB—RKZEHE
BEPC—KEHE

9. OTHER INCOME g

RITA B A
B AR P FE IR B AR
FVTOCI relating to investments held ~ Z AR EBEFT AEMEE

Bank interest income
Dividends from equity instruments at

at the end of the reporting period

BEPA —ERRmERR

WA IR T AR S

o at "
n&%ﬁj %B (/%5)

B E2024512 A31 B % 2023612 7
31 B IEME S E - AR B PTA RS
REEGRBMNTENINEES R
X Ak TERFBEASREMEE
FHE)E — B AT ©

FEEFEHR

HEFERBREFHKZEAEERR
W KEBIB10% T -

2024
—EoE

2023
—E=F
RMB’000
ARETFIT

RMB’000
AR®T

Gain on disposal of assets classified HESEAFEHENEED

as held for sale (Note 23) Wz (Mt 23)
Sundry income A

4,711 -

879 857

651 641
Hab g A

2024 2023

—E_NE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARBET T

10 15

1,686 1,804

6,900 -

280 356

8,876 2,175
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 1231 B IEFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

12.

Interest on lease liabilities
Default interest on other borrowings
Interest on other borrowings

HEREBMNE
H A tE5REE A F 2
H At & 50 A 8

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

Impairment losses recognised

(reversed) on:
— trade receivables
— contract assets

— deposits and other receivables

R (Em) R ERE

— PR
—BHEE

10.

1.

— & M H At RO

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax:

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred tax (Note 33):

Current year

Income tax expense

BIEATRIA ¢
—HBEEEREHR

BEIETR IR (MTEE33) -
REF

RS2

12.

Rl & KA
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETF T
952 24
172 -
= 1,800
1,124 1,824

BAYEFEEBEERN NHRE

BiE - HRED

2024
—E-NmE

RMB’000
AR®T R

RMB’000
ARBEFT

7,041 10,937
- M
4,990 (4,046)
12,031 6,890

BRI E AR FIEHNHE6D) °

FriE BB x

2024
—E-mE

RMB’000
AR®T R

2023
—E-=F

RMB’000
ARETIT

1 6
= 31
1 37
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. FTBHiEX (&)
F 8 19 B0 40 0 1B 4 A 5t AR SR R
F116.5% 5+ 8 o g1 7 AN & @ 8 0 &
BEARESKA - L EYFBHIE
Ve B g o

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision for
taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group's income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

BIEFBRSEMEHE ((REMREH
ED REEFREBAERED AR
AIRFEMBRATRZMESFE 2K
R E25% °

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the Company and the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Hit xR EE R IBIRARADE
RERITHHERE -

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

RiFaBERD  FAMSHMAXE
BRELATE IR 2 HRRADT

The income tax expense for the years can be reconciled to
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss as follows:

2024 2023

—E_E —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T AREET T

Loss before tax BRBATES 18 (104,258) (146,593)

Income tax at applicable tax rates RRER R ENEN (26,035) (36,617)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 5% B A~ AT # 1 #9 5 52

for tax purpose s 18,710 12,618
Tax effect of income not taxable FT R B ZE SR R U A Y

for tax purpose Higs & (2,297) (553)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIERT IS E BT E & 10,366 24,747

Utilisation of tax losses previously B A < Bl M R RIS B

not recognised (687) (131)

Tax effect on tax reduction MIBHR A B IE T & (46) (27)

Income tax expense FreBipx 11 37
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. FRERE

2023
—E-—F

RMB'000
ARBTT

Loss for the year has been arrived at FRBED B
after charging:

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief B2 EERTIETHAER

executives’ remuneration (Note 14) B (Kat 14) 1,730 1,783
Other staff cost (excluding directors’ HEMEINA(TEEES

emoluments and supervisors’) e kESHE)

— Salaries, wages and other benefits —¥e LERAMBET 4,500 4,880

— Contributions to retirement — RIRERET &I

benefits schemes 343 561

— Termination compensation — BB 438 -

5,281 5,441
Capitalised in properties under NEERBHRMERNERL
development for sale (1,129) (1,057)
4,152 4,384
Total staff costs recognised as expense  FER AR X KB TRk A 4258 5,882 6,167
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREETE

equipment 173 168
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 1,995 555
Total depreciation recognised as expense #& R 1ERT 2 K 3T & 42 58 2,168 723
Auditor’s remuneration (including ZEENIN & (B 5 BIRT B

the fee for PRC subsidiaries) REMER)

— Audit service — ZE AR 960 938
Contract cost recognised as cost of sales #3435 & A AN B & 4K A 112 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect HERBHEN T E LKA

of contract costs recognised as cost ERE R EREE

of sales - 68,814
Write-down of properties under Rk T 7R A 8 B AN Y

development for sale recognised HEmMERYE

as cost of sales 30,488 16,470
Gross rental income from REMENHE S U ALREE

investment properties 1,530 1,498
Less: VoA

— direct operating expenses — FAEEHESKAR

incurred for investment KEMEEER

properties that generated BEELEERY

rental income during the year (110) (85)

— direct operating expenses — FRAEEHSHBAN

incurred for investment KEMEEER

properties that did not generate HELERS

rental income during the year (382) (382)

1,038 1,031
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors’, supervisors' and chief executive'’s

emoluments

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

14. E5 ES FETHRAE

KREEBREHES

EX ESRTETHABNM
&

(a)

FARBEALTRUREER
AGPIRENES EERTE
TTHABRIFBMT

Contributions
to retirement
benefits
schemes

Salaries
and

allowances Total

BARA

e  HeREl FTEIfRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR¥TR  AR¥Tx  AR%T:n
For the year ended BZ2024512831R
31 December 2024 ILEE
Executive directors HTEE
Zhang ling Ming (Chairman) KU (1) 100 25 - 345
Huang Chunfeng ERB(TTHAH)
(Chief executive officer) 120 261 38 419
Leng Xiao Rong RINK 100 190 33 323
Sub-total et 320 696 VAl 1,087

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

EXARBTEEMEREINRERAR R RAE BN EBERMBHORE -

Non-executive directors FHTES

Yin Zong Chen (Note f) FRE (W) 3 - - 3
Chau Ting Yan AEM 120 - - 120
Sub-total Nt 123 - - 123

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company

and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

FXAREATEEM e BEINBESFREARFALENBAR (RER) EEMREHENRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF 14. E EE FETHAER
EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID REEREHEE®
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s () EE EERTETHAESHMHM
emoluments (Continued) & (&)

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement

and benefits
allowances schemes Total

BUEN
e  FEREH HE 128 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR  AR®TR  ARETR

Independent non-executive BUkHTES

directors

Guo Lu Jin (Note j) DEE (Wit 10 - - 10
Gao Hong Hong (Note j S () 5 = = 5
Luo Zhuo Qiang BEH 120 - - 120
Mao Hai Bin (Note i) TREM) 110 - - 110
Jiang Hai Ling (Note i) BE% (i) 110 - - 110

355 - - 355
Sub-total Nt 798 696 Al 1,565

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of
the Company.
FXARBIFRTEETME AEXNEEFRERARESMBHAORS

Supervisors £z

Fang Wei Ran HER 12 112 12 136
Wang Xing Ye TEE 15 - - 15
Zhang Yun Feng (Note j) REE (i) 1 - - 1
Chen Jun Feng (Note ) BRI (H17) 1 = = 1
Zheng Ze Jian (Note } EER (I 1 - - 1
Chen Bin (Note i) B (fratii) 1" = = 1
Sub-total Pt | 112 12 165
Total @t 839 808 83 1,730
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF 14. E% Eﬁ% FEITHAE
EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEBBREHER #)
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s (a) EE EERITETHAESHMH
emoluments (Continued) & (&)

Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and benefits
Fees allowances schemes Total

we  Hekzl HE 1a% st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR

For the year ended BZ2023512831H

31 December 2023 LEE
Executive directors BTES
Zhang ling Ming (Chairman) KA (1R 100 253 = 353
Huang Chunfeng EEE(THEH)

(Chief executive officer) 120 292 40 452
Leng Xiao Rong RINR 100 192 3 324
Sub-total it 320 737 72 1,129

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

EXFATRATESEMEREXNRERAR A RARENEHEEMEHRORS -

Non-executive directors FHTES

Yin Zong Chen (Note j) FRE (M) 30 = - 30
Chau Ting Yan FEM 120 = = 120
Sub-total Nt 150 = = 150

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

EXFAREATEEMEMEXNRERERARRAREMBLR (HER) EFMRHENR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF 14. E EE FETHAER
EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID REEREHEE®
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s () EE EERTETHAESHMHM
emoluments (Continued) & (&)

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement
and benefits
allowances schemes

RIET
, SHEIfE 85
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTTL ARETT

Independent non-executive BIFYTES
directors
Guo Lu Jin (Note j) DEE (W) 120 = = 120
Gao Hong Hong (Note ) SHLAL (Bi5Fi) 60 = = 60
Luo Zhuo Qiang BEB 120 - - 120
300 - - 300
Sub-total et 770 737 72 1579

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of
the Company.
FXARBIFNTESTME AEINBRERERARESMBHAORE

Supervisors Ex

Fang Wei Ran AR 10 138 11 159
Wang Xing Ye TEZ 15 - - 15
Zhang Yun Feng (Note ) REIE (B3 10 = = 10
Chen Jun Feng (Note j BRI (H#) 10 = = 10
Zheng Ze Jian (Note 26 () 10 = = 10
Sub-total Nt 55 138 11 204
Total @t 825 875 83 1,783
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’, supervisors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director, a
supervisor or the chief executive waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. No emoluments have been
paid to the Directors, supervisors or chief executive as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Note:
i retired on 30 January 2024.

ii appointed on 30 January 2024.

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the year include three Directors (2023: three Directors),
details of whose emoluments are set out in Note 14(a)
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining two (2023: two) highest paid employee who
are neither a director, a supervisor nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

Salaries and allowances Fre KOERh
Contributions to retirement

benefits schemes

BRI BN

LEE CEE FETHAE

FEBBREHER #)

(a)

(b)

Ex EERTETHRABHM
® (%)

HE20249F 202312 8318
HFE TEEE EERXE
TTEUA B FREE ok R & BEE (F {) B
W LHE - B E2024F 22023
FNRANBLEFE BMERE
BEEYFETHRABINME
e ERMAREESMA
NEE B RENHIE LB FEE -

Wit -
i 202451 A30 HEME -

i R2024F 1 B30 HEZRLT -
LEREHES

FAXEERE R RERERE
—HREFQ023F  ZEEF) -
ERHENSFBEHN XM=
14(a) o FA » R T (20234 ¢
MB)IEARARNBES  BEEkE
ZTBRABNESHEENH
FEIBIT

2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=5F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEF T
884 799

17 16

901 815
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

14. DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b)

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024

Five highest paid employees (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are
neither the directors, supervisors nor chief executive
of the Company whose emoluments fell within the
following bands is as follows:

Nil to RMB1,000,000

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors, supervisors, chief executive or any of the
two highest paid employees as an inducement to join,
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the Directors, supervisors, chief
executive and the two highest paid employees has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during each
of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Apart
from the Directors, chief executive and supervisors,
the Group has not classified any other person as chief
executives during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

T &= AR# 1,000,000 7T

L EZ EE -FTETHAER
FEEBREHEE &)

hERGHES (B)

FARAESE EFHITHAR
MRS HEENFMFENT -

Number of employees

BEAH

2024 2023
111 -3 —E_=F

H Z=2024F 2023412 A31H
EEE AEEHSERES &
Z EaTBRAESIMERSH
EEEMN—AZNMEERNA
SN A [B1% 2 42 B ok B B
B - B =2024F X 2023F 12 A
BNAEFESF HMEES
EE EaTBRABRNERS
2 B pEE KR B AR (A I
& o B E2024%F & 2023F 12 A
3TELEFE BREZS &ZeTK
ABREEIN  NEEIWEAFE
AEMALDBEAFEZITHRASR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

15.

16.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss for the year attributable to owners Bt ERER K EFEME

15.

BREE

ARG NS TR R B
AT A TR

2024 2023
—E-NE —E_=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBT T

of the Company for the purpose of RAFIHE ANEIEFRNERE

basic and diluted loss per share

Number of shares RHEE

Weighted average number of ordinary BEMREAR LB EEIEM S

shares for the purpose of basic and B AR N TS 2R
diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share for both years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 were presented as there were
no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2024 and 2023.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during 2024, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

16.

(89,243) (137,159)

2024
—E-mF

‘000
TR

1,469,376 1,469,376

MR E E2024F12 A31H K 20234
1A EMEFEEYEEED BT
TBAR - AL 2512024 FF ]2 2023
2 GREEREE -

iz =

R2024F A - DR % ok M &k 8
ERRETFTARGEBERARE M E
HERARMNEREZRETRRE
(20234 : 4®) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BERRZRE

Furniture,
fixtures

CosT
At 1 January 2023
Disposal

At 31 December 2023
Addition

At 31 December 2024

KA
R2023F1A1H
=

202312 A318
NE

R2024512 A 310

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION EitiiERZ:RHE

AND ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023
Provided for the year
Disposal

At 31 December 2023
Provided for the year

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

R2023%F 1818
FREE
il

R2023F12A318
FREE

R2024512A31H

BHEE
R2024512A31H

R2023F12A318

Construction
in progress

REIRE
RMB'000
ARETT

Leasehold
improvement

BREH
RMB'000
ARBT 7

and office
equipment
B £BR
N
RMB'000
ARBTT

Motor
vehicles

i
RMB'000
ARRTT

Total

it
RMB'000
AREFT

- 25 107 840 972
_ - (32) - (32)
- 25 75 840 940
10,406 = 247 = 10,653
10,406 25 322 840 11,593
- 25 9% 410 531
- - 4 164 168
= = (32) = (32)
- 25 68 574 667
- - 9 164 173
- 25 7 738 840
10,406 - 25 102 10,753
- - 7 266 273

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Leasehold improvement

Over the shorter of the lease
term or 25%
18-20%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

Motor vehicles

25%

A EME - BFER&REBRB TIABERE
BT HIFMRGHRITE -

%

HEXE

§

R Esk 25%

B RERMAERE

e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR 1

SALE

FERETRYE

Properties under development for sale

Amounts comprise: SEBE
— Construction costs including — BEAER (BRI
staff cost capitalised B TRAN)
— Land costs — THIAAR

Less: Write-down of properties
under development for sale

Note:

To enhance service quality and operational standards to cater for the needs
of tourists while maximising the return of the Shennongjia hotel project, the
Group’s management considered to engage a professional hotel management
company to oversee the hotel operations instead of managing it internally
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Shennongjia hotel project
includes hotel, an entertainment centre, and commercial facilities with the
carrying amount of approximately RMB139,716,000 which were transferred to
investment properties as there is a change in use.

8. HFEMBPHWRE

2024
—EoE

2023

RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB000
ARBTT

61,250 207,200

2024

2023
—E-NE =

RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB’000
ARBT T

B OB B R R

68,072 199,099
7,489 24,571
(14,311) (16,470)
61,250 207,200

HsE -

ARABRBEZREEZENREHRTOT R
FR i 2R EEEIH A ESHALB®R - HE2024
FNRANALFEE ASEHEEEEREAEE
BEEEAREEBELE MIENTEE - 19
BREREARERE  IRER O REERME -
BREEA AR 139,716,0007C * RFE kA% mE
BEREME -

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE

Leased
properties

HEWE

RMB’000
AR®T

As at 31 December 2024 72024128311

Carrying amount AREE 17,974
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 H31H

Carrying amount FREE 207
For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ2024F12A31HLEFE

Depreciation charge TERX 1,995
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ=2023%F 12 A31HLLFE

Depreciation charge TERX 555

2024 2023
—E-F

—E-=F
RMB’000
ARETF T

RMB’000
AR®T

B7g FATH B ARRA R R 52 562 168

Expense relating to short-term leases

Expense relating to leases of BEEEEEMEEMRBNRE

low-value assets 7 7

Total cash outflow for leases HEZRSRHN A 1,830 748
Additions to right-of-use assets CRAEEERE 19,762 195

For both years, the Group leases various offices, resorts
and a 3,000 sg.m. vacant land in the Shenyun Cultural and
Sports Park in Shenzhen for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 15 years (2023: 1 to
10 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices.
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

REZMEFE AEEHEZEARA
T EBNEFINFEXELAER—E
3,000 T KB EE A REIE - H
EAHNEEMEE1E 154 (20234 ¢
1E2104) 5] » FHE R Th IR @ Bl &
EER BB ANRIER RIS -
REETHABRFHTAIRERENE
ER AEEERAANTERTETE
AR R BENITREIMA -

ANEBFHRABAZTII L EHAL -
MR2024F K 2023F 12 A31H - = H
HEHGH FMFEREHHEERTH
CHATH S A AL ©
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out shop units and car parks under
operating lease with rental payable monthly. The lease
typically run for an initial period of 3 to 5 years (2023: 3to 5
years). These leases contain a minimum annual lease payment

that are fixed.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/

20.

REME

AEBERBESEMELNHIHELR
FEL HEBEBFAIN - HE—R
e ABEA3E 5 (2023 F : 3E54F) »
ZERERSEEN&EFEREMNR -

HRAERESREEEESANTY
EERE RAKETEEEER
BEmAZINERR - HESHRER
RRETEBEHEERRERABRA

or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

RMB’000
AR® TR

Fair value
At 1 January 2023

Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss

At 31 December 2023

Transferred from deposit paid for acquisition of
completed Properties | (Defined in Note 24)

Transferred from properties under development for sale

Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss

At 31 December 2024

Unrealised loss on property
revaluation included in profit or loss

BEMENEREE-

AREE
7R2023F 1 A1H 235,200
REBHEANERN AL BERD F5E (29,700)
M2023F 12 A31H 205,500
HEAWBEDBTIYE

(FZE B W 24) ENET© 106,163
HEAGERBEPYE 139,716
RIEZAERN AL EBER LD FEE (42,102)
7A2024%12A31H 409,277
STABRNYMESEHRERER

(42,102)

2024FERE | BEARRRRGERAHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWHE &)

170

As at 31 December 2024, the Real Estate Ownership
Certificates of 56 (2023: 56) office units located in Beijing
with carrying amount of approximately RMB39,671,000
(2023: RMB39,671,000) has not been obtained as the
outstanding considerations of approximately RMB18,419,000
(2023: RMB27,661,000) have not yet been settled. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Group is entitled to
lawfully occupy, use lease and sale of these properties.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Real Estate
Ownership Certificates of 32 properties have been obtained.

As at 31 December 2024, the Real Estate Ownership
Certificates of the shop units and car parks located in ShunYi
with carrying amount of approximately RMB106,163,000
has not been obtained as the outstanding considerations
of approximately RMB2,705,000 have not yet been settled.
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is entitled to
lawfully occupy, use lease and sale of these properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 December 2024 has been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Masterpiece
Valuation Advisory Limited (2023: Graval Consulting Limited),
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the
Directors determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements. The Directors work closely
with the qualified external valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

MN2024%F 128318 AR HARE S
FAERELHARE 18,419,000 7T (2023
F£: ANR¥27,661,0007T) @ REETEE
#ANREE39,671,0007C (20234 : AR
# 39,671,000 7T) HY 5678 (2023 4F : 56
H) M RIE R B T EA RIS T
DEEEE - BEERAE AEBEHR
AEERA-FH HEREEZEY
¥ -HE2023F12A31BILEE - B
MERBEMENTEEERES -

P20245 12 A31 8 ARARNMRELD
AR #2,705,00070 AR &E - BE R
ESEREEL AR 106,163,000 7T HY
MRIEENEHEMREEMATS
EEEF ZEIREAEEEREE
A FRRERHEZSME -

R2024F 12 A31H  REBREYE
MAABEDIZERNEEYERBED
BYAEREEHEMENTEZEN
BRAR(2023F - HECEERAR
AEREEEHETHHEETE -

REEHBYENLLEER EF
BEEA AN EBEMENBERNR
BABE EFESERINSHAER
ETAE UEX/SENGBERMNR
EE B AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 1231 B IEFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWHE &)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

Valuation
techniques

fEER

Shop units located in Guangzhou  Investment

fir

2024: RMB17,021,000
(2023: RMB20,400,000)

BMemEE
20245 \R¥E
17,021,000 7
(2023%F : NRH#
20,400,000 7T)

approach

BEZA

REZEMENIAEBER WX

ZEEERERGR/EBARAE -

Significant
unobservable inputs

EATTREGARE

Term yield, taking into account of yield

generated by market average selling

price and the market average rental from

comparable properties and adjustment to

reflect the conditions of the building of
3.5% (2023: 2.6%)

FHIWEEB3.5% (20235F : 2.6%) &

ZRAELBNENTHFHEER
MiEFOREELORER T R
EURBREFARR

Reversionary yield, taking into account of

yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental of 4% (2023: 3.1%)
FlEER4%(2023F :3.1%) &
ZRAEHBNEL TS THEER
M TARSEE 2 MR XL ERS
EARBRARBE 2 HBRR

Market unit rate, taking into account the

recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property, which
ranged from RMB34,000 to RMB45,872
per sq.m. (2023: RMB34,492 to
RMB47,304 per sq.m.)

Bt RRENF LR HER

(EM%I&E 18} R R EE B )
GEENRNELARARE 34,000
/\Ems,mzﬁ(zozﬁ ‘5¥A

%AEV% 34,492 T E ANR#47,3047T)

2024FERE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FAERBARE
HARBENRE

The higher the term yield, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

t

FHREEHED - 1/
RZ IR

{EERIBE -

B~

The higher the reversionary yield,
the lower the fair value, and vice
versa.

FREZEE  AAEEYE
RZ IR

A significant increase in the market
unit rate used would result in a
significant increase in fair value,
and vice versa.

FrER BT 5 EE AR L HREH
RABEBRERM R2IA -

| BEARBRROABRAAE

171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F 1231 B IEFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation
techniques

20. BREWME @)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

FUBRRARE

Significant
unobservable inputs

Office units located in Beijing
2024: RMB88,462,000
(2023: RMB102,200,000)

AL RS TR BAL
20246 AR
88,462,000 7%
(2023%F : AR¥
102,200,000 7T.)

Shop units and car parks
located in San He
2024: RMB57,915,000
(2023: RMB82,900,000)

0 =T EX TN
BEfL
2024F : \R¥

57,915,000 75 (2023 :

AR#82,900,0007T)

fEER M

Direct
comparison

BERLEE

Investment
approach

BEZA

EATTREGARE EAREENBE

A significant increase in the market
unit rate used would result in a
significant increase in fair value,
and vice versa.

Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the properties, which
ranged from RMB16,385 to RMB16,889
per sq.m. (2023: RMB17,523 to
RMB22,691 per sg.m.)

BARRENZOHZHER (BERNE MEROTZEEKR LAKER
HE  wRERRAELAR)NTISE AABEBEEN R2TA-
ENRETHRARK 1638 TEAR
#16,8897C (20235 - B HRARK
1753 TEAR22,6917T)

D

The higher the term yield, the lower
the fair value, and vice versa.

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the building of
3.5% (2023:2.2%)

FHREER35% (20235 :2.2%) 8 FHEEEYS
ZRAALBYENTLTHEERT R2HR-
RRElik A L0l Gt S (heEak: 378
RBEFRR

AR EERHE

Reversionary yield, taking into account of
yield generated by market average selling
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental of 4% (2023: 2.7%)

FlEERA%(2023F 0 27%) &
%FT%tt?%%Zm%—Fﬁﬁ“&ﬁ
TR ESE  WAE Y AR
RMRRAS 2 BEER

The higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value, and vice versa.

FREZHED  AAEEBE
R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWHE &)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FTAEEHABE
HAAEENRR

Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable inputs

fEE R EXATTRERALE

Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property, which
ranged from RMB15,730 to RMB28,966
per sq.m. (2023: RMB25,000 to
RMB38,895 per sg.m.)

BARRENZOBZHER (BERDE MRANTZEEKE L ABER
HE wREMAELAR)NTIHE  AABEBRZEN R2TA-
ENRETARARKILTIOTEAR
#28,966 7T (2023 F - BF HRARK
25,000 T2 AR ¥ 38,38957T)

A'significant increase in the market
unit rate used would result in a
significant increase in fair value,
and vice versa.

Shop units and car parks Direct comparison ~ Market unit rate, taking into account the A significant increase in the market
located in ShunYi recent transaction prices for similar unit rate used would result in a
2024: RMB106,163,000 properties adjusted for nature, location significant increase in fair value,

and conditions of the properties, which and vice versa.
ranged from RMB20,900 to RMB24,687
per sg.m.

B2 B 2 B 7 4 B L ]2 BEEREE BARRENFOBRHER (ERDE MRAOTZEEKE LAKER
FE HE wREMAELAR)NTHE  AABEBRZEM R2TA-
20245 : AR% BNRETARARK2090TEAR
106,163,000 7T 24,687 T

Hotel, an entertainment centre  Income approach  Market value of hotel, taking into account A significant increase in the market
and commercial facilities in the occupancies, average room rates, value of hotel would result in a
Shennongjia potential income growth and all out- significant increase in fair value,
2024: RMB139,716,000 goings, subject to future economic and vice versa.

conditions in the market

MR REMER B2hL  WAZ EENTHEE KERARZX  FHE FEROTEEEAERLASEH
R %R B BERAEREFAEXL HER LSABEBRZEM R2TA-
20245 : AR% i35 ) R R A A 0 52
139,716,000 7

2024FEWE | BELARARRROARLA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWHE (#)
Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable
techniques unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FUBRRARE
BRI EXTHHERARE HAAEENBR
Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term yield, the lower
generated by market average selling the fair value, and vice versa.

price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the conditions of the building of
45%
FHREXRA5% KERAELERY FHRAXHS QABEAEE.
¥mBETHEERTATHESEE RZTR-
B 58 TG R 1 A A S F AR

Reversionary yield, taking into account of ~ The higher the reversionary yield, the
yield generated by market average selling  lower the fair value, and vice versa.
price and the market average rental from
comparable properties and adjustment to
reflect the risk associated with the future
rental of 5%

ERNRER% KERABLENE BEREXEE AABEVE-
XS FHEBRTETAEEELAZ RZTR-

WAL ARARBARESZH
e

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair AR BEHEHEAE=RALEME -
value hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. &R - WMEA S EHE =4 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

21. GOODWILL 21.

COST
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2024

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

Impairment test on goodwiill

S
M2023%F1A1H 202312 A31H
}2024F12 A31H

EFREE
M2023%F1A1H 202312 A31H
2024512 A31H

BREE
2024412 A31H

2023412 A31H

AERENR

Acquisition of
Zhongfong
Chaozhou

W kg

RERM

RMB’000
AR¥T T
(Note)

(B =)

44,459

44,459

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill set
out above have been allocated to the cash-generating
unit (“CGU") comprising one subsidiary engaged in the
construction of infrastructure and development of properties
segment.

ARMERAME  WEXFdEE
ErEkEERSELBU(REELE
Bl BRE-—BAUEEERRBEER
KYEERSBOMBAF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

21. GOODWILL (Continued) 21. BE#
Impairment test on goodwill (Continued) EEREANR (&)
Note: Construction of infrastructure and development of properties — et EWBEERRMEZE — REHMEK

Zhongfong Chaozhou Investment Development Company Limited*
(“Zhongfong Chaozhou”) (“Unit A")

The principal activity of the Unit A is the land development project in
Chaozhou (the “Project”). The Project covers three construction phases
(ie. phase |, phase Il and phase IIl).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the profitability of Unit A
was adversely affected due to the following factors: (1) there was no
acceptance of completion of the constructed land during the year; (2)
the trade receivables were long outstanding and the settlement was
slow; and (3) country government has not yet entered the procedures
of bidding of phase Il and phase Ill of the Project, the timetable for
construction of phase Il and phase Il of the Project could not be
determined and the Group was uncertain on the timing of acceptance
schedule of the remaining land area of 624 acres of the Project which
was far beyond the original timeframe.

Under these circumstances, the Directors decided to fully impair the
goodwill arose from the acquisition of Unit A during the year ended 31

AREERAF ([FEEAM]) (TAEA])

ABRIZEBEBARBMNET T %
BR(EE] - BB =ZH&E®K (B —8 -
ZHR=H) o

HZE2017F12A31BLEFE AR ()
RERNY EEESER TR () B
ERRHMAEEREEEREEE  KQ3)
BIREMF#AEAER ZHR=HHNBIE
By HEiErEfEBEE —HRk=Hn
BERAAEETHTHEEH T THEE
62488 2 BRI FS R R 2 B [ (HLiR B TR e B
MR)  ABNMBFENZITFRE -

FRHEBERT EFRTRKEABNE
EZHEERBE2017F12A31BLEFE

December 2017. EH REURE -
22. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 22. BAREBESFAEMEEZER
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE N:) e =
INCOME

2024 2023
—EoE

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®T R ARBT T

Unlisted investments: ELETIRE

— equity securities (Note) — BRARFES (M at) 20,413 19,221
Note: HiaF -
As at 31 December 2024, the unlisted equity investment represents 0.71% M20245F 12 A318 EEMBRAKEL —FHE
(2023: 0.71%) equity interest in a PRC private limited company which is ZRPBERERTEBOTELABGRLAR0.71%
principally engaged in banking business in the PRC. The Directors have elected (20234 : 0.71%) M iR #E - EF B2 F IR E
to designate this investment at FVTOCI as it is the Group’s strategy to hold ERBAABEFAEMEZEARAGE  REZ
these investments for long-term purposes. AEBHRBEEEZEREFERDIRE -
Details of the disposal of approximately 0.19% of the abovementioned equity HE Ll 490.19% RIEMF BRI 23 5K E -

interest are disclosed in Note 23.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

23. PEARBFFHENEE

23. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Assets classified as held for sale

On 14 June 2023, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement and the supplemental agreement (collectively
known as the “Share Transfer Agreements”) with an
independent third party (the “Purchaser”) to disposal of
5,000,000 shares of Chaozhou Rural Commercial Bank (the
"Disposed Shares”), representing approximately 0.19% of
the total issued share capital of Chaozhou Rural Commercial
Bank as at the date of the Share Transfer Agreements, at a
consideration of RMB12,000,000 (the “Transaction”).

The Purchaser has paid an aggregate amount of
RMB7,300,000 to the Company during the year ended 31
December 2023 (Note 30).

Since the change of shareholder has not yet been completed
and the remaining consideration of RMB4,700,000 was still
outstanding from the Purchaser, the Transaction was not yet
completed as at 31 December 2023.

On 14 December 2023, the Group and the Purchaser entered
into a second supplemental agreement (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which:

(1) agreed to extend the deadline for the completion to
31 March 2024. The Purchaser shall pay liquidated
damages for the late payment in accordance with the
Share Transfer Agreements. The liquidated damages
shall be calculated from 25 October 2023 until the
payment is made; and

(2)  the Group shall have the right to terminate the Share
Transfer Agreements if the Purchaser fails to pay
the remaining amount of RMB4,700,000 and the
corresponding liquidated damages in accordance with
the share transfer agreements before 31 March 2024.

The Transaction is expected to be completed within twelve
months and the Disposed Shares have been classified as
assets held for sale and are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The disposal was completed on 22 March 2024.

DERFIFHENEE

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F

RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB’000
ARETT

- 5,100

MR2023F6 148 AEEFEHEBF
F-FUEBEFDIILRNEZEHERL
HrhaE(GEAE I RMEERE]) -
LAt 65 83 N & 78R 97 5,000,000 A% A%
m(THERSD!  ERMHEEHZEB
HREIN R RITE BITR ALY
0.19%) ' KB &/ AR ¥ 12,000,000
(Ix&]1) -

HZE2023F 12 A31HILFE - BEAD
MAR B ZE £ AR 7,300,000 7T
(FfF#E30)

HMRBRERES N ARTHR BEAHHE
A TR B A R ¥ 4,700,000 7T ¢ #K
M2023F 12 A31H * KB EARTHK °

R2023F 128148 REBEEE A
AVE_MharnhaE ((F-0ExH
=& B

j

BB T BIRIEE 20245 3 A
31 -BHEREBERMDEZER
EMENREINEOS - BH
féi’]/i\§2023$10ﬂ255ﬁ3+
B HEEXNBEBREAL K

)

e

im]

(2) BHEHARRER2024F3 A31HAT
BERMEZEHEINEHRAR
#4,700,000 T MABEMELN S -
AEEBREKIERNDEETZE

RHEHMEET —EARTHK M
ERNESERFIFHEERE  T&
RAEPBRARTBEILZS -

BRBEESEEDN202453A822H5%
ﬁ\/Zo
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24. DEPOSITS PAID 24, XWIET €

178

Deposit paid for acquisition of

RWEBME(EE LN E)

2024 2023
—E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Properties | (defined in Note) XTHEI & - 149,100
Less: Accumulated impairment A REHRE = (30,018)
- 119,082

Note:

On 15 November 2016, Beijing Shen Shang Investment & Consulting Company
Limited* (“Beijing Shen Shang"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an acquisition agreement (the “Properties Acquisition
Agreement 1”) with a vendor (the “Vendor 1"), pursuant to which Vendor |
agreed to sell, and Beijing Shen Shang agreed to acquire a commercial premise
with the construction area of 2,800 square meters (with the right to use 5,000
square meters of car parks at the basement level two, being part of Phase 3 of
the ancillary facility project of Beijing International Zone Convention Center*
to be constructed in Beijing Shunyi District Tianzhu Airport Commercial Zone*
(the “Properties 1") at the cash consideration of RMB152,800,000. Details
of the acquisition of the Properties | has been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 November 2016.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had paid deposit of RMB149,100,000 to the
Vendor I.

As housing prices went weak in the PRC for the year ended 31 December
2023, the transactions of similar properties surrounding the Beijing Property
have continued to decline and have not yet been stabilized. Therefore, the
management of the Group concluded that there was indication of impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on the deposit paid for acquisition of
the Properties I.

The recoverable amount of the deposit paid for acquisition of the Properties |
has been determined based on fair value less cost of disposal of the Properties I.

The fair value of the Properties | was determined, by reference to the valuation
carried out by Graval Consulting Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer, based on Level 3 hierarchy using market comparable approach that
reflect market unit rate, taking into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the Properties
| which ranged from RMB30,943 to RMB49,085 per sg.m.. A slight increase in
the adjusted price per square meter used would result in a significant increase
in the fair value of the Properties |, and vice versa.

As at 31 December 2023, based on the result of the assessment, the
recoverable amount of the Properties | is amounted to approximately
RMB122,782,000 and the management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of the deposit paid for acquisition of Properties | is lower
than its carrying amount. An impairment loss of approximately RMB11,802,000
has been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023.

On 30 December 2024, the acquisition was completed. The Group had made
the remaining consideration payable of RMB3,700,000 to the Vendor | and
Properties | was transferred as investment properties as at 30 December 2024.

*  For identification purpose only

et -

M20165F 11 A158 dEREBBREFZAER A
A ([ZEE | ARF2EHBAR) BEH (8
FID T iz ((ERBIHED) - Bt
BFIRSHERERBERERE—BRAY
¥ o W BEERME2,800F F KL AREFERLT
BE5000F A KEESZEAME - BRI
AMEREERLEEERERSEENIIRGER
BRAEELERGEE3SHN 3o (W) -
BENREAARKE 152,800,000 - BRIUEME
INFHBERAARIH#A2016F 11 A1ISANAE
FHE -

MR2023F 12 A318  AEERBEHIZFTEA
R # 149,100,000 7T °

HREZE2023F12A3MALFEFEFEEEESDS
ES A RMERABRRERNMERS LR HENE
TE - BREB-Alt FEEEEERARFE
BEDR - WHIKEYE I B FTSEITRET -

WENEINENTSNATRESEEERDE
MARBERELERNEE

MEINAAREBEDZEBLAEREXRGEMSE
ELEBMARQBMMMEE  ERNE=ER
RARKRTSEENOTISLERET @ K&t KA
BEWMELPZZERE (ERMEINLE - R R
RIEHAE) - ZEBNREFHRKARK30,943
TTEARMEA9,0857T © ARG F I KERAE
MBS B EIN R A BENENREL M -
) Fi

MR2023F 128318 ERFTHER  WE IO
Bl & EL B AR 122,782,0007C ' AEEEE
EBREERKENEIEMT SN AIKRESBENE
REESHE NEE2023F 128318 LFE &
REERBEL AR 11,802,0007T °

R2024F 12 A30H WBE K - AEBE [
B IZ AT EMAREARY3,700,0007T M
MEIE R 20244512 A30 B B{EREME -

* E S
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25.

26.

CONTRACT COSTS

Construction costs and expenditure BERARERERX

capitalised

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2023 are mainly
related to land leveling cost, road facilities and electricity
supply, rainwater and wastewater facilities and land
requisition cost.

Contract costs are recognised as part of the cost of sales in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which revenue from the related project is recognised. The
impairment in relation to the opening balance capitalised
costs and the costs capitalised during the year ended 31
December 2023 is RMB68,814,000.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables — contract JEWERIR — REAH

with customers
Less: Allowance of credit losses B EEBERE

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately RMB13,125,000, net
of allowance of credit losses of approximately RMB26,000.

25. SHRAE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTIT

- 4,112

R2023F 12 A3MBE R EARANE L
AT EZME T FEEE . BELHGENR
HE - FASKEREM T EAEERE -

BRI EREBEEE WEHER
REBRRTERALSHER K -
HE2023F12A31BItFEBEME
AL B AN BR 9 4 B N B AN B R AR B R
EA ARKE68,814,0007T °

26. FEWBRRX

2024 2023
“E-NE —E =5

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT

18,004 13,151
(18,004) (10,963)
= 2,188

R2023F 1 A1H  KEBEFALHE
U BR X 40 B A R 513,125,000 7T (F0F
SEBBREELH AR 26,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivable net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the repurchase
agreement date at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition date:

26. EUWBR R (&)

ERREMROBEHZER D (EEE R
R B EIARE) AR B A0 B UL AR 3R (30
BRIEEBERE) OREITIT

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

over 1 year i —F

The Group has not specified the credit period to the Major
Customer and given that the Group has long-term business
relationship with the Major Customer, the Directors
considered that the balance from the Major Customer has
been past due as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2024, and it is considered as default as at 31 December
2024. The Group does not hold any collateral over the
balance.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in Note 6(b).

AR®TR ARBTT

- 2,188

AEBTRIEETERFNEEMSR
BEZEIASEEATFERFPFBERPE
R EERAN2023F12A31H
N2024F 12 A31HEEBERFPE%E
mER - BR2024F 12 A31 BB AD
BH AEEVERZERFTHEN
ARG o

& M B SRORL (B AT b 515 # 5 RB R
6(b) °
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HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

27. DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. sl E R EMEWFIE

2024 2023
—E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Other receivables (Notes) H b fE YR TE (I 2F)
Prepayment TEfTRIE

Deposits HiEA

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE
Notes:

At 31 December 2024, other receivables mainly include:

(i) approximately RMBNil, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB61,880,000 (2023: approximately RMB17,779,000, net of
allowance for credit losses of RMB56,301,000) represented the
consideration receivable from Purchaser |, in relation to the disposal
of 66.67% equity interest of Shenzhen He Hui Huang Development
Company Limited (“SHHH Development”) which was completed on
15 November 2020. The balance is unsecured and non-interest bearing.

(ii) approximately RMBNil, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB1,103,000 (2023: approximately RMB Nil, net of allowance for
credit losses of RMB1,103,000) represented a loan to Guangzhou Leyou
Internet Technology Co. Ltd* (“Guangzhou Leyou”), an independent
third party. The unsecured bore bear interest rate at 6% per annum
and expired in 2021.

(iii) approximately RMBNil, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB3,450,000 (2023: approximately RMB Nil, net of allowance for
credit losses of RMB3,450,000) represented the consideration receivable
from a purchaser, in relation to the disposal of the entire equity
interest of Shenzhen Shen He Chuang Jian Investment Development
Company Limited which was completed on 28 June 2019. The balance
is unsecured and non-interest bearing.

(iv) approximately RMBNil, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB57,490,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,771,000, net of
allowance for credit losses of RMB58,139,000) represented the
consideration receivable from Purchaser II, in relation to the disposal of
20% equity interests of Guangzhou Hai Yue Real Estate Development
Company Limited* (“Guangzhou Hai Yue”) at a consideration of
RMB 133,000,000, which was completed on 4 March 2019.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are set out in Note 6(b).

s For identification purpose only

125,518 139,270
427 3,133

962 545
126,907 142,948
(124,145) (119,390)
2,762 23,558

Kt
MR2024F 12 318 - b EWHTEEEBIE -

(i) WAREZ T CHBREEBEREA
K %61,880,000 7T (2023F : HARKE
17,779,0007t ' EFIREEEBEREAR
#56,301,0007T) * EEEKE FIHRE -
NAABER20200FE 11 B1SEBEEANEE
FINEBEEEARAR ((FIEEESR
B M66.67% M IE - ZEBRBEERR
BB °

(ii) WARBZ T BENBREEBEREAR
# 1,103,000 (2023 F : HARBZT T -
BEREEEBERE#E AR 1,103,0007T)
EBRTFBYS=HEMNEETHARRE
RAR ([EMEEEE]) HER - ZEEIEHE
BFIRFEME6% TS + R 2021 FEIH -

(i) MAREZT CHBREEBEREAR
# 3,450,000 7T (20234 : HARBZ T -
CHREEEERE AR 3,450,0007T)
EREIR—ZEFNRE  REE/MN2019
F6 A28 B AR EE RIITILAMAIZE
BRRABRARZIKRE ZEBRBREE
RERS -

vy HWAREBZT BHREEEBEBEEA
R ¥ 57,490,0007C (20234 : H AR ¥
1,771,0007¢ ' ENBREEBRBEBARE
58,139,0007T) ' K E FIHNRE A
R A BIA A R ¥ 133,000,000 2 KB H
EENBERWEFRRARAD ([EMNE
B1)20% K4 ZKEBER2019F3 A4
B5epk o

B AR & K H e W R IR 2 RUE AT A
R R I E I L 6(b) °
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/ 28. RERBREEEEE SR

182

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short-term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s
short-term cash commitments, which carry interest at market
rates range from 0.01% to 0.35% (2023: 0.01% to 0.35%).

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances that are placed
in restricted bank accounts amounting to RMB17,922,000
(2023: RMB42,507,000), such balances can only be applied
for the Project and restricted for settlement of various cost
upon approval by the Major Customer and are included in
cash and cash equivalents. The balances carrying interest
at variable interest rates ranging from 0.10% to 1.00%
(2023: 0.20% to 1.35%) per annum, in which approximately
RMB8,280,000, which was included in the restricted bank
balances of RMB17,922,000 above, was frozen as at 31
December 2024 due to the litigation (Note 40).

At 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB and kept or deposited in
banks in Mainland China amounted to RMB4,277,000
(2023: RMB3,556,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through bank authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and
restricted bank balances are set out in Note 6(b).

H R 1T A B

ReREeEEBERERMER
EEEHESAEENELNTH
GTHREEHEEFR ENT001%E
0.35% B F| E 5+ 8 (20234 : 0.01% =
0.35%) °

MR2024F 12 A31 8 FERZRHEE
TIRPHRITEHR B AR 17,922,000
JC (20234 : AR #42,507,0007T)
ZEEBETRRZER  RILER
XREILNEEETEZREPEMAE - Wit
ABERRESEEEE - ZE/HIE
N TF0.10% = 1.00% KT 8 F F| R 51
B (20234 : 0.20% & 1.35% ) - Heh
AR #8,280,0007T (BT A Ll
R HISR 1T 458 AR5 17,922,0007T) 7
2024512 A31 HEFR MR (M
$40) o

R2024F12 318 ZEBERE KR
1T AR 4,277,000 7T (20234 :
AR #3,556,0007T) A AREE -
W ARTF Sk 17 BRAE AL A A B 3 A SR 1T o
ARBTEERABEKEMEE - A
i AR A B A CONE B AE I &
(BEE -EERNEZEERT) A&
B 0] B R R RS INE TSR IRTT
BARBHBKEME -

BRARITER R R GBI RITE SRR
B FIEEN M E6(D) °
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29. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables represented construction payables in relation
to construction costs and other project-related expenses
which are payable based on project progress measured by
the Group. The suppliers have not specified the credit period
granted to the Group.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end
of the reporting period:

Within 180 days
Over 180 days

180 H A
180 H A L

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Hofth JE 5B M ERT &
(Hta)
W FERBE D

Other payables and accruals (Notes)

Less: non-current portion

Current portion ENER

29.

30.

FE 3 BR K

ENRRAEEEER R EMIAR M
AR AR HRE
AEBEFENHBEESN - HER
VWERTASEETEES-

VAR 210 o o5 B R B FE 5 BR SR B BR ik
DT

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTT
31,075 44,991
118,914 104,834
149,989 149,825

HibtENRERETER

2024
—E-F

2023
—E-=F

RMB’000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®T R

43,175 51,028
(269) (258)
42,906 50,770
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes:

Material balances include in other payables and accruals are as follows:

@

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

At 31 December 2024, included in other payables amounting to
approximately RMB18,419,000 (2023: RMB27,661,000), represented
the outstanding consideration in relation to the acquisition of 56
properties (2023: 56 properties) which was assumed through the
acquisition of 125 properties through acquisition of subsidiaries
(the” Subsidiaries”) during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2024, RMB2,705,000 represented the outstanding
consideration in relation to acquisition of completed Properties | (Note
24).

As at 31 December 2023, RMB7,300,000 represented consideration
received in connection with the Disposed Shares (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, RMB1,000,000 represented the
deposit received from the supplier of renovation, which has to be
repaid upon completion of acceptance.

30. EENFEREGTER &)

Hst -

BN EMEN AR EERATNERERNAT

U]

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

R2024 12 A318 5T AE M & FRIE
HE R A AR 18,419,0007T (20234 :
AR #27,661,0007T) + fE i S6I1E Y %
(20234 : 56THY %) AREENRE  HE
ZE2020F 12 A31 B L FEFE B U EN B
A ([ZEHE AT WhE 12518 %%
j%o

2024512 A31H » AR#2,705,0007T
EEHERFED R ITYE I REMSKE (H
F£24)

7M2023%12A31H * AR %7,300,0007T
e BRI WARME (MHaE 23) ©

MR2024%F K 2023F12A31H AR
1,000,000 7T 5 [7) 5 & AR 75 41 7 Py W B 0 2T
& ARRKTTKEERE -

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEAE

2024
—EoE

2023

RMB’000
AR®T R

RMB000
ARBT T

DN

TRATHR N EE

Lease liabilities payable:

BfE:
Within one year —FR 2,134 42
Within a period of more than one year BB — FETBBMF
but not more than two years 2,413 16
Within a period of more than two years @M FETBBRF
but not exceeding five years 3,552 56
More than five years B hF 10,974 106
19,073 220
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A B EE R &
within 12 months shown under FIE G RREEE)
current liabilities (2,134) (42)
Amount due for settlement after 12 {8 A & 2 BR(E~ &9 5K I8
12 months shown under non-current (3| &3EREEE)
liabilities 16,939 178

ERAREEAENINETHILSER
MK 548%Z%7.76% (20234 : 4.8%
E£737%) °

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities ranged from 4.8% to 7.76% (2023: 4.8% to
7.37%).
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32. OTHER BORROWINGS 32. HMER

2023
—E_NE B

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Unsecured AR 7,387 7,215
The other borrowings include: HEMEREE:
) RMB3,000,000 received from an independent third i) M2022F90 17— BBIF
party on 17 September 2022 for 6 months, and bearing = HEIARY 3,000,0007C © &
a fixed monthly charge of RMB90,000; and He@ A EBESHERARE
90,0007T ¢ &
il RMB2,000,000 received from an independent third i) F2022F 11 ASHBE—RBIF
party on 5 November 2022 for 6 months, and bearing =H U E| AR ¥ 2,000,000 © A&
a fixed monthly charge of RMB60,000. He@ A EESHERARKE
60,000 7T °
Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 12 January BE R R2024F1 A12 B8 21
2024, the fixed monthly charges shall be calculated up to 31 H BEEBHAERFTEE20235128
December 2023 and the aggregate amount for principal and 3NE - A2 REEEBAEREGHAR
fixed monthly charges of RMB7,215,000 shall be repayable #7,215,0007T * AR 202496 A30H
before 30 June 2024. AIEE -
The Group defaulted on the repayment of the other MR2024F 12 A31 8 NEBERIEESR
borrowings on the respective due date as at 31 December HARAEEEEMBER -
2024.
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33. DEFERRED TAX 33. IEEME

186

The following is the deferred tax asset recognised and the
movements thereon during the current and prior years:

UTREERNEERBEERER
AEEMBEFRENEFHBER

ECL provision

BAHEE

BERRE

RMB’000

AR® T

At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 A1 H 31
Charge to profit or loss (Note 12) BREmENR (Fit12) (31)

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024

M2023% 12 A31H

K 202412 A31H _

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses
could be carried forward for five years to offset against
its future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets relating to
unutilised tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately RMB191,456,000 (2023:
RMB155,650,000) available for offset against future profits in
the PRC. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profits stream.

Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB191,456,000 (2023: RMB155,650,000)
with expiry dates as disclosed in the following table.

REBHBEERLER  HEBEANG
BRAFUEHEBROERTBOEH -
BERRADRABNEBENELEHASE
EREERAEKECHERD G
MUEZFELERBEERSHAE
TG R ©

RMER AEE R HEHELAF
Bl B9 R s A M st R B A B IE B 18
%4 5 AN R 191,456,000 7T (20234 :
A R #155,650,0007T) ° B 7 8 LA TE
B AR SR8 A - UK BE AR B A B S
ERRAELEHIBEE -

AR EEELBREHNARE
191,456,000 ST A 518 (2023 4F : AR
#155,650,0007T) * BIEAE R K °
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33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

34. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised, issued and fully paid:

— Domestic shares of RMB1 each

At 1 January and 31 December

— H-shares of RMB1 each

At 1 January and 31 December

Total

20244
2025 €
2026 FF
2027 4F
20284
20294

AT BRTKREHE:
— BREEARE 1 TH
NER
R1A1BR12A31H

— BREABEARE1TH
H%
B1A1BR12A31H

@t

33. IERERLIE ()

2024 2023
—ES-FE —E=HF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARET T
- 5,658

27,856 27,856
12,236 12,236
10,916 10,916
98,984 98,984
41,464 -
191,456 155,650

34, R

2024
—ECmE
Number Amount

of shares &8 of shares
REGEE RMB'000 e
ARETR

RMB'000
AEEBTT

864,000,000 864,000 864,000,000 864,000
605,376,000 605376 605,376,000 605,376
1469376000 1469376 1469376000 1469376
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group maintains various retirement schemes for its
employees. The retirement scheme for employees of the
Company and its PRC subsidiaries is a mandatory central
pension scheme organised by the PRC government, the
assets of which are held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions made are based on a percentage of the
eligible employees’ salaries and charged as expenses when
the employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contribution. The employer contributions vest fully once they
are made. The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in fund under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% (2023: 5%) of relevant
payroll costs to the scheme, capped at HK$1,500 (2023:
HK$1,500) per month, to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of approximately
RMB426,000 (2023: RMB644,000) represents contributions
paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2024,
contributions of approximately RMB1,000 (2023: RMB1,000)
due in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 had
not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

35.

RIKERGTE

NEBEAEEER I TRNERE -
AR REGBENBARAEEESR
3 — T8 /AP B BT 48 4 2 5 ) e R
BREF 8 ZFrEI 2 EERAEE
CEESRABTR - HRIIREERE
BEMzELET THREBRE
SHEZHEHAZ RGEIIER IR -
BEFHRX—BEL E2HEREEM
B-AEBAEEZHEERERR
VoEEeEE - BREEBE  EE
MEBYEZREEEHHBANS%AE
Brr sl MEAEHEKRALRA
30,0008 L TEIMEEFER — @
METAEHNES BAEEEE
PTHER AEEEATAYRESET
SRR F S KA 5% (20234 : 5%)
TER R - EFRA1,500/87T (2023 4F
1,500 70 - BEREREEREAER) -

REZANERCHATBEOARE
426,000 (20234 : A R ¥ 644,000
L) AR EARBEREVARFTE L
KRB FEFTEIEE 23K o 7R 2024 F
12 H318 ' BIHHERAEH AR 1,000
7t (20234 : AR ¥ 1,00070) A K &
AEZE2024F12A31B L FE &
Bl o ZERERBREBHEALEREE
KT o
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

37.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the

following capital commitments:

36. EREIE

RBERR  AEEBATEAREE

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not HE T4 LB ] 41

provided in the consolidated financial W AR ERE B TSR R A
statements in respect of: BENERRX
(i)  Capital contribution to subsidiaries () [AMBRAREE 27,950 23,735
(i) Acquisition of Properties | (i) AW (KiE24)

(Note 24) - 3,700
(iiiy Construction cost of properties (i) FERBEPVED

under development for sale SRR AN 26,868 34,728
(iv) Construction cost of investment (iv) EWERERZKAR

properties 61,289 -
(v)  Construction cost of property, V) - BEKEZEBD

plant and equipment FERR AN 1,582 =

117,689 62,163

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions

and balances with related parties:

(a)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the identified related parties which have transaction
with the Group were as follows:

Name of the Company

EEEE

Beijing Lichuang Future Technology Company Limited
(“Beijing Lichuang”)
ERNBIARKBEEARAR (TR DAI])

Shenzhen Tongda Tourism Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Tongda”)
AYlmmERraRAE (DRYEE))

37. BERRS
BB LR A B 1S TR Bl R B 8 & 4D
AEERFANHEHBEIFNEARS R
RN
(a) E Z=2024F %2023F12H31H
HEE BAEEETISHE
HAIEES T

Relationships with the Company
RN o] R

A shareholder of the Company
RRARIRER
A non-controlling interest

of the Group
AN FE PR M £
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the balances of
related parties are as follows:

Name of related party

BESERE

Amount due to a shareholder FET — & IR FRIA

— Beijing Lichuang (Note) — b= A Bl (Kt aE)

Amount due to a non-controlling  FEfTIE4E AR M 25 X
interest

— Shenzhen Tongda (Note) — RN EE (Mt aE)

Note: The above balance is non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management comprises all the Directors,
chief executive officer and supervisors, details of
their remuneration are disclosed in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of Directors and key executives are
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

37.

18

£

BEIRZ @)
(@ (#&)
REEHR  BEAFNESRDOT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBT T

(2,448) (66)

(1,100) -

Hfet - AEHESRBEEZUE  |ER
RENRBRERERE -

(b) FEEEAESNHH

TEEEARRRERES 17
BRHRES REZHWMFE
RERE M IE AR E 1458 -

EEREBETBRABNFHIIL
ZEEARRRTRIE B FE

BEETE -
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XA T BN TEIFEE

COMPANY

38.1 General information of subsidiaries 38.1

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set
out below:

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership

FEMERARAN—RER

ARRRRBERREE REEFF
BOMERBNFBTHINAT

Proportion of voting power

Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company  Principal activities

0

Indi.rect\y
ik

2024 2023 2024
WUE ABE WUE

Zhongfang Chaozhou Investment PRC NA RMB200,000,000 100% 100% -
Development Company Limited**
PR ANRERSERAR h )l AR200,0000007T
Beijing Shen Shang** PRC NA RMB10,000,000 100% 100% -
TRER R FER ARE 100000007
Shenzhen Zhongya Sports Culture PRC NA RMB1,000,000 - = 100%
Company Limited**
Shenzhen Zhongya Sparts Culture EF TER AR 1,000,000
Company Limited**
Shenzhen Shenxi Investment and PRC NA RMB1,000,000 100% 100% -
Development Company Limited **
MITIERERRARAR ket iR ARE1,0000007
Shenzhen Shenhe Chuangli Investment ~ PRC N/A RMB5,000,000 100% 100% -
and Development Company Limited*#
(Note i)
MIREEIREERERAA hE vl ARES,000,0007
(Hietii)
Shenzhen Happiness Zhongya Holdings ~ PRC N/A RMB10,000,000 100% 100% -
Company Limited**
Shenzhen Happiness Zhongya Holdings By clid AR10,000,0007
Company Limited*#
* For identification purpose only
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise

AATRAR LERH

2023 2024 2023
WBE WUEF ABE

= 100% 100%  Property
development

NRER

- 100% 100%  Property
investment

100% 100% 100%  Property
investment

VESE

= 100% 100%  Investment holding
REER

- 100% 100%  Inactive

R

- 100% 100%  Investment holding
ALK

G EXE ¥
# ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g I

1l ARTREREELS TEXH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Shenzhen Tai He Chuang Jian Investment ~ PRC N/A RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Development Company Limited** ﬁF Byl ARE1,000,0007 REBR

AT RA AR RARRAREALT

Shenzhen Ju Sheng Chuang Jian Investment PRC NA RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
and Development Company Limited ** TR AR1,000,0007 REER
MInERERRERRARD A

Shennongjia** PRC NA RMB20,000,000 - = 60% 60% 60% 60%  Property

BERH hE TER K% 20,000,000 development
and property
investment
DEERR
ESE)

Puning Zhongpa Real Estate Development ~ PRC NA RMB4,000,000 - = 100% 100% 100% 100%  Inactive

Company Limited** (Note i G Byl ARE4,000,0007 EEE

EETRRRREREARAR

(Witii)

Guangzhou Huipu Trading Company PRC NA RMB1,000,000 - = 100% 100% 100% 100%  Inactive

Limited** (Note i) HE iR ARE1,0000007 LEES

ENmERBEARAR (Witii)

World Ease Investment Limited HK Ordinary HK$1,000 - - 100% 100% 100% 100%  Not commence
ERRARRAA Bk il 1,000 business
IRe%
= For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38.

COMPANY (Continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set
out below: (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/

registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

Directly

E#

204 03
WUk ABF

ARATME R BFEE @)

38.1 AEMEARN—RER (E)

ARRRRBERREE REEFF
BB ARNFRTHINNT
(&

] ANRRAREELN TEXH
Indirectly

B
2024 2023 2024 2023

NWUE  ABE NWuE  ABE

Beijing Kanglejia Technology Company ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - -
Limited** (Note ii & i)
Beijng Kanglejia Technology Company Wyl AR%100,0007

Limited* (¥t Rii)

Shenzhen Xingfu Sea Resort Company PRC N/A RMB10,000,000 - -

Limited**(Note ) (Note 39)
Shenzhen Xingfu Sea Resort Company Gl AR10,000,0007
Limited** (A2t1) (H13£39)

Guizhou Renhuai Xingfu Xi Liquor PRC NA RMB1,000,000 - -
Industry Co., Ltd* (Note / & i)

ENECEMEREREARAA  HA iR ARH1,000,0007C
(Wizti i)

Beijing Yufeng Chengyou Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - -
Company Limited*#

PROBEEHBERAR e 0 i AR#1000007

Shenzhen Wanzi Hotel Apartment PRC N/A RMB1,000,000 - -
Management Company Limited** f Wl AR1,000,0007
(Note i)

MITEZEE R EERERAR
(Hietii)

Beijing Herun Wanwu Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - -
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) Gl TER ARE100,0007C

FRAEENHBERAA (Hetii)

* For identification purpose only

# Wholly domestic owned enterprise

100% 100% 100% 100%  Not commence

business
Eiid

60% - 60% - Property
investment

NERE
100% - 100% - Inactive
EREK
100% 100% 100% 100%  Property
investment
mERE

100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
RELR

95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
RELR

G EXE ¥
# ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Wanxiang Shengrun Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) hE il ARE1000007T RARR

TRERBEMRERLA (Hizii)

Ningyun Runyu Technology (Beijing) PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) HE TER AR 1000007 REBR
REETHE (ER) BRAR (a2

Yueyu Wanrun (Bejing) Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Communication Co,, Ltd* (Note i)~ Byl ARE 1000007 REBR

REEBLR) X ERERAR
(Witii)

Jiao Yanpengda Technology (Beijing) PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd.** (Note i) e FER AR%100,000 RERR

PREEHR LR ERAR (H2ii)

Beijing Shuying Wanyu Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i)~ H8 byl AR®100,0007T RERR
IRREME L ERRRAA
(ki)
Miao Ruo Yue Xiu (Beijing) Cultural PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i)~ H8 MR ARE100,0007 REER
BEEA (LR UL ERERAR
(W)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held eglstered el interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities

IE5H

Directly Ind\rect\y
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Ronghui Guangyi Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Investment holding
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) hE il ARE1000007T RERR

IRBEREMBERAR (W

Beijing Senyu Haixiao Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR AR 1000007 investment
IRATRRNRERAR  (Hiti) ESE)

Jingcheng Nuoyun Technology (Beijing) ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment

RREMRER (o) BRAE = (Witi) MERE

Chenlu Yingban (Beijing) Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note /i) H TEA ARE100,0007 investment

RES (LR RRERAF (Wetii) ESE

Beijing Jiangfeng Yucheng Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment

FRIEERRRERAF (Weti) mERE

Beijing Xianyun Qingyan Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) G vl ARE 1000007 investment

IRBERERRERAD (i) VIESE

Yushu Yanxin (Bejing) Culture PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) 4 ol AR%100,0007T investment

BERE PR X ERARAR ESE
(et

& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held eglstered el interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
p

IEXH

Directly Ind\rect\y
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Xinyu Xiangzhong Technology (Bejjng) ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd. *“(Nore///) Gl TEA ARE100,0007 investment
HTMARE (o) BRAR * (et ESE
Tianlang Yunging (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) HE TR AR 1000007 investment
REZIE LR BEERAR * (et ESE)
Beijing Jinfeng Yishuang Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) HE Byl ARE 1000007 investment
PREBEIHBERAA (Wit i) ESE
Bejing Moyu Chenxi Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note /i) # TEA ARE100,0007 investment
FRENEERRERAA (Wetii) VIESE
Yubo Yunxiao (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note i) investment
BEER (LR REERAR  (Witi) T8 FaR ARE 1000007 mERE
Beijing Yunxin Xinyi Business Consulting ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) e vl ARE 1000007 investment
IRBERCFARERRA ESE
(Histii)
Beijing Xiangche Yunxiao Information PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note i) e Wyl AR%100,000 investment
IREREEEEARERAA ESE
(Histii)
= For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Chuyisitu (Beijing) Cultural PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Vote i) T#A ARE100,0007 investment

RIRHE ) U BRERAT ESE
(Hiatii)

Jiaoyan Ningyu (Bejing) Cultural PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) FaR ARE 1000007 investment

BAETOLR) UL ER ESE)

BREMLA (W)

Beijing Mifu Hu shuo Software PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Vote i) # TR ARE 1000007 investment
Beijing Mifu Hu shuo Software Technology ESE)

Co, Ltd ¥ (Hizii)

Shengmeng (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) h Byl ARE 1000007 investment
B (R RRER AR (Watii) mERE
Bejing Zise Meigui Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) G TER ARE100,0007 investment
IREEIRARAA (Hetii) VIESE
Bejing Huanantianchuang Information ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note /i) # AR AR 1000007 investment
IREBRAEEHAERAT VIESE
(i)
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held eglstered el interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
p

IEXH

Directly Ind\rect\y
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Shitong Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note i) investment

FRPBRRERAF (K HE Wl AR 1000007 VIESE

Youlin Miaoying Culture Communication ~ PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
(Beiing) Co., Ltd.** (Note i) HE TR AR 1000007 investment

WRY YL BR (LR RRAR ESE)
(i)

Bejing Huguang Shangmei Information ~ PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note i) hE Byl ARE 1000007 investment
IRREEEEARERAA ESE)
(Hiétii)

Beijing Luaji Suotu Business Management ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co., Ltd.* (Note i) # Byl ARE 1000007 investment

IRBERBAEEEEHERAT Y VIESE
(i)

Caibai (Bejing) Information Consulting ~ PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) H TER ARE100,0007 investment

FHOER) ESEARRAT  (Hati) ESE

Helv (Bejing) Technology Development ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note /i) HE FER ARE 100000 investment

R L) MRERRRAR = (HeLii) ESE

Beijing Zhengmei Kexin Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) hE oyl ARE 1000007 investment

FRERABREERAA (Witii) ESE)

= For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Yiyue Yunwei (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
TR EROER) BB RA R * (i) ESE
Qiuyue Xiuzhu (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TER AR 1000007 investment
RABM (LR BEERAR * (i) ESE)
Beijing Yifangya Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF iR ARE 1000007 investment
Beijing Yifangya Technology Co,, Ltd ** nERE
(Witii)
Hattian Rongyu (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) G TER ARE100,0007T investment
BRER QLR BEBRAR  (Hatii) ESE
Bejing Xinnuan Angyi Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note /i) # TER AR%100,0007 investment
Beijing Xinnuan Angyi Technology VIESE

Development Co, Ltd.** (#2zii)

Beijing Shutong Shucai Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) # TER ARE100,0007 investment
IRBRNHREERERAT mERE
(W)
Jiaxin Moran (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment
EOEA LR RERER AT (Witi) VIESE
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Yingying Binglv (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
BRIk (o) BRAE (L) ESE
Zhiling Aotian (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR AR 1000007 investment
BRBR GER) BEERAR (i) ESE)
Beijing Haimeng Zeyou Software PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i) EF Byl ARE100,0007 investment
FREEERIAREARAT ESE
(Witii)
Beijing Fengyu Ruofei Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) G TER ARE100,0007 investment
IREEERBRERAD  (Hiiti) VESE
Bejing Zhongduo Feiyi Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G FaR ARE 1000007 investment
IRRSHE-RRERAD  (HieZi) ESE
Beijing Qichi Ranxu Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co., Ltd.** (Note i) EF TR ARE 1000007 investment
PR ATHRERARAR ESE)
(Hiéti)
Shengsu Yinghuai (Beijing) Cultural PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd * (Note i)~ Byl ARE 100000 investment
ERLROIR) X ERER ESE
BERE (W)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Xunliu Qianying (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) b TER ARE100,0007 investment
ERERORHEERARAA ESE
(Hiatii)
Bejing Yiju Wanli Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G FaR ARE 1000007 investment
IREREERBERRA (Witi) ESE)
Haoyong Kuyi (Beijing) Information PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
FARBOLR) ERARERAA ESE)
(Witii)
Miduo (Beijing) Advertising Design PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
AR LR BERBRAR (Witii) MERE
Bejing Shende Culture Media PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) i el AR%100,0007 investment
IREEXERERAD  (Hetii) ESE
Beijing Wanwei Tongyuan Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) # TER ARE100,0007 investment
IrBERTHRERERAA ESE)
(Witii)
Beijing Mingxiangyuan Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) h oyl ARE 1000007 investment
TR AEERRARAA  (Hitii) ESE)
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Siyyuan Information Consutting ~~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
Beijing Siyyuan Information Consulting VIESE

Co, Ltd.* (Afetii)

Bejing Danding Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G TER ARE 1000007 investment
TRAEMBERAR (W) ESE)
Beijing Dezhi Yunsheng Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) h Byl ARE 1000007 investment
PREREEMRERAT (Wi i) VES e
Beijing Anran Ruoyu Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) G TER ARE100,0007 investment
PREAERRRERAA (Wit i) VESE
Liuru Weiyang (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ld. 7] (Note i) I FER ARE1000007 investment
RIRR (U R)RERRAR = (H/etii) ESE
Anrong Shuchang (Bejing) Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) i TR ARE 1000007 investment
Anrong Shuchang (Beijing) Technology NERE

Co, Ltd.* (Afztii)

Weiya Qiaomeng (Beiing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd* (Note i) e Byl ARE 100000 investment
MRS (R RRBR AR (Hatii) nERE
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Jieyu Sisi (Beijing) Cultural Communication  PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
ZRER () U BRERAT ESE
(Hiatii)
Bing Ruo Hanfeng (Bejing) Technology ~ PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G FaR ARE 1000007 investment
HERR (LR EERA R (He2ii) ESE)
Beijing Mulu Shuheng Culture PRC N/A RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co., Ltd.** (Note i) Byl ARE 1000007 investment
IRARHE L ERERAA ESE)
(Witii)
Yingmei Qingmei (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
DEER ORI BEERAR = (Witii) MERE
Bejing Meiya Miaoyi Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) i el AR%100,0007 investment
FRABD ERRERAF (Hetii) VIESE
Yibai Jingchen (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment
FAER GLR)BERRAR (i) ESE)
Bihai Qingkong (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) G vl ARE 1000007 investment
EREZ (LR BEERAR (Witii) VIESE
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Yueye Qingkehui Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
Beijing Yueye Qingkehui Technology nERE

Co, Ltd.* (Afetii)

Bejing Yuan Zhi Ai Culture PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) TR ARE 1000007 investment
Beijing Yuan Zhi A Culture Communication VIESE

Co, Ltd ¥ (Fiziii)

Xueyu Xiongfeng (Beiiing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) # TER ARE100,0007 investment
SR (LR BEAR R A (Hiati) NERE
Tiancheng Yongge (Beiing) Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.* (ote i) EF TR ARE100,0007C investment
RESKR LR RRBR A (Wetii) nERE
Yunren Jimu (Bejing) Information PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co., Ltd.** (Note i) G ~ER AR%100,0007 investment
BOEA LR EEHAERAT nERE
(ki)
Beijing Baili Tianyi Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) # TER AR%100,0007T investment
FREAREREAR AR (Hiatii) nERE
Beijing Shuyi Anyun Cuture RC NA RVB100,000 - - %% %% %% 9% Popery
Communication Co., Ltd.** (Vote i)~ TR ARE100,0007 investment
IRBERB UL ERERAR MERE
(i)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Yongsheng Junpeng Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
TR ABBHRERRAD (HLii) ESE
Beijing Jingmo Ruchu Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) # TER ARE100,0007 investment
IrERMRRERERAA ESE)
(Witii)
Beijing Aiwu Ruohui Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
PRUERBHRERAA (Wi i) VES e
Bejing Jinke Xiaoheng Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note i) G TER ARE100,0007T investment
PREVBEBZERAA (Wit i) ESE
Bejing Xiaoruo Wuchen Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note /i) G FER AR 1000000 investment
IrEERERNRERAD  (Hi) ESE)
Weiai Jingqiu (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) i Byl ARE 1000007 investment
Weiai Jinggiu (Being) Technology NERE

Co, Ltd ¥ (Hisiii)

Beijing Mochun Shijing Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd* (Note i)~ vl ARE100,0007C investment
IREZHREULERER AR nERE
(Hietii)
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Jin Rui Thai Information Consulting  PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note fi) ki TER AR%100,0007T investment
Beijing Jin Rui Thai Information Consulting VIESE

Co, Ltd.* (Afetii)

Bejing Xing DingLi Information Consulting  PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) EF TER AEE100,0007 investment
Beijing Xing Dingli Information Consulting VIESE

Co, Ltd ¥ (Fiziii)

Baishifei (Beiing) Software PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) # TR ARE 1000007 investment
BUSECLR) B BRAT  (Wati) ESE)
Beijing Suan Ning Meng Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.* (ote i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
IRREEREERAA  (Witii) VIESE
Tengao (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note /i) G Wl AR%100,000 investment
Jet () RERBIR AT (Wetii) VIESE
Beijing Lianbo Sixin Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) # TER ARE100,0007 investment
FrBRREHRERARAA ESE)
(Witii)
Jieou (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.* (ote fi) G oyl ARE 1000007 investment
AR (L R) BB AT * (i) ESE)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Hongyu Tianxia Information PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) G TER AR%100,0007T investment
IREFATERRABRAT ESE
(Hiatii)
Fengxiao Xuanang Technology PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development (Bejing) Co., Ltd.* (Note if) FaR ARE 1000007 investment
BREARRER (LR ERAF VIESE
(Hiitii)
Tengqi Ruyue (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment
BEMA LR MRERAR  (Hati) ESE)
Beijing Haoran Chujie Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF NER ARE 1000007 investment
IRERBZRRERAD  (Hiiti) VESE
Nuoxiang Anya (Beijing) Business PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Management Consulting G ~ER AR%100,000 investment
Co., Ltd.** (Note i) VIESE
FAZROLR) REEREN
BRAR (fiitii)
Bejing Fengxing Yusi Culture Media PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note /i) H Oyl AR%100,0007 investment
IRETTH U ERERAT ESE
(i)
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Xian Ming Da Information PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) G TER AR%100,0007T investment
IREREREFARRAT (Hidii) ESE
Heng Gao Hui (Bejing) Technology PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR AR 1000007 investment
B8 (LR HRARAF (W) ESE)
Beijing Jinxi Zhixin Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
IR 2 LBRERAD (i) VIESE
Jinmu Qingteng (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.* (Note /i) # TEA ARE100,0007 investment
BB (L) B RA A (Weti) ESE
Beijing Chengjia Zhizhen Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd. ¥ (Note i) TR ARE 1000007 investment
IRAREY W ERERAA ESE)
(Hitii)
Beijing Baixue Chenyang Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) i TR ARE 1000007 investment
IRRERERRERAD  (Hiti) ESE)
Beian Chuging (Beijing) Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co., Ltd * (Noteii) % TER ARE100,0007C investment
JEE QL R) X BRER A A ESE
(Hietii)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g IE

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Bejing Jinse Jiangyan Culture PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note fi) b TER AR%100,0007T investment
IRBF LA ERAA (ki) VIESE
Beijing Xiayou Muchan Culture PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) TR AR 1000007 investment
Beijing Xiayou Muchan Culture mERE

Communication Co,, Ltd.** (#zZii)

Gubei Qingge (Beijing) Cultural PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co., Ltd.** (Note i)~ TR ARE100,0007C investment
BLER (L) UL ERERAR mERE
(W)
Beijing Weifeng Chayun Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd* (Note i) EF Byl ARE 1000007 investment
FREBRZREERAA (Witi) nERE
Bejing Bomu Mianyan Culture PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) el AR%100,0007 investment
FREESEULERERAR nERE
(Hiatii)
Jingtian Xianheng (Bejing) Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note fi) # TER AR%100,0007T investment
ERZE (LR BRERARAT NERE
(Witii)
& For identification purpose only @ E a5
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise J ERERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS TEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Zhenlian Meishe (Beijing) Cultural PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Vote i)~ TEA ARE100,0007 investment
BRRE (L) U BRERAT ESE
(Histii)
Bowen Zichen (Beijing) Software PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment
BXRR (LR R BRAR (H2ii) ESE)
Bejing Wannian Changcun Technology ~ PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) h Byl ARE 1000007 investment
PREFREHRZERAT (Wi i) ESE)
Beijing Yong Xu Yuan Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G FER AR%100,000 investment
IR ERRHERARD A (Hiti) VIESE
Tong Tai Hui (Beijing) Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.** (Note /i) G FaR ARE 1000007 investment
BRE (LR BRARAF (W) ESE
Beijing Taifu Information Consulting PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.¥* (Note i) i TR ARE 1000007 investment
IRAREEHABRAD  (Hiitii) ESE)
Beijing Jienuo Jingran Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) H TER ARE100,0007C investment
IRZHERABRERAD  (Hieti) ESE
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set
out below: (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

ARATME R BFEE @)

38.1 AEMEARN—RER (E)

ARRRRBERREE REEFF
BB ARNFRTHINNT
(&)

registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power

Name of subsidiaries operation shares held eglstered el interest he

Directly

E#

2024 202

Id by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities

IR
Ind\rect\y
B
3 2024 2023 2024 2023

WUE ABE AME 0BE NWuE  ABE

Beijing Fanke Nimei Culture PRC N/A RMB100,000 -
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i)~ ¥l ARE 1000007

IRAAZE L BRERAT
’i{nz///

Anlong Qianyu Technology (Beijing) PRC NA RMB100,000 -
Co., Ltd *“(Note fi) hE FaR ARE 1000007

RETERE QL) AR A (W)

Beijing Changwen Zhanran Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 -
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) HE Byl ARE 1000007
PRERERMRERAT (Wi i)

Beijing Jiangxiu Guangiang Technology ~ PRC NA RMB100,000 -
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) ] oyl AR%100,000

Beijing Jiangxiu Guangiang Technology
Co, Ltd##(Hritii)

Beijing Jinghua Fumeng Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 -
Co, Ltd.** (Note i) i oyl ARE 1000007
IREEFERRERAD  (Hetii)

Beijing Chunjuan Runci Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 -
Development Co, Ltd.** (Note i) hE TR ARE 1000007
IR ERNRERARAA
(Witii)
* For identification purpose only
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise

- 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
investment

= 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
investment

VES €

- 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
investment

VESE

- 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
investment

- 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
investment

nERE
- 0% 95% 95% 95%  Propery

investment

VESE

£ ER =4l
# ERERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of

incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company  Principal activities
s 2

tfl ARARERZRELS FEXRH
Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUF ABE AUE ABE

Yuyi Fengshuo (Bejing) Cultural PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Vote i)~ TEA ARE100,0007 investment

AEEE (R U ERERAT ESE
(Histii)

Shengyi Lanxin Cultural Communication

(Beiing) Co., Ltd. ** (Note i) PRC N/A RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
BRECULER(ER)ERARY  TE ¥l ARE 100000 investment
(Hiitii) VIESE
Yaoye Runshu (Bejing) Cultural PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co,, Ltd.* (Note i) TR ARE 1000007 investment
BREET LR UL ERERAR nERE
(Wtii)
Beijing Shenjingronman Cultural PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Communication Co., Ltd.** (Vote i)~ Byl ARE 1000007 investment
IRBERR UL ERERAR mERE
(Witii)
Beiing Mingzhe Zifeng Software PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Technology Co, Ltd ** (Note i) G vl ARE 1000007 investment
IREERESHRTERAT MERE
(Witii)
Beijing Yuanyi Moju Information PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note i) f Wyl AR%100,000 investment
IRREEREEAABRAT MERE
(Histii)
& For identification purpose only 3 EXeS %
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise g ERERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. XX TEME A AT ®)

COMPANY (continued)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued) 381 FEMEBARN—RER (&)
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RARRNHENRERE REERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set BB ARMFESRINAT :
out below: (Continued) (&

Place of
incorporation/
registration/  Class of Paid-up/issued Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company ~ Principal activities
g
; B33

Directly Indirectly
B B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
NUE  WBE NUFE ABE AUE ABE

Beijing Weijian Yechu Technology PRC NA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Development Co,, Ltd.** (Note i) H TER AR100,0007 investment

IRRRERNRERERAA VIESE
(Hiatii)

Shaog Lingyu (Beijing) Information PRC VA RMB100,000 - - 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Consulting Co, Ltd.** (Note /i) # FaR ARE 1000007 investment

PETY (LR ERRAERAT VIESE
(Hiitii)

Huizhi Lanxin (Beijing) Business PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Management Consulting EF TER ARE 1000007 investment
Co,, Ltd.* (Note fi) VIESE

FERL ORI CEERTEA
BRAR (Hiztii)

Beijing Jidu Information Consulting PRC NA RMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co., Ltd.* (Note i) G TR ARE 1000007 investment

IR REESEABRAD  (Hati) VIESE

Beiing Baida Software PRC NA RIMB100,000 - = 95% 95% 95% 95%  Property
Co,, Ltd.¥* (Note i) H vl ARE 1000007 investment

YREEGRHERAA (Hiti) VIESE

= For identification purpose only & EHER
& Wholly domestic owned enterprise 5 EAEMRSE
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HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

38. AR T B A BFE @)

38.1 AEMEARN—RER (E)

38.1 General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

38.2

All of the above subsidiaries are limited company which
the places of operations are the same as their places of
incorporation.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period or at
any time during the year.

e LM BARBERBERA
A - HL 5 Bl B A B ST 3 B
HRE e

19 25 37T FE (70 88 45 2
S S 2 9 ] o (4 0
BES -

Notes: Mist -

(i) It was newly incorporated during the year ended 31 December (i) HREZE2024F12A31HIEFE
2024. LM AL ©

(ii) It was newly incorporated during the year ended 31 December (ii) HREZE2023F12A318LEFE
2023. FaE ML o

(iii) The registered capital has not been paid up at 31 December
2024.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-

38.2

@iy  FA2024F 128318 EZMEAM
KR -

BREEAFERESZNEZER
BRRNFS

TR AEEHEBEAIFER
BB ENB A RS

controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
Place of incorporation and held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary principal place of business ~ non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
AL 8 R TRERRERRE
HEBRAALR IRES Ehl  SREEREREGNER  ZaEERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
A4F  0BE 04F  20BF WuEFE 3%
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARE ARBT T T ARBTR AR
Shennongja PRC 40% 0% (13857  (3461)  (4269) (1041
BRR Gl
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interest (1.169) (1,010) (263) 558
WEFERERNENTEENEAR
(15,026) (9471)  (24,532) (9,854)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. X BB ARFHE®)

COMPANY (Continued)

38.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that 382 HEERFEREZNFELEM
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) BARIMNFEE (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of the EHAEEHRBEAEERES
Group's subsidiary that have material non-controlling ROBT B A &) B B 75 & R 2
interests is set out below. The summarised financial WMT - LTHBERNEREE
information below represents amounts before intra- NA =] % 3E AT R 2 58

group eliminations:

Shennongjia £

2024 2023
—E_NE B

RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Current assets BN EE 62,516 207,740
Non-current assets IEMENEE 139,819 267
Current liabilities mEAaE (251,006) (222,036)
Non-current liabilities EmBEE = =
Equity attributable to owners NARVHEE ANEMLER

of the Company (24,402) (3,617)
Non-controlling interest of R IR E S

Shennongjia (Note a) (Kiata) (24,269) (10,412)
Note: BtaE -
(a) Non-controlling interest had unpaid share capital of (a) SEIERER A RBABREARE

RMBS,000,000. 8,000,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

38. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. AARIMBLARFE &)
COMPANY (Continued)
38.2 Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that 382 HEERFEREZNHFELZEM
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) BARIMNFEE (&)
Shennongjia (Continued) HEE(E)

2024 2023
—E_NE B

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTIT

Revenue Wz - -
Expenses & (34,642) (21,151)
Loss for the year FNEBE (34,642) (21,151)
Loss and total comprehensive RARHE ANELBER

expense attributable to owners *HERZBE

of the Company (20,785) (12,690)
Loss and total comprehensive BRI E R LR R

expense attributable to the ZHEHAZ BT

non-controlling interests of

Shennongjia (13,857) (8,461)
Loss and total comprehensive FHRNBEEREZEAXEE

expense for the year (34,642) (21,151)

Dividend paid to non-controlling 21 44 2 22 JE 42 iG e 25
interests of Shennongjia 7 AR 2 - -

Net cash outflow from operating ~ #& & EB) IR &7 HF58
activities (10,244) (13,793)

Net cash outflow from investing WEEEIR SN FE
activities - -

Net cash inflow from financing BB EBNIR S MAFRE
activities 10,233 13,500

Net cash outflow W& R F5E (11) (293)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

39. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS

OF SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT LOSING
CONTROL

Deemed disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary
without losing control

On 25 March 2024, Shenzhen Ju Sheng Chuang Jian
Investment and Development Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, transferred the 40%
equity interest of Shenzhen Xingfu Sea Resort Company
Limited (“Xingfu Sea”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, to Shenzhen Tongda, an independent third
party, at a cash consideration of RMB3 which represented
40% of the interest of Xingfu Sea. This resulted in a decrease
in the Group’s equity interest in Xingfu Sea from 100%
to 60%. The Group still retains its control over Xingfu
Sea, which is then accounted for an equity transaction
with non-controlling interests. The difference between the
consideration and the carrying value of net liabilities disposed
of amounting to approximately RMB52,000 was recognised
in equity as other reserve.

A schedule of the effect of deemed disposal of partial interest
in a subsidiary without losing control is as follow:

Assets and liabilities at the date of deemed
disposal:

1|

=

PANYY

M

&Wf’ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ

/N
REFIE

REHENBRAANB I EEMEKX
KR

M2024F 3258 ARE2EAM
BRARAIRINTEREREEREERE
RAFBARABEZENE QA
Shenzhen Xingfu Sea Resort Company
Limited ([ Xingfu Sea |) #)40% J& # &
ETEBUE=7RJIBEE BHa2KE
BARBEIIT - HE R Xingfu Seat# z
#140% © It E BN EE B Xingfu Sea )
IR #E B 100% 5 £ 60% ° RE B )R
RB Y Xingfu Sea RIZHII4E - BILZR
SANRINBEIFERESDRRZS o
REBLERBFERAECANE
B4 A R ¥ 52,0007 B A 1 25 TR
REAMEE -

BELENBARSE O EEMERE
TR EIIRMOT

2024
—E-E

RMB’000
ARBTT

RRELEERNEEREE

Bank balances and cash RITHEBREE S 4
Amount due to immediate holding company & BB IR A B RKIE (135)
Net liabilities of Xingfu Sea Xingfu Sea K & &5 58 (131)
40% equity interest in Xingfu Sea disposed of & H & Xingfu Sea K 40% A% # (52)
Less: Consideration received B BB —*
Difference recognised in other reserve R E A (R R =58 (52)

Net cash inflow arising on deemed disposal:
Cash consideration received

& Amount less than RMB1,000

SIEHEEEMBSRAFER
EWER S H(E

E SREIRAREKE 1,0007T
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40. LITIGATION

In May 2024, two subcontractors (the “Plaintiffs”) filed
litigations to the Xianggiao District People’s Court of
Chaozhou City against the Company, Zhongfang Chaozhou
Investment Development Company Limited* (FF 5= 8 )1 %
ZF#AMRE Q) ("Zhongfang Chaozhou”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Jiangsu Provincial
Construction Holding Limited, the main contractor (as
the Independent Third Party), for outstanding liabilities
of RMB5,261,000 and RMB3,019,000, respectively.
The Plaintiffs applied court orders to freeze Zhongfang
Chaozhou's bank balances of approximately RMB5,261,000
and RMB3,019,000, respectively under the restricted bank
balances. In May 2024, the court orders were granted and
the aforesaid bank balances would be frozen for one year.

In November 2024, the litigations were judged to repay
the outstanding liabilities of the principal payment and the
relevant interests accrued of approximately RMB4,626,000
and RMB3,076,000, respectively.

In December 2024, Zhongfang Chaozhou filed the appeals.

In March 2025, the litigations were mediated so that
Zhongfang Chaozhou had to repay the outstanding liabilities
of approximately RMB4,350,000 and RMB2,950,000,
respectively, instead of repaying approximately
RMB4,626,000 and RMB3,076,000, respectively, and the
aforesaid frozen bank balances would be released. As at the
date hereof, the outstanding payables of RMB4,350,000 and
RMB2,950,000 had been settled in full.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

40.

9

Eig/\

R2024F 58 MEaoem ((RE]D
DRIt AR 5,261,000 & A R
3,019,000 7T H) 7 {E 32 & (& [ B T #f
BEARERREISHEAQT  AQ
AEEMBARFEHMNEERMES
RAR ([HEEM]) - BFEBET&H
EEISEERAF EABLE =
)RR - REBRBEERBASRET
BRMEZRHIRITEHRTE ND B4
ARM 5,261,000t ARE 3,019,000
TCHYSRTIT 4 64 o 5£E%EA2024¢5H%E
2 LliRITEBRERE —F

MR2024F 11 8 FAHEBEE N
RKEENBELAS REEETHE
DRIH AR 4,626,0007T & AR
3,076,000 7T °

R2024F 12 A - AEEINEE EFF -

MR2025F3 A  ZEFRLKEARE -
FEHMEEEREENEBED AL
AR # 4,350,000 7t & AR % 2,950,000
T M 3EEE D B X A R ¥ 4,626,000
TR AER#3,076,0007T 0 B kot
REMRTERBERKR -HEX
WEBH RTHWENREARE
4,350,000 7T & A & # 2,950,000 7T 2
5‘:%( D/EJ °
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HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

41. KRB IR R ER

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-mF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B R RIMIEE 53,305 53,305
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE BE - -
53,305 53,305
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries e NI 78,582 83,514
Other receivables Ho4th JE IR 17 13
Bank balances and cash RITHESHR LIRS 95 109
78,694 83,636
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals B RIB R ERTE A 2,422 2,702
Amount due to a subsidiary FE At —FE B B A R FkIE 60,154 56,688
Tax liabilities HEAE 1,332 4,799
63,908 64,189
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 14,786 19,447
NET ASSETS EEFRE 68,091 72,752
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRFE
Share capital % < 1,469,376 1,469,376
Reserves & (a) (1,401,285) (1,396,624)
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 68,091 72,752

KRR BRIER EEFeR
2025F3 27 B ERERERE - I
HINESRERESE

The Company'’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board on 27 March 2025 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Jing Ming Leng Xiao Rong

R4 A RINEE
Director Director
EE EBEFE

204FEMRE | BEARRERROEBRAT 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41. XA RIMBERIE#ER @)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Bt -

(a) Reserves (a) i

Statutory
Share surplus  Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
R RE & 1 25T EE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETFT ARBTT ARETFT

At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 A1 H 320,476 103,215 (1,714,649) (1,290,958)
Loss and total comprehensive FAFBERZERZ B

expense for the year - - (105,666) (105,666)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A831H 320,476 103,215 (1,820,315) (1,396,624)
Loss and total comprehensive FABBREERASERE

expense for the year - - (4,661) (4,661)
At 31 December 2024 7A20245%12 8311 320,476 103,215 (1,824,976) (1,401,285)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Groups’ liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

42. AMERHELERBNHK

TREJAGEAREEHELEE
MEE (BRREMIFREES) F5E -
ARELHELABRBEXARE
RAEBGEREREXRIEARE
BEMERERENRESRE

Amount due
Amount to a non-
Other Lease duetoa controlling
borrowings liabilities shareholder interest Total
Ef—%2 ESFER
Hivem  HERE REXNE 2 #HEXE st
RMB'OOO RMB'OOO RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR®ETR
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1 A1 H 5,415 574 511 - 6,500
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs BEKAK 1,800 24 S = 1,824
Settlement of other payableon ~ RAEBEE L
behalf of the Group JERT A = = 10,815 = 10,815
Addition of right-of-use assets EREEERE - 195 - - 195
1,800 219 10,815 - 12,834
Changes from cash flow ReRERD
Repayment to a shareholder EE—ZRRFA = = (11,260) = (11,260)
Interest paid ERFE - (24) = = (24)
Repayment of leases liabilities EEHERE - (549) = = (549)
- (573 (11,260) - 1833
At 31 December 2023 R2023512831A8 7,215 220 66 - 7,501
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs RERA 172 952 - - 1,124
Settlement of other payableon ~ RALEZE L
behalf of the Group BT 3E - - 9,242 = 9,242
Addition of right-of-use assets ERBERERE - 19,162 - - 19,162
172 20,114 9,242 - 29,528
Changes from cash flow HeRERT
Repayment to a shareholder BE—2RRRE - = (6,860) = (6,860)
Advance from a non-controlling  FFIZRRIEZE B
interest - - - 1,100 1,100
Interest paid BAFE - (952) = = (952)
Repayment of leases liabilities EEHERE - (309) - = (309)
- (1261  (6,860) 1,100 (7,021)
At 31 December 2024 R2024512831H 7,387 19,073 2,448 1,100 30,008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M mRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12 A31BILFE

43.

44.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, other payable of
approximately RMB9,242,000 (2023: RMB10,815,000) has
been settled by a shareholder of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, trade payable of
approximately RMB4,000,000 has been set-off against the
respective amount of contract costs.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Very substantial acquisition in relation to the
acquisition of 51% equity interest in Guangzhou
Zhudao Property Management Company Limited (the
"Target Company")

On 28 February 2025, Shenzhen Wanzi Hotel Apartment
Management Company Limited (the “Purchaser”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Beijing
Jiuzhou Technology Company Limited (the “Vendor”)
entered into the equity transfer agreement, pursuant to
which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase and
the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell the sale shares,
representing 51% equity interest in the Target Company and
its subsidiary, Shijiazhuang Luquan District Runhua Property
Service Company Limited (“Shijiazhuang Runhua”) (the
“Target Group") at the consideration of RMB550,000.

Upon the Completion, the Target Company will be owned
as to 51% equity interest by the Purchaser, 14% equity
interest by the Vendor and 35% equity interest by Beijing
Wanzhongrunhua Engineering Management Consulting
Company Limited. Upon the Completion, the Target Group
will become subsidiaries of the Company and accordingly,
the financial results of the Target Group will be consolidated
into the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The transaction is not yet completed up to the date of this
report.

43.

44,

TEHFRERS

HE2024F 12 A3 HILFE  HhfE
RFIEH AR EE 9,242,000 7T (2023 4F ¢
AR #10,815,00070) EAARFKE
A o
HZE20245F 12 A31HILFE © ENE
A AR 4,000,000 T E A A L
RN & BB o

BERREE

FRBBEEMNTRENEXEZRRA
A(EERADS1%BRENFEEKX
WiE =

M2025F2 A28H ARRIEEELE
MEBARRIMERBEABERS
RAR(BERF]) Bt FRAAREER
AR (TEAD TR ESERE &
I EHFERHREEEMEAFK
HRELEFERG  HERBEER
AIRHENBARARMAEMEREBE
WERBERAR ((AREHEED (A
EEE]DMS1%RE REAARE
550,000 7T °

NEKE BEARBHER BA
PIRERBETIREERZBMERA
B RIEAS1% » 14% K 35% A #E o
REKE BREEBKALRRRH
WMBAR Bl BESENTBE
BB A EEGR AT SRR ANGAADRR o

BEAREEH  ZXBHERTK -
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Financial Summary

MBHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR GmEeEEmR
LOSS

2024 2023 2021 2020
“¥CRE —T-=F T T _"T_TF

RMB'000  RVB'000  RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®BTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETRT

Revenue e 6,241 1,498 29,427 47,022 7,008
Cost of sales HEMA (30,710) (85,369) (26,610) (46,336) (6,666)
Other income Higl A 8,876 2,175 1,920 2,490 3,006
Impairment losses under expected ~ TAHRE EEBIEEL T A

credit loss model, net of reversal REFE  MkRED (12,031) (6,890) (36,900) (5,344) (10,504)
Impairment loss recognised in respect 5L¥13E « B MR GHEZL

of property, plant and equipment  REEE - - - - (36,380)
Impairment loss recognised in respect FtE i1 & HR ZRERFE

of deposit paid (16,619) (11,802) (11,046) (7,170) -
Finance cost RERK (1,124) (1,824) (478) (67) (31
Loss from changes in fair value of ~ RAMEL A EELEH

investment properties EE (42,102) (29,700) (18,200) (13,900) (428)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net &} B A By et F 58 - - S 12,381 15,551
Administrative and other operating  {TH R B &%

expenses (16,789) (14,681) (13,937) (16,697) (9,441)
Loss before tax BREAEE (104,258)  (146,593) (75,824) (27,621) (37,882)
Income tax expenses FERRZ (11) (37) - (6) (96)
Loss for the year FRER (104,269)  (146,630) (75.824) (27,627) (37,978)
Profit (loss) for the year from RECRIEEEER L

discontinued operations FREF (EE) - - = 2,553 (10,300)
Non-controlling interests FERER 15,026 9,471 2,303 1,538 8,597

Loss attributable to owners ADEHEEAEGER
of the Company (89,243) (137,159) (73,521) (23,536) (39,681)
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Financial Summary

MBRHE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets
Current liabilities

Net current (liabilities) assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves:
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBEE

RBEE
nBAE

7B (81 RERE
BRER DM
HRDAR

AEFE
BAREH

Bk

Eh

RDFRH AR
Sk

nER

e MR R

2024 2023 2022 PAA 2020
“E-NE —T-=F “T-—F ZZ-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT AR®ETT ARETT ARETEL
458,417 344,283 395,292 428,740 513,724
86,382 288,406 353,689 454 537 384,406
207,454 209,404 175,345 229,961 213,401
(121,072) 79,002 178,344 224,576 171,005
337,345 423,285 573,636 653,316 684,729
17,208 436 285 447 -
320,137 422,849 573,351 652,869 684,729
1,469,376 1,469,376 1,469,376 1,469,376 1,469,376
(1,124,707)  (1,036,673) (895,642) (818,427) (791,340)
344,669 432,703 573,734 650,949 678,036
(24,532) (9,854) (383) 1,920 6,693
320,137 422,849 573,351 652,869 684,729
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Particulars of the Investment Property

PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT
FIEREMR

Location Type Lease term

o Bh kBl HE

Shop of No. 15 Guang An Road, Commercial Medium-term lease
No. 138 He Sha Road,

Da Tan Sha Island Li Wan District,

Guangzhou City,

Guangzhou Province,

The PRC

FREREEMNTZHER [EES FREIFR A

R B B 138 5%

B 159

125 office units of Commercial Medium-term lease

Yue Condo,Greenland Ark,

Court No.10 Zhuoxiu Street North,
Fangshan District,

Beijing City,

The PRC

IR PB4 R H [GES FPEATR A
BlEEFEI A 105k

R T AR A ER

125 EBFiE

11 Shop units and 60 car parking spaces Commercial Medium-term lease
Phase 5 of Tianzizhuangyuan,

Western side of Lijiawu Village and

northern side of Jingha Road,

Yanjiao Town, Sanhe City,

Langfang City, Hebei Province,

The PRC

R BR dE & BT [EES hHEIEA
= A T R RB 5R

SIS LA T B R hG B8 PAJE

RFAEE T HE 11 (8RS & B0 N 601 B 0L
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Particulars of the Investment Property

Location Type Lease term
ith B =5l HH
Shop units and car parks Commercial Medium-term lease

located in Tianzhu Airport

Commercial Zone,

Shunyi District,

Beijing City

The PRC

RFEIERTIEERE BES R ERFR A
REZEBHEENHER R

(B

Hotel, an entertainment Commercial Medium-term lease
centre and commercial facilities in

Shennongjia Forestry

District, Yichang City,

Hubei Province,

The PRC

URPEHIEEEET CES PEIHELG
HEEMNRAEE  REHR LR

EEL3
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Glossary
e — N
Al 5

In this report (other than the consolidated financial statements),
unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions

RS (RARBERERI) - BXERA
B AT AR AR TRE -

shall have the following respective meanings.

2023 Corresponding Period”

[2023 4F [ B ]

“2024 Financial Year”
[2024 5 B B F 5
"AGM”"
[RRBEFRE ]
“Articles”

[AEIERE]

“Beijing Shen Shang”

(b &

"Beijing Zhong Tou”
B e
“Board”

[EEg]
“Chaozhou Jinshan”
R AN
"Company”
[RAVNSIN
“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Domestic Share(s)”

[RE K
"EGM”

(IR RIRE ]
“Group”
[REE ]
“Hong Kong”
(&

“H Share(s)”

[HAx ]

*  For identification purpose only

for the year ended 31 December 2023

BZE2023F12A31HIEFE

for the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024F12A31BIEFE

annual general meeting of the Company

ARRRRBFAE

the Articles of Association of the Company

RAFIER

Beijing Shen Shang Investment & Consulting Company Limited*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

IRERRELZRNEBRAT ARGl z2EMRBAR

Beijing Zhong Tou Chuang Zhan Property Limited*

IRPREREEBRAA

the board of Directors

BExg

Chaozhou Jinshan Investment and Development Company Limited*
MMNTeILREREBRAR]

Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited

BEARAERROERAA

the director(s) of the Company

RAREE

domestic share(s) with a nominal value of RMB1 each in the share capital of the
Company which are subscribed for in RMB

RRARBRAFEREEARE I TOARER  UAARKRE

extraordinary general meeting of the Company

RAFBREFRIRE

the Company and its subsidiaries

NN DN @4y = NG|

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

PEEB R RITTHRER

overseas listed foreign ordinary share(s) of the Company with a nominal value of
RMB1 each, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars
AARIEBREEARKE 1 THRIN ETHINE ZBAR - 2MEBZAER E R
NEBETRBREER

* (EHRES
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e — N
Al 5

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

the independent third party(ies) who is/are, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries,
independent of the Company and its connected persons (as defined under the
Listing Rules)

[(B%E=7 REE—VEEERE RESFIN SEREE BUXNARAA REREE
AT (EER EHHRADNBIE=7
“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
[ Em#R Al Bt X PR & L AR A
“Model Code” Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
[R%E<F A THETAEFTETESFRHNRETA
“PRC" the People’s Republic of China
[ HEE AR HAE
“"RMB"” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
(AR HEUEEEB AR
“SFO" Securities and Futures Ordinance (chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
[ 875 K HAE 5] &5 R EERN (BB EPIES71 &)
“Share(s)” H Share(s) and Domestic Share(s)
[ &5 HI& R NE &
“Shareholder(s)” holders of the Shares
IR ] R FEH A
“Shennongjia Hotel” Shennongjia Da Jiu Hu Hotel Company Limited
[t RRELE HMERRNHBERR A A
“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[ B8 22 P ERBMERHMER LT
“Supervisor(s)” the supervisor(s) of the Company
(5% RARES
“Supervisory Committee” the supervisory committee of the Company
(B g KRAREEERES

“Zhongfang Chaozhou”

R B5 388 |

Zhongfang Chaozhou Investment Development Company Limited*, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

hEBMMNKRERBEGRAF  ARAEIZ2ENBERA

“Zhongfang Chaozhou Jing Nan  an infrastructure construction project in Jing Nan Industrial Park, in Chaozhou
Industrial Park Project”

[hEBMERE TXERE ] RIS T3 B o BT Bk 32 2R TR B

*  For identification purpose only * (BB

228 Shenyang Public Utility Holdings Company Limited / Annual Report 2024



SH

—NYANG

PUBLIC UTILITY

HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
EEAHERROBRAE

Stock Code B2 1X8E : 747




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論與分析
	董事、監事及高級管理層介紹
	監事會報告
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務摘要
	投資物業詳情
	詞彙
	封底



